# **Contents**

1.0	intro	duction					
	1.1	The DO-12 Handbook and Director's Order					
	1.2	Intent of NEPA and NPS Mission	<u>.</u>				
	1.3	Actions Requiring NEPA Analysis	5				
	1.4	NEPA Fundamentals	5				
	1.5	Timing of NEPA	8				
	1.6	Specificity of Data Needed—Plans and Projects	10				
2.0	Overview of the NEPA Process						
	2.1	The Analysis Process					
	2.2	Purpose and Need for Action					
	2.3	Defining the Proposal	16				
	2.4	Connected, Cumulative, and Similar Actions	17				
	2.5	NEPA Issues	18				
	2.6	Internal Scoping	19				
	2.7	Alternatives	20				
	2.8	Affected Environment	23				
	2.9	Impacts	24				
	2.10	Determining the Appropriate NEPA Pathway	26				
	2.11	Using Contractors	28				
	2.12	The Administrative Record					
	2.13	Working with Other Agencies	29				
	2.14	Emergency Actions	31				
3.0	Cate	Categorical Exclusions					
	3.1	Definition	35				
	3.2	Process to Follow	35				
	3.3	CEs for Which No Formal Documentation Is Necessary	34				
	3.4	CEs for Which a Record Is Needed	36				
	3.5	Exceptions to CEs	40				
	3.6	Using the CE Lists	42				
	3.7	Public Involvement	43				
	3.8	Administrative Process	43				
	3.9	Consideration of Multiple Actions	44				
4.0	Environmental Impact Statements						
	4.1	Introduction	45				
	4.2	Criteria for Significant Impact	45				
	4.3	Ongoing or Continuing Action	47				
	4.4	Actions That Normally Require an EIS	47				

	4.5	EIS Format	48				
	4.6	The Final EIS	61				
	4.7	Supplements to Draft and Final EISs	63				
	4.8	Public Involvement Requirements	63				
	4.9	Administrative Process of Review of EISs	67				
	4.10	Terminating the EIS Process	67				
5.0	Envi	Environmental Assessments					
	5.1	Introduction					
	5.2	When to Prepare an EA					
	5.3	Length of an EA					
	5.4	Format and Content of an EA	71				
	5.5	Public Involvement					
	5.6	Administrative Process of Review of EAs	76				
6.0	Decision Documents						
	6.1	Categorical Exclusions					
	6.2	Record of Decision	78				
	6.3	FONSI					
	6.4	NEPA after the Decision Document	81				
7.0	•	Programmatic Documents and Planning					
	7.1	Is NEPA Triggered by Plans?					
	7.2	When to Begin NEPA on Plans					
	7.3	Feasibility and Planning					
	7.4	Tiering	88				
	7.5	Programs and Policies	89				
	7.6	Long-Term Resource Management	89				
8.0	NPS	NPS Review of Non-NPS NEPA Documents					
	8.1	Introduction					
	8.2	Comment Requirements					
	8.3	Review Deadlines and Extension Requests					
	8.4	Departmental Comment Letters	94				
	8.5	Review Guidelines for EISs					
	8.6	Style and Format for Environmental Review Comments	99				
9.0	Defi	Definitions and Acronyms					
	9.1	Definitions	103				
	9.2	Acronyms	107				
		endix 1	100				
		ronmental Screening Form	109				
		endix 2 gorical Exclusion Form	112				
	Indo	V	115				

# 1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 The DO-12 Handbook and Director's Order
- 1.2 Intent of NEPA and NPS Mission
- 1.3 Actions Requiring NEPA Analysis
- 1.4 NEPA Fundamentals
- 1.5 Timing of NEPA
- 1.6 Specificity of Data Needed—Plans and Projects

### 1.1 The DO-12 Handbook and Director's Order

### A. NEPA and the Council on Environmental Quality

The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) was passed by Congress in 1969 and took effect on January 1, 1970. This landmark legislation established this country's environmental policies, including the goal of achieving productive harmony between human beings and the physical environment for present and future generations. It provided the tools to carry out these goals by mandating that every federal agency prepare an in-depth study of the impacts of "major federal actions having a significant effect on the environment" and alternatives to those actions, and requiring that each agency make that information an integral part of its decisions. NEPA also requires that agencies make a diligent effort to involve the interested and affected public before they make decisions affecting the environment. Besides setting environmental planning policy goals, NEPA created the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ), an agency of the President's office that would be the "caretaker" of NEPA. CEQ published NEPA regulations in 1978 (40 CFR 1500–1508) and added to them in 1981 with a guidance document titled "Forty Most Asked Questions Concerning CEQ's NEPA Regulations" (40 Most Asked Questions). These regulations apply to all federal agencies, and in them CEQ requires each federal agency to "implement procedures to make the NEPA process more useful to agency decision-makers and the public" (40 CFR 1500.2). Agencies are to review and update these regulations as necessary.

### B. Interior/NPS NEPA guidance and this handbook

The Department of the Interior (Interior) produced its NEPA regulations as Part 516 of its departmental manual (DM), and the National Park Service (NPS) produced several NEPA handbooks. The last update, DO-12, was issued in 1982. Interior has also produced and continuously updates a series of environmental statement and compliance memoranda that further interpret Part 516 and need to be consulted in this process. This handbook is an update and revision of DO-12,

and it supersedes the 1982 version. Although it is termed a handbook, most of the sections derive in whole or in part from the CEQ regulation or Interior NEPA guidelines, giving them the force of law. The processes described in this handbook are binding on all NPS personnel. Under the terms of the National Parks Omnibus Management Act of 1998, the "Secretary shall take such measures as are necessary to assure the full and proper utilization of the results of scientific study for park management decisions. In each case in which an action undertaken by the National Park Service may cause a significant adverse effect on a park resource, the administrative record shall reflect the manner in which unit resource studies have been considered." The development of alternatives, analysis of impacts, and incorporation of the best available information, coupled with identification of environmentally preferable courses of action as called for in this handbook, are one set of steps required in meeting this obligation to the public.

This handbook never conflicts with the CEQ regulations, although the NPS has added some requirements that go beyond those imposed by CEQ to help facilitate the requirements of the law that established the NPS (the Organic Act) and other laws and policies that guide our actions.

#### C. Citations in DO-12 and Handbook

Sections of NEPA, the CEQ regulations, the 40 Most Asked Questions, and the Interior departmental manual are cited in DO-12. They are cited as follows:

- (1) NEPA—The section number is in parentheses: (sec. 102 (A)), for example.
- (2) CEQ regulations—The section number is in parentheses: (1502.1).
- (3) 40 Most Asked Questions—The number of the question referenced is cited in parentheses: (Q23).
- (4) Interior departmental manual—A section is cited in parentheses as 516 DM followed by the section or appendix number: (516 DM, 7). Environmental statement memoranda are designated as ESM and the year and number: (ESM94–8). Environmental compliance memoranda are designated as ECM and the year and number: (ECM95–2).

#### D. How to use this handbook

This handbook contains the basic information you need for meeting the legal requirements of NEPA and for practicing excellent impact assessment and resource conservation. Also, NPS employees who deal with NEPA on a regular basis should receive training that is periodically updated, so that the goals of NEPA are met throughout all levels of NPS. NPS also has guidance on related topics, such as planning, cultural resource protection, and natural resource management.

Much of the handbook uses the pronoun "you" to speak to the reader. "You" may be an individual from the park, a system support office (SSO), a regional office, a member of a NEPA interdisciplinary team (IDT), a decision-maker, or any other NPS staff or contractor responsible for some piece of the NEPA process.

### 1.2 Intent of NEPA and NPS Mission

### A. Policy

The declared purpose of NEPA and the mission of the NPS express very similar goals. Both contain language designed to result in the conservation and protection

of our nation's resources for the benefit of future generations. NEPA was enacted for a simple reason: to make sure that agencies fully consider the environmental costs and benefits of their proposed actions before they make any decision to undertake those actions.

The purpose of NEPA as stated in section 2 of the act that created it is to "encourage productive and enjoyable harmony between man and his environment; to promote efforts which will prevent or eliminate damage to the environment and biosphere and stimulate the health and welfare of man; and to enrich the understanding of the ecological systems and natural resources important to the Nation...."

#### B. Tools

NEPA and the CEQ regulations have put two important

mechanisms in place to achieve this stated intent. One is the requirement that all agencies make a careful, complete, and analytic study of the impacts of any proposal that has the potential to affect the environment, and alternatives to that proposal, well before any decisions are made. The other is the mandate that agencies be diligent in involving any interested or affected members of the public in the NEPA process.

Key features of the analysis are made available to the public in one of three types of NEPA documents, depending on the degree of impact to the environment and the process outlined in chapter 2.0 of this handbook. Generally, if the proposal clearly has no potential for measurable environmental impact, it is categorically excluded (see chapter 3.0) and a short 1- or 2-page notice is prepared. If it has the potential for significant environmental impact, an environmental impact

statement, or EIS, is required (see chapter 4.0). If the proposal would have a measurable impact on the environment, or if it is unclear whether it has the potential for a significant impact, an environmental assessment (EA) is the appropriate document to prepare (see chapter 5.0). If the EA shows the proposal

The Organic Act creating NPS states that

NPS will "...conserve the scenery and the natural and historic objects and the wildlife therein and...provide for the enjoyment of the same in such manner and by such means as will leave them unimpaired for the enjoyment of future generations" (16 U.S. Code 1, the National Park Service Organic Act).

may have a significant effect, an EIS is also required (unless the provisions of section 5.2 (1) apply). NEPA imposes many additional rules and requirements beyond this simple strategy for determining which level of documentation is appropriate for any given analysis. These rules are part of this handbook and should be read carefully before you begin environmental impact work under NEPA.

### C. Early planning

A key feature of NEPA is that under the CEQ regulations (1502.5) all analysis, public input, and documentation must be completed in time to be a useful part of decision-making. Initiating or completing environmental analysis after a decision has been made, whether formally or informally, is a violation of both the spirit and the letter of the law. NEPA's intent is to encourage planning for conservation and resource management and integration of scientific and technical information into management decisions, rather than an after-the-fact "compliance" effort. A well-done NEPA analysis provides useful information on environmental pros and cons (i.e., impacts) of a variety of reasonable choices (alternatives); this analysis is much like economic cost-benefit or technical or logistical planning. It is an essential prelude to the effective management of park resources.

#### D. A procedural act

NEPA's policies encourage agencies to incorporate environmental information and public involvement in making decisions. The detailed and scientifically valid study of impacts and alternatives, and appropriate input from the public, must be available before a federal agency makes any commitment of resources. It is up to the decision-maker how he or she will use this information. If the only way to meet an essential agency goal requires implementing an alternative with the potential for severe adverse environmental impacts, this is ultimately allowed for under NEPA. NEPA is therefore a "procedural," or process-oriented, law, rather than a "substantive," or substance-oriented, one. Other laws, including the Organic Act, are substantive and often prevent an agency from taking action or pieces of an action that have "too great" an impact on a particular resource. The process of environmental analysis under NEPA provides the information that the NPS needs to make substantive decisions for the long-term conservation of resources.

#### E. A substantive result

The information and analysis produced through the NEPA process is used by the NPS in making management decisions about NPS administered resources. In making these decisions the NPS is guided by the requirements of the National Park Service Organic Act and related laws. The requirements placed on the NPS by these laws, and especially by the Organic Act mandate that resources are passed on to future generations "unimpaired." Impacts that are likely to, or that

would, result in impairment of resources must be fully described and evaluated in environmental documents. In addition, decision documents must confirm the nature and extent of impact and whether

CEQ defines the **human environment** as the natural and physical environment, and the relationship of people with that environment (1508.14).

or not an impairment results from any of the alternatives analyzed or selected for implementation.

## 1.3 Actions Requiring NEPA Analysis

NEPA is far-reaching. Whenever the NPS considers an action that could have impacts on the human environment, NEPA is triggered. This is true whether NPS generates the action or the applicant is a private individual or another federal, state, or local agency. While NEPA is only triggered when there is a physical impact on the environment, the CEQ regulations require analysis of social and economic effects in both an EA and an EIS. Social and economic impacts should be analyzed in any NEPA document where they are affected. Socioeconomic impacts include those to minority and low-income communities as specified in the Environmental Justice Executive Order (EO 12898; Feb. 11, 1994).

Federal actions are defined as projects, activities, or programs funded in whole or in part under the direct or indirect jurisdiction of a federal agency, including those carried out by or on behalf of a federal agency; those carried out with federal financial assistance; those requiring a federal permit, license, or approval; and those subject to state or local regulation administered pursuant to a delegation or approval by a federal agency.

These are some examples of federal actions:

- adopting official policy, such as rules, regulations, and interpretations.
- adopting formal plans, such as those that guide or prescribe uses of federal resources upon which future agency actions will be based.
- adopting programs.
- approving specific projects.
- approving permits for private or other agency actions on federal land or involving federal resources.
- approving grants or other funding that involves a large federal presence (i.e., much of the funding for the proposal is from federal sources).
- conducting ongoing or continuing federal actions.

If any of these actions has the potential to cause environmental impact, whether adverse or beneficial, the NEPA process must be completed before a decision is made.

#### 1.4 NEPA Fundamentals

NEPA analyses that follow both the spirit and the letter of the law and that have held up to court challenges display the following characteristics:

## A. Part of planning

NEPA is the environmental component of agency planning. Under the CEQ regulations, it is to be integrated with other planning "at the earliest possible time to insure planning and decisions reflect environmental values" (1501.2). The NEPA process is always triggered at the "proposal" stage, or when an agency is considering a goal and is "actively pursuing different means of accomplishing that goal" (40 CFR 1508.23) if implementing the goal would have environmental impacts. The proposal stage is during or immediately following the feasibility stage

(1502.5(a)). However, environmental planning is also useful in defining goals, particularly in broader planning, such as for an entire park or park unit.

#### **B.** Systematic

According to NEPA (sec. 102 (A)), NEPA analyses must be systematic. The selection of appropriate issues, impact topics, mitigation strategies, analysis boundaries, and alternatives; the involvement of the interested and affected public; and other aspects of the NEPA process must be based on evidence and on sound, repeatable thought processes.

#### C. Part of a public process

CEQ requires agencies to make "diligent" efforts to involve the interested and affected public in the NEPA process (1506.6), regardless of the level of impact and/or documentation. The extent of the public involvement will change depending on the degree of impact and interest in the proposal. Agencies must also "encourage and facilitate public involvement in decisions which affect the quality of the human environment" (1500.2 (d)). If the public finds that an agency did not follow the procedural requirements of NEPA, or that the agency's analysis of a proposal in a NEPA document was lacking or inadequate, relief is often sought through legal action. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) reviews and rates the adequacy of all EISs, and CEQ oversees the rules and policies governing the NEPA process and resolves certain types of disputes.

### D. Written in plain language

Because the public has been given an essential role in monitoring the NEPA process, you must write documents in language the general public can understand (1502.8). This means that all jargon, technical terms, and acronyms must be clearly defined, usually in a glossary.

#### E. Focused

CEQ requires that NEPA documents be "concise, clear, and to the point." They must "emphasize real environmental issues and alternatives" and be useful to the decision-maker and the public (1500.2). You should keep the discussion of resources that would be affected brief, and keep the length of all other discussions proportionate to the seriousness of the impact (1502.2). "Most important, NEPA documents must concentrate on the issues that are truly significant (i.e., pivotal) to the action in question, rather than amassing needless detail" (1500.1 (b)).

### F. Problem-solving

In an effort to make NEPA documents useful to decision-makers, CEQ requires that they be "analytic rather than encyclopedic" (1500.4). This means you should focus the analysis on solving any environmental problems a proposal might create—that is, on creating reasonable alternatives or mitigation.

### G. Objective

NEPA requires an objective, high-quality scientific analysis of impacts that the proposal or alternatives may create (1500.1 (b)). If you are basing the analysis on the scientific judgment of one expert, this judgment should be substantiated with

literature or other experts' statements and be based on data, education, or experience. Peer review of experts' research and NEPA analysis is one way to obtain input on complex environmental issues.

#### H. Based on an interdisciplinary approach

Because NEPA analyses are scientific, objective, and high quality, they must be performed by individuals with credentials appropriate to the issues (1502.6). These individuals must use the interdisciplinary or interactive team approach in defining all important features of the analysis (issues, data-gathering needs, alternatives, etc.) throughout the NEPA process. This approach includes discussions with "cross-functional" disciplines; specialists from the park and other NPS offices, contractors; and decision-makers, as appropriate (NEPA sec. 102 (A), CEQ 1502.6). Members of the interdisciplinary team may come from other federal, state, and local agencies or tribes as well. Parks may wish to use non-agency individuals to provide additional insights.

It is recognized that the park staff may be small and that resource specialists may consist of one or two individuals. The need for an IDT does not mean that a large group of specialists must be assembled for every action under consideration. What it means is that the one or two specialists should be consulting with a number of sources, staff (including maintenance, operations, etc.), and nonagency individuals as needed to make good NEPA-based decisions (see section 2.10).

#### I. Candid

A theme that runs through NEPA, case law, and CEQ regulations is that agencies must be candid in their NEPA documentation. Expert agency criticism and public scrutiny help to ensure such disclosure. If reviewing agencies indicate they disagree with the impact analysis, you should record these conflicting opinions in the NEPA document (sec. 102 (D) (iv)). If information important to the decision between alternatives is incomplete or unavailable, you should state this in a NEPA document (CEQ 1502.22).

#### J. Based on common sense

NEPA documents are meant to be short, focused, analytic, problem-solving documents that help decision-makers make informed and wise decisions about the use of resources. Alternatives and mitigation must be feasible, both technically and economically. Common sense and usability are precepts that run throughout NEPA.

#### K. Inclusive

CEQ requires that agencies examine connected actions, cumulative impacts, secondary or indirect impacts, and similar actions in their NEPA documents. Agencies are specifically prohibited from segmenting projects, also known as piecemealing. "Proposals or parts of proposals which are related to each other closely enough to be, in effect, a single course of action" are to be evaluated in a single NEPA document (1502.4).

### L. Tools to help foster excellent action

"Ultimately, of course, it is not better documents, but better decisions, that count. NEPA's purpose is not to generate paperwork—even excellent paperwork—but to foster excellent action." (1500.1). A well-done NEPA analysis offers your decision-maker several reasonable options for resolving problems or fulfilling needs that gave rise to the proposal initially while minimizing or correcting impacts to natural resources. It is done early in the planning process, so that its results can be an integral part of the information used to make a project decision.

#### M. Holistic

In its statements of purpose and policy (sec. 101), NEPA speaks of sustainability, balance, and knowledge and protection of environmental resources, including ecological systems. Congress asks NPS to use NEPA not only as a tool to look at whether to pave a road or build a trail, but as a guide in the larger aspects of NPS decision-making. Topics such as how resource use in a park will affect an entire region or ecosystem, how to preserve resources while allowing for appropriate public use and enjoyment, or how a decision now will affect park management options in the very long-term future are the kinds of issues NEPA was designed to emphasize.

### N. Ultimately site-specific

Before you choose to implement an action—to "break ground"—your decision-maker must have detailed site-specific environmental impact information (1501.2 (b)). However, NEPA analysis may be required when broader actions, such as plans, programs, or policies, are under consideration. The data collected to analyze these more general actions should be comparatively general, with progressively more specific data analyzed as you move toward implementing an action. You may rightly prepare one NEPA document to help your decision-maker in choosing between broad actions, and another to help in implementing the selection. This step-wise approach to planning and design is called "tiering" (1508.28; see section 7.4 of this guide for details), and it allows NPS to focus on the right set of alternatives or decisions at the right time.

## 1.5 Timing of NEPA

Your park may follow a NEPA-like process much of the time now. The analysis of options and the environmental pros and cons of each, whether for management prescriptions for a park or for design features of a single building, is the kind of planning that NEPA asks of all agencies, and that may already be integral to decision-making in your park unit. The essence of NEPA is a continuous "checking in" or monitoring of successive decisions to ensure proactive, rather than reactive,

### **Knowing how early**

or how late to begin a NEPA analysis is often a difficult balancing act. conservation and resource planning and management. Although the formal "NEPA process" includes active public involvement and documentation, the integration of environmental information and values into agency decision-making nonetheless helps carry out the intent of both NEPA and the Organic Act, and it should be part of planning at all levels, even for goal-setting for broad park actions such as those in a general management plan or its equivalent.

You must begin the NEPA process whenever your park is in the proposal stage of any of the federal actions described in section 1.3 of this handbook. The proposal stage is defined as the feasibility stage (40 CFR 1502.5 (a)), or the point when your park "has a goal and is actively preparing to make a decision on one or more alternative means of accomplishing that goal and the effects can be meaningfully evaluated" (1508.23).

Knowing how early or how late to begin a NEPA analysis is often a difficult balancing act. You should try to start early, so that environmental information can be a valuable part of the decision-making criteria.

If your park intends to prepare a plan that would make decisions about resource uses, it may be particularly difficult to know when to begin NEPA. Two factors may be helpful in this decision. Because NEPA requires the creation and analysis of alternatives, one factor in deciding when to initiate NEPA may be when a range of options would be most useful for your decision-maker and the public. The other, and more important, factor to consider is whether the kinds of choices you will be making in the plan have the potential for impact to the human environment. If so, NEPA is required. Director's Order 2, the Park Service's planning guideline, has information about the integration of NEPA with all levels of park planning that may be useful if you are beginning a general management plan (GMP) or other plan.

Usually if a plan or project is so specific that it is the only reasonable option, this means you have waited too long to begin NEPA, because all of the important decisions have been made without benefit of environmental analysis. In this case, you may be violating NEPA by using the process "to rationalize or justify decisions already made" (1502.5).

Although the timing will vary on a case-by-case basis, two rules should guide you when you choose to begin a NEPA review and analysis:

- All of the steps necessary to complete the NEPA process are to be finished in time to be part of any recommendation or report on the proposal—that is, early enough so that the final document can "serve practically as an important contribution to the decision-making process."
- No action that is the subject of an ongoing NEPA analysis or that would limit the choice of alternatives undergoing NEPA scrutiny should be taken until the NEPA process is complete (1506.1). This includes design work, funding pieces of a project, choosing building contractors, and so forth.

### A. NEPA and the project proposal/contracting process

Parks often develop project proposals to record the information that is necessary to justify, program, fund, and initiate specific tasks. When funding is requested for a construction or resource management action, the funding request cannot be approved until the NEPA process is complete or the need for environmental

analysis is adequately described and provided for within the request. This step is particularly important for those proposals where internal scoping has indicated that the potential for significant impact exists. In addition, you should not solicit bids or sign a contract for a proposal until the NEPA process is complete, or you will be in violation of the CEQ requirement that "Agencies shall not commit resources prejudicing selection of alternatives before making a final decision" (1506.1).

#### B. When to begin NEPA on plans

NEPA may be activated by many of the plans that NPS produces, including general management planning, certain types of strategic plans, wilderness and resource management actions, and implementation plans (see Director's Order 2 for information on some of these kinds of plans). If the plans are intended to make decisions that, if implemented, could have an impact on the human environment (see section 1.3), the NEPA process is triggered. Most NEPA requirements are compatible with or identical to requirements for sound management planning. In most cases, NEPA requirements are easily integrated into the planning process, and they provide the information that decision-makers need to make informed choices. Rather than create additional burdens in the planning process, following NEPA requirements should help expedite prompt and defensible decision-making.

## 1.6 Specificity of Data Needed—Plans and Projects

Because planning in the NPS includes several distinct stages and types of decisions that involve different scales, the levels of detail in each will vary. When plans are conceptual, such as in the general management plan, the NEPA analysis may be comparably conceptual. Ultimately, however, a decision-maker must have site-specific information before a plan can be implemented (e.g., the ground disturbed, the resource changed). The following are some options for collecting this site-specific information:

When plans are conceptual, such as the general management plan, the NEPA analysis may be comparably conceptual. However, a decision-maker must ultimately have site-specific information before a plan

can be implemented.

- Collect it as part of the EIS on a general management or other large-scale plan. Because funding to implement the plan may be delayed, you may need to update site-specific analysis several times for the same proposal. The advantages of this approach are that decisions made at the planning stage will be more fully informed, and future NEPA work to implement the plan may be minimized, unless data and planning decisions have become outdated by the time the plan is implemented.
- Collect reconnaissance-level information to make broad policy and planning decisions. Collect site-specific information to

assess implementation options as funding becomes available. The site-specific NEPA document may then be "tiered" (see section 7.4) to the EIS for the broader plan.

• Identify zoned areas within the plan that are likely to be designated for visitor use facilities based on reconnaissance-level data. Collect site-specific data for the smaller developable areas as an element of the plan.

Always include data on impacts to the park's natural and cultural resources and values that have been specifically recognized in the park's enabling legislation; to interpretive, educational, and recreational opportunities; to resources protected by federal, state, or local laws; and to other relevant resources in your park or region. Also see DO-12 section IV (4.3 and 4.4) regarding integration of proper technical and scientific studies appropriate to the decisions under consideration, and taking action when complete information is unavailable.

# 2.0 Overview of the NEPA Process

- 2.1 The Analysis Process
- 2.2 Purpose and Need for Action
- 2.3 Defining the Proposal
- 2.4 Connected, Cumulative, and Similar Actions
- 2.5 NEPA Issues
- 2.6 Internal Scoping
- 2.7 Alternatives
- 2.8 Affected Environment
- 2.9 Impacts
- 2.10 Determining the Appropriate NEPA Pathway
- 2.11 Using Contractors
- 2.12 The Administrative Record
- 2.13 Working with Other Agencies
- 2.14 Emergency Actions

## 2.1 The Analysis Process

Chapter 2 of this handbook is focused on the analysis process. Chapters 3 through 5 deal with documentation of the analysis.

CEQ does not mandate a particular analysis process. However, because NEPA is meant to be part of planning and thus should be applied early, you should carefully consider beginning NEPA when your park is framing its purpose or goals for a particular proposal. Over the years, there has been much confusion in the park service concerning the use of the terms "proposed action" and "preferred alternative." The majority of actions in the park service involving NEPA do not have a specific or even conceptual "proposed action" from the onset of the process. In fact, it can be dangerous to start into a NEPA process with a solidified proposal that precludes consideration and equal treatment of other reasonable alternatives.

Typically in the park service, purpose and need as well as objectives can be defined, and from there, a range of alternatives developed, one of which becomes "preferred" at the conclusion of the analysis process. This "preferred alternative" is then identified in the EA or EIS before it is released to the public for review and comment. In these situations, it is not necessary to use the term "proposed action" since what the park is proposing to do is essentially synonymous with the

**Steps** in a typical analysis process:

- **1**. Identify your park's need for action.
- **2**. Identify your park's goals and objectives in taking action.
- 3. Identify your proposal.
- **4**. Identify issues or problems that need to be addressed to reach park goals and objectives.
- **5**. Resolve these issues by creating reasonable alternatives.
- **6**. Identify information gaps and needs and gather needed data.
- **7**. Identify the impacts of each alternative.

term "preferred alternative." An exception to this might be when a park is analyzing a "proposal" or "proposed action" from an external applicant or "project proponent." For example, a park receives a "proposed action" from an applicant desiring to develop a mining claim. The park responds to the applicant's proposed action by developing a range of alternatives to mitigate impacts of the applicant's proposal. In this case, the applicant's "proposed action" may be very different from the park's preferred alternative. In either case, a simplified version of a typical analysis process is as follows:

- 1. The best way to begin is by clearly stating your park's need for action. Need is the proper framing of the question "why take action?" It is a "because" statement and should include a statement of problems the park is trying to solve, opportunities it is about to take advantage of, and so forth.
- 2. The next step is to establish the purpose and objectives, or goals the park must accomplish by taking action for the action to be considered a success. The objectives and goals, or purpose, of the action are different from the purpose of the park. They are the reasons for proposing action.
- 3. When you have identified what your park hopes to accomplish, the next step is to develop a proposal. CEQ defines "a proposal" as the stage where a park has defined goals and is actively pursuing different means of accomplishing its goals (1508.23). If there is no one "proposal" in mind to meeting goals and objectives, the park may keep the proposal general, such as "NPS proposes to provide visitors an extended experience at the north rim." The next step would be to create a range of alternatives (see step 5 below) that are consistent with the proposal, for instance, building a lodge, renovating cabins in the park, subsidizing overnight accommodations in the local town, etc. As a note, the decision-maker or designee is required to identify a "preferred alternative" (see sections 4.5 E (8) and 5.4 (D)) before an EA or EIS is released for public review. This is the alternative the park service believes would best accomplish its goals after the inhouse NEPA analysis has been completed, when the choice of an alternative as "preferred" is appropriate.

- 4. The next step is to use the interdisciplinary team (IDT) approach to identify issues or environmental problems that need to be addressed to reach park goals and objectives and resolve need for action. This step is often the beginning of internal scoping (section 2.6), and it should involve a site visit (or familiarity of team members with the site) and discussions with appropriate agencies. The Environmental Screening Form (ESF; appendix 1) may serve as a guide in determining affected resources. These may later be supplemented with input from public scoping (sections 4.8 and 5.5). The IDT should pay particular attention to focusing the issues; in other words, what specifically may affect a resource, and what about the resource might be affected. These specifics will form the basis for your impact topics. If your proposal is general, such as "providing an extended experience on the north rim," the issues may also be more generalized. An example would be "providing an extended experience for visitors may require infrastructure that could eliminate habitat and disturb archeological sites."
- 5. If the issues show that the proposal would likely result in environmental impacts, the team should create a set of reasonable alternatives that mitigate or eliminate these problems, but that still fulfill the stated purpose and resolve need—for example, "create a campground, renovate existing cabins, subsidize hotels in town." The alternatives themselves may create environmental problems, which the team will need to correct by adding mitigation or refining the alternatives, or to identify as unresolved issues in the NEPA document.
- 6. The team should then identify data that it has and will need to describe the affected environment and predict impacts of all alternatives. If you start collecting data before you know your purpose and need, issues, and potential alternatives, you might be spending time needlessly collecting irrelevant information.
- 7. Using these data, the team predicts impacts of each action in each alternative on those specific environmental resources identified as impact topics. For those resources that may experience a discernible impact, the team uses the best available methods to predict the extent of the effect. This prediction includes a discussion of context, intensity (e.g., degree), duration, and timing (e.g., short-term vs. long-term), and a conclusion by the park staff and other experts of the relative severity of the impact (minor, moderate, or major).

This process may be modified to fit your park's particular need, and it should include agency and public involvement in identifying and reviewing the documentation of issues, alternatives, and the extent of impact. Also, some steps will be unnecessary if no potential for environmental impact exists and the process outlined in section 3.2 applies.

## 2.2 Purpose and Need for Action

Although the CEQ regulations say little about purpose and need for agency actions, defining them clearly is very important.

#### A. Purpose

Purpose is a statement of goals and objectives that NPS intends to fulfill by taking action. These goals can come from a park's statement of purpose and significance (if the action proposed is a GMP, for instance), from management objectives or mission goals, from implementing or other legislation, from a GMP or other plan, from standards and guidelines for a particular management zone, from public or staff input, and from other sources. Because some of these objectives also may resolve needs, there may be overlap between purpose and need. The discussion should be limited to those goals and objectives that are critical to meet if NPS is to consider the proposal successful.

#### B. Need

Need is a discussion of existing conditions that need to be changed, problems that need to be remedied, decisions that need to be made, and policies or mandates that need to be implemented. In other words, it explains why your park is proposing this action at this time. It may have elements you would otherwise include in a discussion of project "background." There may be one or several needs that an action will resolve. Need is not a discussion of the need for NEPA or other regulatory compliance, but rather reasons why the park must take action at this time and in this place. Although CEQ describes it as "brief," the discussion of need may require several pages.

You have great latitude in defining your proposal's purpose and need. How you define it will also define the range of alternatives (see section 2.7). If it is defined broadly—for example, "to improve the visitor experience at the north rim of the Grand Canyon"—the range of alternatives will likewise be broad. If it is very narrowly defined—for example, "to provide an extended experience for visitors at the north rim of the Grand Canyon by building a lodge"—you may have violated NEPA by making a decision before the NEPA process has been completed. Try instead to be realistic in identifying your park's reasons for taking action, and also to create a range of reasonable alternatives in which environmental impact information and public involvement would be helpful—for example, "to provide an extended experience for visitors at the north rim of the Grand Canyon."

## 2.3 Defining the Proposal

As explained above (in section 2.1 (3)), you may state your park's proposal quite generally, such as "provide an extended experience for visitors at the north rim of the Grand Canyon." This is essentially a restatement of the park's intent to accomplish its stated objectives or purpose. Alternatives would then be a range of options for fulfilling the stated proposal (e.g., lodge, campground, cabins), with no one way identified as preferred over another until the draft NEPA document is completed.

In the above example, perhaps the park examined alternatives for visitor use on the north rim in a GMP/EIS and concluded that provision of an extended visitor experience through overnight accommodations was appropriate. The implementation of the GMP would result in a subsequent planning/NEPA process defining a more specific proposal tiered from the broader approved GMP. In this case, a specific proposal to implement the GMP might be "provide extended experience at the north rim with a lodge" and the range of alternatives would include a lodge, cabins, tents, and so forth.

Whether a proposal is specific or general, in either case, alternatives should be scrutinized to ensure that environmental damage has been mitigated or eliminated to the greatest extent possible while still achieving your park's purpose in taking action.

### 2.4 Connected, Cumulative, and Similar Actions

When analyzing the proposal and alternatives, you must consider actions that result as a direct or indirect consequence—that is, connected, similar, and cumulative actions. These actions should be incorporated into the description of the proposal and alternatives if relevant.

#### A. Connected actions (1508.25)

Connected actions are those that are "closely related" to the proposal and alternatives. Connected actions automatically trigger other actions, they cannot or will not proceed unless other actions have been taken previously or simultaneously, or they are interdependent parts of a larger action and depend on the larger action for their justification. For instance, if your park proposes building housing for rangers on an existing trailhead parking lot, and the trailhead lot must be relocated as a result, this is an action connected to the proposal of building the housing. The impacts of removing the existing parking lot, relocating the lot, and reducing visitor access to the trailhead must be analyzed in the same NEPA document as the housing.

## B. Similar actions (1508.25 (a)(3))

Similar actions are those that have similar geography, timing, purpose, or any other feature that provides a basis for evaluating their combined impacts in a single NEPA document. They can be the same as connected or cumulative actions. As an example, if in the future you intend to build a restaurant in association with the lodge on the north rim of the Grand Canyon, the restaurant and any parking, fencing, utilities, and so forth that are connected with it would be a similar action, which should be analyzed in the same NEPA document as the lodge itself.

### C. Cumulative actions (1508.7, 1508.25 (a)(2))

Cumulative actions are those that have additive impacts on a particular environmental resource. It is irrelevant who takes these actions (i.e., they are not confined to NPS or even federal activities), or whether they took place in the past, are taking place in the present, or will take place in the reasonably foreseeable future.

As an example, if your park is proposing building a small sewage treatment plant and discharging treated wastewater into a river, other activities (i.e., cumulative actions) that also have an additive impact on the river must be included in the analysis on water quality. These activities might include disposal of wastes from recreational vehicles in the park, cattle ranching upstream of the park on public land, or release of water from a reservoir on private property downstream of the park. If you are preparing a GMP or other broad-scale plan, actions on land adjacent to, or even in the region of, the park unit may have combined impacts on resources inside the park boundaries and need to be included in the cumulative impact analysis. One source of information about methods to analyze cumulative impacts is the CEQ's January 1997 report, "Considering Cumulative Effects under the National Environmental Policy Act."

#### 2.5 NEPA Issues

In NPS planning, an "issue" often describes concerns or "obstacles" to achieving a park goal. Planning "issues" might be "lack of appropriate level of funding" or "visitors desire more solitude." In NEPA, the goal is minimizing effects of proposals on the human environment and issues are possible barriers to achieving that

### Internal Scoping—

According to the CEQ elements of scoping (1501.7), you should use internal scoping to

- eliminate issues that are not important.
- allocate assignments among park IDT members or other participating agencies.
- find/read any other NEPA documents related to this one.
- identify any other permits, surveys, or consultations required by other agencies.
- create a schedule that allows plenty of time to do NEPA well before a decision on the proposal is required.

goal. Planning issues and those issues defined in the NEPA analysis should both be incorporated into the plan/NEPA document as appropriate.

To be more specific, in NEPA, an "issue" describes the relationship between actions (proposed, connected, cumulative, similar) and environmental (natural, cultural, and socioeconomic) resources. Issues are usually problems that either the "no action" alternative has caused, or that any of the alternatives might cause, but they may be questions, concerns, problems, or other relationships, including beneficial ones. As an example, "Building a lodge on the north rim could create a man-made obstacle to an otherwise untouched view of a spectacular natural scene" is an issue that details the relationship between the action (building the lodge) and an environmental resource likely to be affected (the view).

Issues do not predict the degree or intensity of harm the action might cause, but simply alert the reader as to what the environmental problems might be if action is taken. The interdisciplinary approach must be used to decide relevant issues.

In determining relevant issues, the IDT should pay particular attention to the specific action element of the alternative causing harm and the specific element of the resource that may be affected. In the example above, the concern might be "the two-story west wing of the lodge" rather than the entire lodge. The resource affected might be the "view of the Colorado River for hikers on a 200-meter stretch of the rim trail." This narrower description will help focus impact topics to just those resources affected, and mitigation measures or alternatives to just those actions causing problems for those resources.

If the team finds that certain issues that it or the public thought would be problematic will not be, it should discuss these in an EA or an EIS as "issues considered but dismissed" and drop them from the analysis.

## 2.6 Internal Scoping

#### A. Introduction

Internal scoping is simply the use of NPS staff (at the SSO, regional, park, or National Program Center level) to decide what needs to be analyzed in a NEPA document. It is an interdisciplinary process, and at a minimum it should be used to define issues, alternatives, and data needs. The IDT may also be used to formulate purpose and need; brainstorm any connected, similar, or cumulative actions associated with the proposal; decide on the appropriate level of documentation; put together a public involvement strategy; and decide other features of the overall NEPA process. The elements of internal scoping included by CEQ are listed in the box on page 18.

External scoping, or early public involvement in the NEPA process, is discussed in section 4.8 (B) of this handbook under Public Involvement.

### **B.** Minimum requirements

After you have defined purpose and need, the potential actions to address purpose and need, and any connected or cumulative actions, and determined what the issues and impact topics are likely to be, the IDT should visit the site (if members are not already familiar with it) and speak with appropriate agencies or other experts to determine whether the potential for a measurable impact, significant impact, or resource conflict exists. You must record evidence of the site visit and agency communication in your project or analysis file on the ESF, or use a similar form or process. It is also important to identify a single point of contact for the IDT, in order to avoid miscommunication with other agencies.

You must complete an ESF for any project that may have an impact on the human environment. If your park's project is described on the list in section 3.3 of this handbook, and there is no potential for environmental impact, you do not need to complete an ESF. A sample ESF appears in appendix 1 of this handbook. It may be tailored for your park's use, although certain of the criteria (see appendix 1) are mandatory.

The ESF requires familiarity with the site to complete. The ESF, as well as input from agencies and other experts, is used to decide the appropriate level of documentation for the NEPA analysis (section 2.10). If all agree that no potential for measurable impact to the human environment exists, and the requirements of section 3.2 are met, the action can be categorically excluded from further documentation, and you can complete the categorical exclusion form (CEF) (appendix 2) and attach it to the ESF. If an EA or an EIS is the appropriate choice, the ESF is the beginning of the analysis, or statutory compliance, file.

#### C. Actions already analyzed

The environmental impacts of an action may already have been fully examined in a previous NEPA analysis. If all impact topics have been analyzed in site-specific detail, and there are no changes to the proposal or in impacts to environmental resources from those previously analyzed, then no further environmental analysis is required, and you may prepare a memo to file, rather than an ESF. This memo should be reviewed and approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee, in consultation with the regional environmental coordinator.

### 2.7 Alternatives

### A. Range of alternatives

You must examine a full range of alternatives in the analysis documented in either an EIS or an EA. Those alternatives carried forward for analysis must meet project objectives to a large degree, although not necessarily completely. For instance, in the example above (section 2.5), you may choose to add an alternative that analyzes using hotels in the town nearest the north rim of the Grand Canyon, even if your project objective was to provide an extended experience for visitors right at the rim. The alternatives must also be developed with environmental resources (rather than cost, e.g.) as the primary determinant. In other words, they propose different means of accomplishing your park's goals, while at the same time protecting or minimizing impacts to some or all resources. Keep in mind that at this stage, the range of options you consider may not ultimately be fully analyzed as "reasonable alternatives," as explained below.

#### B. Reasonable alternatives

CEQ has defined reasonable alternatives as those that are economically and technically feasible, and that show evidence of common sense (Q2a). Alternatives that could not be implemented if they were chosen, or that do not resolve the need for action and fulfill the stated purpose in taking action to a large degree, should be eliminated as unreasonable before impact analysis begins. Unreasonable alternatives may be those that are unreasonably expensive; that cannot be implemented for technical or logistic reasons; that do not meet park mandates; that are inconsistent with carefully considered, up-to-date park statements of purpose and significance or management objectives; or that have severe environmental impacts—although none of these factors automatically renders an alternative unreasonable. CEQ is also clear that agencies should not pare the list down to only those alternatives that are cheap, easy, or your park's favorite approach.

Rather, feasibility is an initial measure of whether the alternative makes sense and is achievable.

In fact, CEQ has added language cautioning against using even what may seem clear criteria for routinely dismissing alternatives as unreasonable. For instance, if an alternative is any of the following, but otherwise feasible, it must be included in the range of alternatives (Q2b):

- outside the scope of what Congress has approved or funded.
- outside the legal jurisdiction of your park.
- undesirable to an outside applicant but reasonable to the park.
- in conflict with a law.
- outside those alternatives provided for by a GMP or other park planning document (particularly if the plan or policy is older or no longer applicable to the issues the park is now facing (1500.1 (a)).

These conditions often are obstacles to implementing an action, because a law may need to be changed, an applicant may need to modify a proposal, or Congress may need to rethink approval or funding. However, CEQ notes that the EA or the EIS analyzing such alternatives may serve as the vehicle for such change.

Alternatives may also be eliminated as unreasonable as the NEPA process progresses. For instance, if initial impact analysis shows that a technically or economically feasible alternative would have profound adverse environmental impacts, it should be eliminated as "environmentally infeasible."

EAs and EISs should include a section discussing those alternatives that were considered but rejected and briefly explain the reasons for their elimination.

#### C. No action

The "no action" alternative is developed for two reasons. It is almost always a viable choice in the range of reasonable alternatives, and it sets a baseline of existing impact continued into the future against which to compare impacts of action alternatives. This is important context information in determining the relative magnitude and intensity of impacts (see also, section 4.2(a)). If choosing the true no action alternative (i.e., continuing as is) would violate laws or your park's own policies, you may want to add a "minimum management" alternative to your range. This should not substitute for the no action alternative, because you may lose valuable information on existing impacts by not evaluating the impacts of ongoing activities.

1. No action for plan modifications—As a rule, for GMPs, assume the no action alternative would continue present management actions. No action then becomes an accurate baseline to compare against action alternatives. As allowed by CEQ (Q3), you may group all existing plans and policies into an alternative to show the impacts of implementing

them in the future. This alternative should be considered one of the action alternatives, rather than no action.

- 2. No action for a project—This would mean the proposed activity would not take place (Q3). Therefore, no action is the continuation of existing conditions and activities without a particular planning context.
- **3. Impacts of no action**—The impacts of no action are the impacts of existing activities or conditions (man-made or natural) projected into the future. If the proposal is to modify a plan, the impacts are the impacts of the unmodified plan. The impacts of no action help readers understand whether the project would degrade or improve conditions in an already degraded environment, or in a relatively pristine one. Analysis of no action must also include the cumulative impacts of all past, present, and reasonably foreseeable actions.

If the proposal is to improve existing conditions, the impacts of no action are particularly important to describe, because they help to define the need for NPS action. If implementing the no action alternative would "result in predictable actions by others," this impact should be part of the effects of no action (Q3).

Impacts of no action help decision-makers understand the comparative impacts of proposals, as well as the absolute impact. For instance, if your park is analyzing the impact to wildlife of a proposal to add a trail in an area already covered with trails, the impacts to wildlife of no action (e.g., from hikers using the trails) are distinctly different from the impacts if this were the first trail into a wilderness area. Compared with the existing impacts, a new trail in the first case may have less of an impact than in the second.

Impacts of no action also provide an assessment of absolute, or total, impact to a resource. In the example above, the impacts of the proposed trail, when added to those of existing trails (no action), may impose greater impacts on wildlife than a single trail in a wilderness would.

Accurately and completely describing the impacts of existing sources—that is, of continuing actions—is critical to understanding the context, duration and intensity of new impacts. For this reason, a full analysis of no action is required in all NPS EISs and EAs. This is true even when your park is under legislative or other command to take action (Q3).

### D. Environmentally preferred alternative

After the environmental analysis is completed, you must identify the environmentally preferred alternative or alternatives. Descriptions of these alternatives must be included as a separate heading at the end of the alternatives section of the document. The environmentally preferred alternative is the alternative that will promote the national environmental policy expressed in NEPA (Sec. 101 (b)). This includes alternatives that:

- fulfill the responsibilities of each generation as trustee of the environment for succeeding generations.
- ensure for all Americans safe, healthful, productive, and esthetically and culturally pleasing surroundings.
- attain the widest range of beneficial uses of the environment without degradation, risk of health or safety, or other undesirable and unintended consequences.
- preserve important historic, cultural, and natural aspects of our national heritage and maintain, wherever possible, an environment that supports diversity and variety of individual choice.
- achieve a balance between population and resource use that will permit high standards of living and a wide sharing of life's amenities.
- enhance the quality of renewable resources and approach the maximum attainable recycling of depletable resources.

Simply put, "this means the alternative that causes the least damage to the biological and physical environment; it also means the alternative which best protects, preserves, and enhances historic, cultural, and natural resources" (Q6a). In the NPS, the No Action alternative may also be considered in identifying the environmentally preferred alternative.

Through identification of the environmentally preferable alternative, the NPS decision-makers and the public are clearly faced with the relative merits of choices and must clearly state through the decision-making process the values and policies used in reaching final decisions.

### E. Consistency with sections 101 and 102(1) of NEPA

As required under CEQ regulations 40 CFR 1502.2(d), NEPA documents must include a section stating how each alternative analyzed in detail would or would not achieve the requirements of sections 101 and 102(1) of NEPA and other environmental laws and policies. In the park service, this requirement is met by 1) disclosing how each alternative, one of which is identified as the environmentally preferred, meets the criteria set forth in section 101(b) of NEPA (see above); and 2) any inconsistencies between the alternatives analyzed in detail and other environmental laws and policies.

## 2.8 Affected Environment

### A. Boundary-setting

Once alternatives and issues have been defined, the analysis area boundary should be delineated for each resource. The analysis boundary will be different for each resource. For instance, the impact to soils or vegetation of grading a site for a sewage treatment plant may be confined to the building footprint. The impact to water quality may be the entire length of the river where treated waste-

water is discharged and beyond. If another source of impact to the same river exists upstream, this section of river may also be part of the analysis area for water quality.

Sometimes the analysis boundary for a particular resource will change with different alternatives. In the example above, analyzing three or four different locations for a sewage treatment plant means analyzing impacts to vegetation in those locations.

Fully describing affected environment usually requires knowledge about the extent of impacts, and the description may be refined as impact analysis on a particular proposal proceeds.

In NEPA, "affected" environment means just that—resources expected to experience environmental impacts. Therefore, you should not bother with drawing analysis boundaries or collecting data to describe resources that are not likely to be affected by the alternatives.

For those resources that will sustain impacts, collecting accurate and adequate data on their present status (location, nature, condition, scope, size, etc.) is critical in determining impacts, and must be available before helpful NEPA analysis can begin. A geographic information system or other mapping system not only can be the basis of excellent analyses, but can help parks decide how best to develop or manage resources. In other words, quality data will help in making quality decisions. The list of resources in the ESF (appendix 1) is a good beginning point in determining which resources to consider.

### 2.9 Impacts

An impact differs from an issue. An issue describes an environmental problem or relationship between a resource and an action(s). Impact analysis predicts the degree to which the resource will be affected (see 4.5(g) for more information). Impact topics are derived from issue statements, and should be quite specific. For example, if the impact of building a lodge on the north rim of the Grand Canyon to visitor views is confined to the view of the Colorado River from a 200-meter section of one trail, the impact topic should be "views of the river from a 200-meter section of the trail" rather than "views of the canyon from the north rim." This helps keep the analysis (and documents) focused and analytical.

To help decision-makers completely understand how a resource will be affected, you must include considerations of context, intensity, duration, and timing (1508.27). The following categories of impacts must be considered and analyzed for any park proposal and its alternatives, regardless of how the analysis is documented (CE, EA, or EIS). Impacts, effects, and environmental consequences are synonymous throughout this handbook and the CEQ regulations.

### A. Direct effects (1508.8)

These are impacts that are caused by the alternatives at the same time and in the same place as the action. For example, grading a building site removes soil and

vegetation at the site and, if an archeological resource is present, destroys surface and subsurface deposits.

#### B. Indirect effects (1508.8)

Indirect effects are impacts caused by the alternatives, that occur later in time or farther in distance than the action. For instance, if allowing a utility to string a transmission line through your park to serve a nearby town is something you reasonably expect will ultimately result in increased growth and encroachment of development on park boundaries, these indirect impacts need to be included in the NEPA document analyzing the transmission line. Implementing a day-use reservation system may have indirect socioeconomic impacts on neighboring businesses or concessions inside the park. These are examples of impacts occurring later in time.

The alternatives may also have indirect effects that occur farther in distance from the action. For instance, discharging effluent into a river would affect the water quality far from the actual site of the release. You do not need to call out direct or indirect effects specifically in a NEPA document, although cumulative impacts do need to be identified separately.

#### C. Cumulative effects (1508.7)

Cumulative effects are "additive" impacts to a particular resource. An EIS or an EA analyzes them without regard to land ownership (i.e., cumulative effects may occur from actions on private or other agency land), and it includes impacts of actions in the past, the present, and the reasonable foreseeable future (see section 2.4, cumulative actions).

Although it is clear that CEQ does not want agencies to segment their proposals into pieces that have less potential for significant impact alone than when viewed together (see 1.4 (F)), the requirement to analyze cumulative impacts goes much farther than this. A complete picture of forces already acting upon a particular environmental resource is essential in making reasonable decisions about the management of that resource. If sources of impact exist, whether they are on private or public land, or whether they were taken in the past, are ongoing now, or have a reasonable chance of occurring in a future when the impacts of the proposal are also ongoing, their combined impacts give decision-makers and the public a clear idea of the "absolute" impact the resource is experiencing. For instance, if your park is proposing clearing vegetation to build a campground in the middle of important elk winter range, last year's timber cut on the adjacent federal forest in elk winter range has an additive impact on the elk population and must be part of the cumulative impact. A large housing development proposed for next year on private land in elk habitat is also going to have an adverse effect, and this should be included if you believe it is reasonable to assume the homes will be built.

For the example above, cumulative impacts can extend over entire watersheds, or thousands of square miles of elk range. Yet, because the action causing an impact is farther away from the park's proposal, in time or geographically, it often has a diminishing additive impact. The IDT is critical in deciding which actions, activities, or sources of impact to include in a cumulative impact analysis, and the team should use common sense in deciding the extent of the cumulative impacts "boundary" (see section 2.8 (A)). Although a multitude of actions may contribute impact infinitesimally to the same resource that the NPS proposal is expected to affect, only those that resource specialists feel are clear contributors or that can feasibly be analyzed need to be included. As a general rule, the farther removed an action is from the project area or the project start date, the less need there is for detailed and exact analysis of the action's cumulative impacts.

The analysis of cumulative impacts may be particularly important for largerscale park planning or resource management efforts. To return to the elk example, if elk winter range is a resource that you believe is important to maintain in pristine condition within the park, but a migration corridor between it and elk summer range is proposed for development, knowing how the developed corridor will affect the elk population may be important in deciding how to manage the park's winter range.

### D. Impairment

The impact analysis must also include a finding on whether or not the actions contained in the alternatives would "impair" park resources. (See DO-55 and this handbook 1-2(E)).

## 2.10 Determining the Appropriate NEPA Pathway

#### A. Documentation

A NEPA review includes documentation of the analysis, which then becomes available to the public. The degree of public input and the detail included in the documentation varies depending on the severity, in context, of the environmental impacts of the proposal and alternatives.

### **B.** Five options

Five options to document a NEPA analysis are available:

- 1. Memo to file—Prepare a memo to file when the proposal has already been analyzed in site-specific detail in a previous NEPA document, no different impacts or changes to the project are expected, and environmental conditions have not changed. A notation to this effect should be prepared and placed in the project files.
- 2. CEs for which no formal documentation is necessary—This option is applicable when the action is described using one of the categories in section 3.3 and no exceptions (section 3.5) exist. If appropriate, and if a project file exists, a memo to file may be placed in the project file.
- 3. CEs for which a record is needed—Prepare these records when the action is described using one of the categories in section 3.4 and no

- exceptions (section 3.5) exist. Complete the ESF (appendix 1) and the CEF (appendix 2) and include them with the project file.
- 4. EIS—Prepare an EIS when the potential for significant impact to the human environment exists (see section 4.2), as indicated by an EA, an ESF, or other scoping, or because the proposed action or alternative is described in section 4.4.

#### 5. EA—Prepare when:

- (a) the significance of impacts is unknown (e.g., to determine whether an EIS is required).
- (b) the proposed action is not described on either of the CE lists (sections 3.3 and 3.4) or the list of actions that normally require an EIS (section 4.4).
- (c) the proposed action would take several CE categories to describe fully, would involve one or more of the exceptions described in section 3.5, or would involve unresolved conflicts concerning the use of resources.

Each of these options has specific content and public involvement requirements. For options 3, 4, and 5, you should complete the clear definition of objectives, an initial range of alternatives and actions including connected and cumulative actions, internal interdisciplinary scoping (see section 2.6), and an ESF (see section 2.6 (B) (1)) before you determine the appropriate NEPA pathway. For options 1 or 2, no ESF is required, although you should consult the list of exceptions to categorical exclusions (see section 3.5) to see whether any apply.

### C. The choice of pathways

- 1. If you believe option 1 above applies, the IDT should re-read the NEPA document that it believes already describes and analyzes the impacts of the action. If it does so in site-specific detail, and the analysis is up-to-date (see section 2.6 (C)), no further documentation is required, although for the administrative record, you must write a memo to file as described above. (Also note that this memo should be approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee after consultation with the regional environmental coordinator.)
- 2. If option 1 does not apply, but you believe option 2 does, check the list of actions in section 3.3. If it is described on this list (and no exceptions in section 3.5 apply), you may take action without further paperwork.
- 3. If the action is not on the list in section 3.3, or if it is described and analyzed in a previous NEPA document, you should complete internal scoping, complete the ESF form, and check the list of actions in section 3.4.
- 4. If the action is described in section 3.4, and no exceptional circumstances (section 3.5) exist, the CE is likely the appropriate pathway. Section 3.2

- of this handbook describes the categorical exclusion process in more detail.
- 5. If the action is not described on the CE list, check the list of actions that normally require the preparation of an EIS (section 4.4). If it is on the list, or the potential for significant impacts exists as indicated by the ESF, you must write an EIS. Chapter 4.0 of this handbook details the process to follow in preparing an EIS.
- 6. You should prepare an EA if the action is not described on any list, or if one of the following applies:
  - one or more of the categories on the ESF apply or are checked "data needed" or "yes," but you do not know if any will result in significant impacts;
  - several categories in section 3.4 are required to completely describe the project;
  - the action is described in section 3.3 or 3.4, but one or more of the exceptions in section 3.5 apply;
  - unresolved conflicts concerning the use of resources exist; or
  - the significance of impacts is unknown.

If the EA indicates there may be significant impacts, you must prepare an EIS, unless the unique and limited circumstances described in section 5.4 (F)(3) apply and a proposal can be modified with mitigation measures to lessen the severity of impact, sometimes referred to as a "mitigated EA." The use of the terms "significant" and "significance" over the years has become quite contentious in NEPA documents. It is highly recommended that these terms be avoided in EAs and EISs, since these terms apply primarily to the determination of the most appropriate NEPA pathway.

## 2.11 Using Contractors

A NEPA document may be prepared by a contractor for either internally or externally generated proposals if no conflict of interest exists. If a contractor prepares an EIS or an EA, there must be a waiver prepared by NPS and signed by the contractor indicating the contractor has "no financial or other interest in the outcome of the project." (1506.5). Even when a NEPA document is prepared by a contractor, NPS has the responsibility for ensuring its adequacy.

### 2.12 The Administrative Record

The administrative record or project file is a critical part of the decision-making process, because Freedom of Information Act requests and/or litigation will require an organized and complete record for response. All cited documents in the text, as well as complete references that have been summarized or incorpo-

rated by reference in the EIS or the EA, need to be reasonably available for public inspection if NPS receives such a request. Litigation may focus almost entirely on the contents of the record.

At a minimum, items that should be kept in the record include notes of IDT meetings where key decisions about the content of the document, issues to be examined in detail, alternatives, and so forth were made; notes, public comment letters, minutes of meetings, phone calls, e-mail, and documentation of public involvement efforts; copies of EAs or EISs that were circulated within NPS, or to other agencies or entities outside NPS, for review or comment; and drafts of sections written that were later used to create an EA or an EIS. Issues identified by the IDT team or individual members should be included with follow-up documentation on how the issue was resolved.

## 2.13 Working with Other Agencies

#### A. Lead and cooperating agencies

More than one federal agency may be involved in approving a given proposal. Yet, NEPA requires agencies to work together to produce only one NEPA document. The agency in charge of preparing the document is the lead agency, and all others with jurisdiction by law (every agency with permitting or funding authority over some aspect of the proposal) or special expertise who are designated as such by the lead are called cooperating agencies. The CEQ regulations include criteria for designating a lead agency if a conflict exists (1501.5), as well as the rights and responsibilities of cooperating agencies (1501.6). Chapter 8.0 of this handbook also has information on lead and cooperating agencies (see also 516 DM, 2.4.).

NPS may act as a joint lead agency with either another federal agency (1501.5 (b)) or a state or local agency (see section 2.13(B)). However, CEQ regulations clearly encourage the lead and cooperating concept for two or more federal agencies and the joint approach for federal-state documents. In addition, the NPS has committed, along with other major land management agencies, to provide for opportunities for inclusion of state, local, and tribal governments as cooperators in the preparation of environmental documents.

### B. State agencies

CEQ also asks federal agencies to work closely with state agencies that have requirements for impact analysis, and to make every effort to combine efforts with them (1506.2), including the preparation of a joint state-federal impact document.

### C. Other environmental and regulatory requirements

Other federal, state, and local laws may have information requirements that overlap with NEPA. The study of these resources and information about their present status (i.e., affected environment), or the impact they may experience from your park's proposal, should be integrated into your NEPA document. Some of these laws and executive orders are listed below, but you must consult local, state, and other federal agencies as part of scoping to determine all of the applicable requirements and any permits needed for project completion.

- 1. Endangered Species Act (ESA)—Section 7 of the ESA requires that a federal agency consult with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service or the National Marine Fisheries Service on any action that may affect endangered or threatened species or candidate species, or that may result in adverse modification of critical habitat. An EA or an EIS may provide sufficient information to serve as a biological assessment for section 7 purposes. If a separate biological assessment is prepared, it must be part of any NEPA document.
- 2. Executive Orders 11988 and 11990, Floodplain Management and Wetland Protection—These executive orders direct NPS to avoid, to the extent possible, the long- and short-term adverse impacts associated with modifying or occupying floodplains and wetlands. They also require NPS to avoid direct or indirect support of floodplain or wetland development whenever there is a practical alternative. If implementing your park's proposal would result in an adverse impact to a regulated floodplain or wetland, you must include a statement of findings with the finding of no significant impact (FONSI) or the record of decision (ROD).
- 3. National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) section 106—Section 106 of NHPA requires federal agencies to consider the effects of their proposals on historic properties, and to provide state historic preservation officers, tribal historic preservation officers, and, as necessary, the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on these actions. Section 106 review and NEPA are two separate, distinct processes. They can and should occur simultaneously, and documents can be combined, but one is not a substitute for the other. They should, however, be coordinated to avoid duplication of public involvement or other requirements. The information and mitigation gathered as part of the 106 review must be included in the NEPA document, and the 106 process must be completed before a FONSI or an ROD can be signed on a proposal that affects historic properties.
- 4. Executive Order 12898, Environmental Justice in Minority and Low-Income Populations—This executive order directs federal agencies to assess whether their actions have disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects on minority and low-income populations. You must specifically analyze and evaluate the impact of your proposal on minority and low-income populations and communities, as well as the equity of the distribution of the benefits and risk of the decision in your NEPA document. If it does not apply, this should be noted in the "issues dismissed" section of the NEPA document (see ECM95–3 and ECM98–2).

**5. Secretarial Order 3175 and ECM95–2**—These memoranda require bureaus to explicitly address environmental impacts of their proposed actions on Indian Trust Resources in any environmental document.

## 2.14 Emergency Actions

Emergencies requiring immediate action are exempt from CEQ's regulatory provisions for implementing NEPA (1506.11; 516 DM, 5.8), regardless of whether the actions have the potential for significant impact. In the event of an emergency, you should immediately take any action needed to prevent or reduce either risks to public health or safety or serious resource losses. CEQ and the Department require that both CEQ and OEPC (the Department's Office of Environmental Policy and Compliance) be consulted as soon as possible about NEPA compliance in such an event. If an action is one that would normally require an EIS, consult CEQ as soon as possible for approval of alternative arrangements. The NPS Environmental Quality Division coordinates these requests.

It is important to note that only those actions required to resolve the emergency are exempt. Other related actions (follow-up, connected, long-term, etc.) remain subject to the requirements of NEPA.

Examples of emergency actions are cleanup of immediately threatening hazardous materials spills, fire suppression, and prevention or repair of damage by unanticipated floods or other natural disasters (ESM97–3).

# 3.0 Categorical Exclusions

- 3.1 Definition
- 3.2 Process to Follow
- 3.3 CEs for Which No Formal Documentation Is Necessary
- 3.4 CEs for Which a Record Is Needed
- 3.5 Exceptions to CEs
- 3.6 Using the CE Lists
- 3.7 Public Involvement
- 3.8 Administrative Process
- 3.9 Consideration of Multiple Actions

## 3.1 Definition

In NPS, CEs are applicable to actions that, under normal circumstances, are not considered major federal actions and that have no measurable impacts on the human environment. However, under exceptional circumstances (see section 3.5), these same actions may have measurable or even significant impacts, and a CE would no longer be applicable. Therefore, each time you consider a CE for a park action, it is important to decide whether any exceptional circumstances exist.

Departmental legal activities—including arrests, investigations, patents, claims, and legal opinions—are not considered actions for the purposes of NEPA. Similarly, regulatory and enforcement actions—including inspections, administrative hearings, and related decisions—are not NEPA-related actions.

### 3.2 Process to Follow

NPS has two lists of categorically excluded actions. One (section 3.3) requires no formal documentation. If an action that your park unit is proposing is on this list, you do not need to complete any NEPA-related documentation, and no evidence of internal scoping is required. You may wish to prepare a memo to the project file (if one exists) to show that environmental effects were considered.

In the vast majority of cases, the actions in section 3.3 have no potential for environmental impact. However, you must check the list of exceptions in section 3.5 before you exclude an action listed in section 3.3. If any of these criteria apply, or if you believe the potential for environmental impact exists, you must go through the internal scoping process described in section 2.6 and complete the requirements in sections 3.2, or for an EA or an EIS if appropriate.

The process in using the second list (section 3.4) is more involved. Whereas the actions in section 3.3 would almost never cause environmental impact, these (section 3.4) actions do have the potential for measurable impacts. To be sure no measurable impacts would occur, follow these steps if your park's proposal is described on the list in section 3.4:

- 1. Using an interdisciplinary approach, determine whether any connected, cumulative, or similar actions are part of the proposed action. In other words, carefully consider whether it is a piece of a larger action that should be analyzed in a NEPA document.
- 2. Use the ESF to ascertain the important environmental issues, and visit the site if the IDT is not familiar with it.
- 3. If no exceptional (see section 3.5) circumstances exist, and this fact is confirmed by the ESF, contact interested and affected local, state, and/or federal agencies to see whether any object to the NPS determination that there is no potential for measurable impact.
- 4. If interested or affected public exist, make a diligent effort to contact them and obtain their input.
- 5. If all (the NPS team, other agencies, and the public) agree there is no potential for measurable impact, document this in the categorical exclusion form (CEF) shown in appendix 2. The CEF requires a brief description of the proposal, identification of the category used in excluding the action from further NEPA analysis, and a signature block. The ESF is attached to and becomes part of the CEF.
- 6. If extensive mitigation is required to avoid triggering one of the exceptional circumstances criteria (section 3.5), you must prepare an EA. If minimum mitigation is acceptable to appropriate agencies and any interested or affected public, it should be fully integrated into the project description on the CEF.
- 7. You should consider changed environmental circumstances in determining the level of NEPA documentation, and in deciding if the criteria in section 3.4 would apply.

## 3.3 CEs for Which No Formal Documentation Is Necessary

The following list shows actions that usually have no potential for impact to the human environment, and that therefore are not routinely subject to NEPA review and documentation. The list is included here to reinforce the idea that many routine federal government actions are exempt from NEPA. Under normal circumstances, no NEPA-related documentation (including an ESF) is required in order to perform the actions on this list. However, if the criteria in section 3.5 apply, or if for any other reason you believe the action listed below may have an impact on the human environment, procedures described in section 3.2 apply. Some of

these actions (A through H) are substantially the same as the Departmental CEs (516 DM, 2, appendix 1). Others (J through O) have been added by NPS.

- A. Personnel actions and investigations and personnel services contracts.
- B. Internal organizational changes and facility and office reductions and closings.
- C. Routine financial transactions—for example, salaries and expenses, procurement contracts, guarantees, financial assistance, income transfers, audits, fees, bonds, and royalties.
- D. Routine and continuing government business—for example, supervision, administration, operations, maintenance, and replacement activities having limited context and intensity, meaning the activities are limited in size and magnitude or have short-term effects.
- E. Management, formulation, allocation, transfer, and reprogramming of the Department's budget at all levels. (This does not exclude the preparation of environmental documents for proposals included in the budget when otherwise required.)
- F. Legislative proposals of an administrative or technical nature—for example, changes in authorizations for appropriations; minor boundary changes and land transactions; proposals that would have primarily economic, social, individual, or institutional effects; and comments and reports on referrals of legislative proposals.
- G. Policies, directives, regulations, and guidelines of an administrative, financial, legal, technical, or procedural nature, the environmental effects of which are too broad, speculative, or conjectural to lend themselves to meaningful analysis and which will be subject later to the NEPA process, either collectively or case-by-case.
- H. Activities that are educational, informational, advisory, or consultative to other agencies, public and private entities, visitors, individuals, or the general public.
- I. Land and boundary surveys.
- J. Preparation and issuance of publications.
- K. Technical assistance to other federal, state, and local agencies or the general public.
- L. Preparation of routine reports required by law or regulation.
- M. Day-to-day maintenance, resource management, and research activities that have no potential for environmental impact or are not otherwise listed in section 3.4.

- N. Issuance of individual hunting or fishing licenses in accordance with state and federal regulations.
- O. Changes in interpretive and environmental education programs.

## 3.4 CEs for Which a Record Is Needed

See section 3.2 for the process to follow when the proposed action is described in one of the following categories:

## A. Actions related to general administration

(1) Changes or amendments to an approved action when such changes would cause no environmental impact.

## Be sure to check

for exceptional circumstances (section 3.5) and consult the "Warning" section (3.6) before you decide that your park's action should be categorically excluded!

- (2) Minor boundary changes that are accomplished through existing statutory authorities and that result in no change in land use.
- (3) Reissuance/renewal of permits, rightsof-way, or easements not involving new environmental impacts, provided that the impacts of the original actions were evaluated in an environmental document.
- (4) Conversion of existing permits to rights-of-way, when such conversions neither continue nor potentially initiate adverse environmental conditions, provided that the impacts of the original actions were evaluated in an environmental document.
- (5) Issuances, extensions, renewals, reissuances, or minor modifications of concession contracts or permits that do not entail new construction or any potential for new environmental impact as a result of concession operations.
- (6) Incidental business permits (formerly called commercial use licenses) involving no construction or potential for new environmental impact.
- (7) Leasing of historic properties in accordance with 36 CFR 18 and NPS-38.
- (8) Modifications or revisions to existing regulations, or the promulgation of new regulations for NPS—administered areas, provided the modifications, revisions, or new regulations do not:
  - (a) increase public use to the extent of compromising the nature and character of the area or cause physical damage to it.

- (b) introduce non-compatible uses that might compromise the nature and characteristics of the area or cause physical damage to it.
- (c) conflict with adjacent ownerships or land uses.
- (d) cause a nuisance to adjacent owners or occupants.
- (9) At the direction of the NPS responsible official, actions where NPS has concurrence or co-approval with another bureau and the action is a CE for that bureau, and where NPS agrees that there is no potential for environmental impact.
- (10) Routine transfers of jurisdiction between the NPS and the District of Columbia accomplished through existing statutory authority, where no change of use in the land is anticipated upon transfer.

#### B. Plans, studies, and reports

- (1) Changes or amendments to an approved plan, when such changes have no potential for environmental impact.
- (2) Cultural resources maintenance guides, collection management plans, and historic furnishings reports.
- (3) Interpretive plans (interpretive prospectuses, audio-visual plans, museum exhibit plans, wayside exhibit plans).
- (4) Plans, including priorities, justifications, and strategies, for non-manipulative research, monitoring, inventorying, and information-gathering.
- (5) Agreements between NPS offices for plans and studies.
- (6) Authorization, funding, or approval for the preparation of statewide comprehensive outdoor recreation plans.
- (7) Adoption or approval of academic or research surveys, studies, reports, and similar documents that do not contain and will not result in NPS recommendations.
- (8) Land protection plans that propose changes to existing land or visitor use when the changes have no potential for environmental impact.

# C. Actions related to development

- (1) Land acquisition within established park boundaries, if future anticipated uses would have no potential for environmental impact.
- (2) Land exchanges that will not lead to anticipated changes in the use of land and that have no potential for environmental impact.
- (3) Routine maintenance and repairs to non-historic structures, facilities, utilities, grounds, and trails.

- (4) Routine maintenance and repairs to cultural resource sites, structures, utilities, and grounds if the action falls under an approved Historic Structures Preservation Guide or Cyclic Maintenance Guide, or if the action would not adversely affect the cultural resource.
- (5) Installation of signs, displays, and kiosks.
- (6) Installation of navigation aids.
- (7) Experimental testing of short duration (no more than one season) of mass transit systems, and changes in operation of existing systems, that have no potential for environmental impact.
- (8) Replacement in kind of minor structures and facilities with little or no change in location, capacity, or appearance—for example, comfort stations, pit toilets, fences, kiosks, signs, and campfire circles.
- (9) Repair, resurfacing, striping, installation of traffic control devices, and repair/replacement of guardrails, culverts, signs, and other minor existing features on existing roads when no potential for environmental impact exists.
- (10) Changes in sanitary facilities operation resulting in no new environmental effects.
- (11) Installation of wells, comfort stations, and pit or vault toilets in areas of existing use and in developed areas.
- (12) Minor trail relocation or development of compatible trail networks on logging roads or other established routes.
- (13) Upgrading or adding new overhead utility facilities on existing poles, or on replacement poles that do not change existing pole line configurations.
- (14) Issuance of rights-of-way for overhead utility lines to an individual building or well from an existing line where installation will not result in visual intrusion and will involve no clearance of vegetation other than for placement of poles.
- (15) Issuance of rights-of-way for minor overhead utility lines not involving placement of poles or towers and not involving vegetation management or visual intrusion in an area administered by NPS.
- (16) Installation of underground utilities in areas showing clear evidence of recent human disturbance or areas within an existing road prism or within an existing overhead utility right-of-way.
- (17) Minor landscaping in areas showing clear evidence of recent human disturbance.
- (18) Installation of fencing enclosures, exclosures, or boundary fencing posing no effect on wildlife migrations.

#### D. Actions related to visitor use

- (1) Minor changes in amounts or types of visitor use for the purpose of ensuring visitor safety or resource protection in accordance with existing regulations.
- (2) Minor changes in programs and regulations pertaining to visitor activities.
- (3) Issuance of permits for demonstrations, gatherings, ceremonies, concerts, arts and crafts shows, and so forth, entailing only short-term or readily remediable environmental disturbance.
- (4) Designation of trailside camping zones with minimal or no improvements.

#### E. Actions related to resource management and protection

- (1) Archeological surveys and permits involving only surface collection or small-scale test excavations.
- (2) Restoration of noncontroversial (based on internal scoping requirements in section 2.6) native species into suitable habitats within their historic range.
- (3) Removal of individual members of a non-threatened/endangered species or populations of pests and exotic plants that pose an imminent danger to visitors or an immediate threat to park resources.
- (4) Removal of non-historic materials and structures in order to restore natural conditions when the removal has no potential for environmental impacts, including impacts to cultural landscapes or archeological resources.
- (5) Development of standards for, and identification, nomination, certification, and determination of, eligibility of properties for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, the National Historic Landmark and National Natural Landmark Programs, and biosphere reserves.
- (6) Non-destructive data collection, inventory (including field, aerial, and satellite surveying and mapping), study, research, and monitoring activities (this is also a Departmental CE).
- (7) Designation of environmental study areas and research natural areas, including those closed temporarily or permanently to the public, unless the potential for environmental (including socioeconomic) impact exists.

# F. Actions related to grant programs

(1) Proposed actions essentially the same as those listed in paragraphs A–E above.

- (2) Grants for acquisition of areas that will continue in the same use or lower density use with no additional disturbance to the natural setting or type of use.
- (3) Grants for replacement or renovation of facilities at their same location without altering the kind and amount of recreational, historical, or cultural resources of the area or the integrity of the existing setting.
- (4) Grants for construction of facilities on lands acquired under a previous NPS or other federal grant, provided that the development is in accord with plans submitted with the acquisition grant, and that environmental documents have been completed on the impacts of the proposal funded by the original grant.
- (5) Grants for the construction of new facilities within an existing park or recreation area, provided that the facilities will not:
  - (a) conflict with adjacent ownerships or land use, or cause a nuisance to adjacent owners or occupants, such as would happen if use were extended beyond daylight hours.
  - (b) introduce motorized recreation vehicles, including off-road vehicles, personal water craft, and snowmobiles.
  - (c) introduce active recreation pursuits into a passive recreation area.
  - (d) increase public use or introduce non-compatible uses to the extent of compromising the nature and character of the property or causing physical damage to it.
  - (e) add or alter access to the park from the surrounding area.
- (6) Grants for the restoration, rehabilitation, stabilization, preservation, and reconstruction (or the authorization thereof) of properties listed on or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places, at their same location, and provided that such actions:
  - (a) will not alter the integrity of the property or its setting.
  - (b) will not increase public use of the area to the extent of compromising the nature and character of the property.
  - (c) will not cause a nuisance to adjacent property owners or occupants.

# 3.5 Exceptions to CEs

If the IDT or the NPS decision-maker determines that any of the following exceptions apply to a proposed action, it may not be categorically excluded, and you must prepare either an EA or an EIS. Items A through O are adapted from the list of Departmental exceptions (516 DM, 2, appendix 2). Items N through R are NPS additions. The exceptions apply if any proposed actions:

- have material adverse effects on public health or safety. A.
- В. have adverse effects on such unique geographic characteristics as historic or cultural resources; park, recreation, or refuge lands; wilderness areas; wild or scenic rivers; national natural landmarks; sole or principal drinking water aquifers; prime farmlands; wetlands; floodplains; or ecologically significant or critical areas.
- have highly controversial environmental effects. C.
- have highly uncertain and potentially significant environmental effects or involve unique or unknown environmental risks.
- establish a precedent for future action or represent a decision in principle about future actions with potentially significant environmental effects.
- are directly related to other actions with individually insignificant, but F. cumulatively significant, environmental effects.
- have adverse effects on properties listed or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places.
- have adverse effects on species listed or proposed to be listed on the List of Endangered or Threatened Species, or have adverse effects on designated Critical Habitat for these species.
- I. require compliance with Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management), Executive Order 11990 (Protection of Wetlands), or the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act.
- threaten to violate a federal, state, local, or tribal law or requirement J. imposed for the protection of the environment.
- K. involve unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources (NEPA sec. 102 (2) (E)).
- have a disproportionate, significant adverse effect on low-income or minority populations (EO 12898).
- M. restrict access to and ceremonial use of Indian sacred sites by Indian religious practitioners or adversely affect the physical integrity of such sacred sites (EO 13007).
- N. contribute to the introduction, continued existence, or spread of federally listed noxious weeds (Federal Noxious Weed Control Act).
- O. contribute to the introduction, continued existence, or spread of nonnative invasive species or actions that may promote the introduction, growth, or expansion of the range of non-native invasive species (EO 13112).

- P. require a permit from another agency to proceed, unless the agency from whom the permit is required agrees that a CE is appropriate, the action is described in section 3.3 or 3.4, and no exceptional circumstances in section 3.5 apply.
- Q. have the potential for significant impact as indicated by a federal, state, or local agency or Indian tribe.
- R. have the potential to be controversial because of disagreement over possible environemental effects.

# 3.6 Using the CE Lists

You should keep the following issues in mind when you are considering categorically excluding a proposed action:

- A. If two or more categories are required to cover elements of the proposed action, you should consider carefully whether the entire action may have the potential for environmental impact and be better analyzed in an EA or an EIS. To be excludable, the action should easily fit in one category and clearly have no potential for environmental impact.
- B. If an action is described on the list, but has the potential for measurable environmental impact, you must prepare an EA or an EIS.
- C. If an action is described on the list, but mitigation is required to avoid the potential for environmental impact, you should consider an EA or an EIS. Only minimal mitigation should be part of an action categorically excluded, and the effectiveness and enforcement of the mitigation must carry a high degree of certainty.
- D. If a local, state, or federal agency with jurisdiction by law over an affected resource believes the potential for measurable environmental impact exists for an action that a park initially intends to categorically exclude from further analysis, you must prepare an EA or an EIS.
- E. If the action involves "unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources (NEPA, sec 102 (E))," alternatives to the proposed action must be developed and studied. If an NPS action described on the list in sec. 3.4 does involve such conflicts, you must prepare an EA or an EIS.
- F. The definition of categorically excluded actions includes those actions that cumulatively do not have the potential for measurable impact on the human environment. If the action is a part of a broader action, or one in a series of similar or related actions, the broader policy, program, or proposal must be the subject of a NEPA analysis first. Elements of the action may subsequently be analyzed more specifically using the tiering approach.

- G. If a project requires surveys or permits under other laws, in particular the National Historic Preservation Act and the Endangered Species Act, it is not a categorical exclusion unless all appropriate agencies agree that a CE is appropriate.
- If you will be taking many actions throughout the years that have very little or no potential for environmental impact and would qualify as a CE, it may be a better and more efficient approach to address them programmatically (see sections 3.9 and 7.5 of this handbook).
- I. As a general rule, construction actions are not within the scope of categorical exclusions. However, maintenance activities may be included if listed in section 3.4. Generally, these are maintenance activities that are designed to preserve the integrity of an existing structure or facility. Maintenance activities do not include additions to structures or facilities, or changes in location or capacity.

#### 3.7 Public Involvement

No specific public involvement steps are required when you are categorically excluding an action from further NEPA analysis and documentation. However, CEQ requires agencies to always make a "diligent" effort to involve any interested and affected public that exist (1506.6). You should include an internal scoping step to brainstorm whether any interested or affected public exist, and discuss the best method to involve them if they do.

# 3.8 Administrative Process

(Also see section 3.2, Process to Follow)

The decision to categorically exclude an action from further NEPA analysis is documented using the CEF (see appendix 2). This form is signed by the park superintendent or his or her designee. You should attach the CEF to the ESF, and make sure both are available for public inspection upon request. The action may be implemented immediately upon approval and signature of the park superintendent or designee. Because no specific public involvement is required for CE, it is often difficult for those who may be interested to know what actions a park has taken. One way to comply with the diligence requirement (see above) is for parks to maintain a current list of categorically excluded actions and update it quarterly. This list could be sent to a mailing list of interested members of the public, or simply made available upon request.

Any relevant permit information or documentation of consultation with other agencies should be attached to your completed CEF and ESF and become a permanent part of the project files.

# 3.9 Consideration of Multiple Actions

Each year, parks undertake a variety of routine actions and activities that are similar in nature. For example, trails are cleared in the spring, fences are repaired, potholes are filled. These activities should be reviewed in conjunction with the park's budgetary process. Normally, budgets for these activities are developed for a given fiscal year, money is appropriated, and the work gets done. Park staff should consult with each other, develop a list of activities that would most likely be accomplished in the fiscal year, or by season, and consider covering these activities, if they meet the criteria established for a CE, in one CE document.

# 4.0 Environmental Impact Statements

- 4.1 Introduction
- 4.2 Criteria for Significant Impact
- 4.3 Ongoing or Continuing Action
- 4.4 Actions That Normally Require an EIS
- 4.5 EIS Format
- 4.6 The Final EIS
- 4.7 Supplements to Draft and Final EISs
- 4.8 Public Involvement Requirements
- 4.9 Administrative Process of Review of EISs
- 4.10 Terminating the EIS Process

## 4.1 Introduction

NEPA (sec. 102(2)(C)) requires you to prepare an EIS whenever your park proposes or approves an action whose impacts on the human environment may be significant. CEQ defines actions as "projects and programs entirely or partly financed, assisted, conducted, regulated, or approved by federal agencies; new or revised agency rules, regulations, plans, policies, or procedures; and legislative proposals." Federal approvals of permits for private applicants are also considered actions that trigger the need for NPS NEPA analysis (1508.18).

# 4.2 Criteria for Significant Impact

If something your park is proposing might have a significant impact on the human environment, you must prepare an EIS. It is important, then, to understand how the significance of an impact is gauged. Although significance may often be a subjective judgment, to the maximum extent possible it must be based on the scientific evidence and public input that NEPA provides. Section 4.2 (B) contains the CEQ criteria you should use in deciding whether an EIS may be required. CEQ requires you to evaluate the severity of impacts in several different contexts, if two or more apply.

#### A. Context

Evaluating impacts in particular contexts gives valuable comparative information. Context may be temporal (i.e., short-term impacts vs. long-term), but it is

# Are these special resources affected?

- Public safety or health.
- Wetlands, floodplains, or ecologically sensitive areas.
- Important scientific, cultural, or historic resources.
- Threatened or endangered species or their habitat.

# Is the proposal

- Likely to be highly controversial or its impact analysis highly debated?
- Likely to involve highly uncertain impacts or unique or unknown risks?
- Likely to pave the way for future actions?
- Part of a larger proposal?
- Likely to violate any law or requirement imposed to protect the environment?

**If so, consider** an EIS rather than an EA or a CE.

most often geographical. For instance, the temporary closure of a 1,000-acre recreation area may have only minor impacts on the nation's recreation users but severe impacts on local residents who depend on the area as the sole source of outdoor recreation for many miles around. Or, building 30 homes in Denver may not have a major impact, whereas building them in Denali National Park could.

#### B. Criteria

Your team or park decision-maker must consider the following criteria when determining whether an impact may be significant in helping to determine if an EIS is appropriate (1508.27):

- (1) Impacts that may have both beneficial and adverse aspects and which on balance may be beneficial, but that may still have significant adverse impacts which require analysis in an EIS.
- (2) The degree to which public health and safety are affected.
- (3) Any unique characteristics of the area (proximity to historic or cultural resources, wild and scenic rivers, ecologically critical areas, wetlands or floodplains, and so forth).
- (4) The degree to which impacts are likely to be highly controversial.
- (5) The degree to which the potential impacts are highly uncertain or involve unique or unknown risks.
- (6) Whether the action may establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects, or represents a decision in principle about a future consideration.
- (7) Whether the action is related to other actions that may have individual insignificant impacts but cumulatively significant effects. Significance cannot be avoided by terming an action temporary or breaking it down into small component parts.

- (8) The degree to which the action may adversely affect historic properties in or eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places, or other significant scientific, archeological, or cultural resources.
- (9) The degree to which an action may adversely affect an endangered or threatened species or its habitat.
- (10) Whether the action threatens a violation of federal, state, or local law or requirements imposed for the protection of the environment.

# 4.3 Ongoing or Continuing Action

CEQ defines federal actions subject to NEPA evaluation to include "continuing activities" (1508.18) in addition to new projects or programs. If your park is making an explicit or a tacit decision to continue with an activity that may have significant impacts to the environment, and either NEPA has never been done or an outdated or inadequate document was used in deciding to take the original action, you should initiate the NEPA process and prepare a document for public review. A change in an ongoing activity should be considered a new action, and the NEPA process should be followed.

# 4.4 Actions That Normally Require an EIS

You must prepare an EIS for the following proposals:

- A. Wild and Scenic Rivers proposals when any of the following conditions are met:
  - (1) Congress has authorized a study of a river segment for inclusion in the system (under sec. 5(a) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act) and one of the alternatives being considered is either of the following:

**...always prepare an EIS** for any NPS proposal that has the potential for significant impacts to the human environment.

- (a) direct federal management as a component of the National Park System or the National Wildlife Refuge System.
- (b) management by state and/or local government, in line with an active federal water resource development proposal, permit, license, or grant pending before a federal agency which, if constructed, would render some or all of the study segment ineligible for the national system.
- (2) The Secretary has designated a river segment (under sec. 2(a) (ii)) as part of an active water resource development proposal that, if constructed, would render some or all of the proposed segment ineligible for the national system.

In no case will an EIS be required for a river that has been determined ineligible for designation because it is not free-flowing or because it has no outstandingly remarkable values.

- B. Proposals for legislative action to make additions to the National Trails system if the proposed trail meets eligibility criteria, even if the trail is not ultimately recommended for designation by the Secretary.
- C. Special resource studies when the following conditions are met:
  - (1) The resource being studied meets the criteria for inclusion in the National Park System (i.e., it is nationally significant and is deemed feasible and suitable for inclusion in the system).
  - (2) One of the alternatives being considered is designation as a National Park System unit, even if that is ultimately not the recommendation of the Secretary.
- D. A GMP or its equivalent. GMPs may need to be amended for various reasons. Amendments should follow the same procedures in determining the appropriate NEPA pathway on a case-by-case basis.
- E. Wilderness proposals.
- F. Grants, including multi-year grants, whose size or scope will result in major natural or physical changes, including interrelated social and economic changes and residential and land use changes within the project area or its immediate environs.
- G. Parkwide oil and gas management plans.

In addition to the specific conditions listed, you must always prepare an EIS for any proposal that has the potential for significant impacts to the human environment. In rare circumstances, the Environmental Quality Division, through the Associate Director for Natural Resources Stewardship and Science, may grant an exception to the requirement that EISs be prepared for some of the above named actions on a case by case basis, when it is clear that site-specific data indicate that the potential for significant impact does not exist. This determination may only be made after public scoping, initial development of alternatives and impact analysis. In addition, the FONSI on such a document must be made available for public review for 30 days before the agency's final determination whether to prepare an EIS (Q37b).

#### 4.5 EIS Format

Unless there is a "compelling reason to do otherwise" (CEQ 1502.10), CEQ requires that you follow its format (laid out in this section) for all EISs. Variations from the CEQ format described in this section must first be approved by the Environmental Quality Division (EQD) and the Department's OEPC.

## A. Cover sheet (1502.10)

You must make sure the cover sheet does not exceed 1 page. It must include the following:

- (a) a list of responsible agencies including the lead agency and any cooperating agencies.
- (b) the title and location of the proposed action that is the subject of the statement.
- (c) the name, address, and telephone number of an NPS contact person.
- (d) designation of the statement as a draft, final, or supplement.
- (e) a one-paragraph abstract of the statement that identifies significant impacts and alternatives to the proposed action/proposal.
- (f) the date by which comments must be received.

## B. Summary (1502.12)

Each EIS must contain a summary that adequately and accurately summarizes the statement. You must stress the major conclusions, the areas of controversy (including issues raised by agencies and the public), and the issues to be resolved (including the choice among alternatives) in the summary. Normally, you should not allow the summary to exceed 15 pages.

#### C. Table of contents (1502.10)

You should make sure the table of contents is sufficiently detailed to allow the reader to quickly locate major subject matter in the EIS, particularly specific impact topics and alternatives analyzed in the document.

# D. Purpose and need for action (1502.13, DM, 4.9)

"Purpose and need for action" is usually the title of chapter 1 of an EIS, although "introduction" may be more appropriate. In this chapter, you must specify the underlying purpose and need to which your park is responding in its proposal (see section 2.2), and you should describe the issues identified by the IDT (see section 2.5). This chapter may introduce a number of factors, including economic or technical considerations, or service or departmental statutory, or legislative mandates. Take care to ensure that this is an objective presentation and not a justification of the proposal.

In the section of this chapter on issues (1500.4 (C), 1502.2 (b)), you should discuss important environmental issues and also dismiss unimportant issues. Important issues may be raised by the public, other agencies, or the IDT. You should include a corresponding impact section for all issues that the IDT retained for full analysis.

If the team found that some issues were not relevant to the scope of the document and decided to drop them from further analysis, this should be stated in the document. You may wish to do this in a paragraph or two at the end of the discussion of issues. You should also include a short statement on the reason the

issues were dropped. Supporting documentation on why an issue was analyzed or not analyzed must be included in the administrative record.

#### **E.** Alternatives (1502.14)

Chapter 2 of an EIS describes the proposal (can be general or specific as defined in section 2.1 of this handbook) and alternatives. It also includes a discussion of the range of reasonable alternatives and mitigation measures and a summary of impacts of each alternative. You must describe and evaluate the no action alternative, and all reasonable alternatives retained for analysis in comparative detail.

- 1. Introduction—Alternatives are different ways of meeting park goals or objectives. They are considered the most important section of an EIS. Because alternatives fulfill park objectives to a large degree, they are directly related to the purpose and need. Because they also reduce impacts to important resources, they also are tied to issues. In an EIS or an EA, the no action alternative should be described first as all other alternatives are then compared against changes in the environment from conditions described under the no action alternative projected into the future.
- 2. Range of alternatives (see section 2.7 (A) for more information)—An EIS should include a discussion at the beginning of the alternatives chapter that describes how the IDT arrived at the final range of reasonable alternatives. This discussion should include factors such as agency or environmental constraints; references to policy in planning documents, legislation, or elsewhere; site characteristics; and factors such as sensitive environmental resources that narrowed the range of possibilities. Making reference to purpose (i.e., goals and objectives) and need may be appropriate.
- 3. Reasonable alternatives—CEQ defines reasonable alternatives as those that are technically and economically feasible and that show evidence of common sense (Q2). They also meet project objectives, resolve need, and alleviate potentially significant impacts to important resources. An alternative is not automatically rendered unreasonable if it requires the amending of a park plan or policy; causes a potential conflict with local, state, or federal law; or lies outside the scope of what Congress has approved or funded or outside the legal jurisdiction of the NPS.

Another point to consider when identifying reasonable alternatives is how they meet the policies set forth in section 101 of NEPA (see section 2.7(D) of this handbook).

**4. Proposed action**—CEQ uses the term "proposal" synonymously with proposed action (1508.23). As described in section 2.3 of this handbook, a proposal may be a specific method of accomplishing objectives or fulfilling need, or it may be a general restatement of NPS's purpose in taking action.

- 5. No action (see section 2.7(C) for more information on no action)—The no action alternative must be fully analyzed in all EAs and EISs, even if another law prohibits the adoption of the no action alternative or the park is under legislative or other command to act. The no action alternative is usually a viable alternative, but even when it is not, it sets a baseline for comparing the impacts of existing actions with those proposed.
- 6. Alternatives eliminated from further study—Following the description of alternatives retained for analysis, you should describe alternatives considered but eliminated from further study. This should be limited to those alternatives initially thought to be viable or suggested by the public, but later dismissed. Briefly state in this section the reasons they have been eliminated, and fully document supporting reasons in the administrative record. Reasons to eliminate alternatives include:
  - (a) technical or economic infeasibility.
  - (b) inability to meet project objectives or resolve need.
  - (c) duplication with other, less environmentally damaging or less expensive alternatives.
  - (d) conflict with an up-to-date and valid park plan, statement of purpose and significance, or other policy (see section 7.3 of this handbook), such that a major change in the plan or policy would be needed to implement.
  - (e) too great an environmental impact.
- 7. Cost—If a cost-benefit analysis has been developed and is important to the decision-maker or the public in choosing between alternatives, either the entire analysis should be appended to the draft EIS or it should be summarized and incorporated by reference into the body of the EIS (1502.23). It is appropriate to include costs of each alternative in the alternatives chapter.
- **8. Preferred alternative**—The preferred alternative is the agency-preferred course of action at the time a draft EIS or a public review EA is released.

Unless your decision-maker has no preference, the preferred alternative must be identified in the draft EIS "so that agencies and the public can understand the lead agency's orientation" (1502.14 (e), Q4a). You may identify the preferred alternative in an explanatory cover letter to the draft EIS or in the text of the EIS. All final EISs must identify the preferred alternative. Therefore, if no preferred alternative exists at the time the draft EIS is released, you must identify it in the final EIS. For all externally initiated (i.e., non-NPS) proposals, you must identify the NPS-preferred alternative in the draft (and final) EIS (516 DM, 4.10 (2)).

It is important to remember that all alternatives in an EIS must be treated with the same level of detail in the analysis of impacts. (1502.14(b), Q5b).

- **9. Environmentally preferred alternative**—You must identify in a draft EIS and EA what the environmentally preferred alternative is so that the public can have the opportunity to comment on it (see section 2.7 (D)).
- **10. Summaries**—You should summarize the following in the alternatives chapter:
  - (a) the degree to which each alternative meets purpose, need, and objectives
  - (b) the important features of each alternative.
  - (c) the impacts of each alternative, including a determination of potential improvement to park resources (see DO-55).
  - (d) how each alternative achieves requirements of sections 101 and 102(1) of NEPA, including the environmentally preferred alternative, and any potential conflicts between each alternative and other environmental laws and policies.

Items (c) and (d) are mandatory (1502.14). The summary usually includes a matrix for easy comparison of alternatives. Although a chart is not required, the comparison must "sharply define" differences between alternatives (1502.14).

It is helpful to readers if the discussion of issues dismissed and issues kept for further analysis, and the corresponding impact topics, precede the summary of impacts in the alternatives chapter.

#### F. Affected environment

CEQ requires that NEPA documents "succinctly describe the environment of the area(s) to be affected or created by alternatives under consideration (1502.15)." This description forms chapter 3 of an EIS. Although you should present enough information to give the reader a general understanding of the environment affected, the length of this chapter should not normally exceed 20 percent of the total EIS.

Describe only those resources that may experience or cause impact or be affected if the proposal or alternatives are implemented. If specific resources would not be affected (e.g., threatened and endangered species) or impacts would be negligible (impact is at a low level of detection), you should list them in the issues discussion as "issues and impact topics considered but dismissed." You should keep data and analyses in this section commensurate with the intensity, context, and duration of the impact.

1. Incorporation by reference—An EIS is to be analytic rather than encyclopedic. You should either append, summarize, or incorporate by reference background material, highly technical material, and less important

descriptive information. NPS can incorporate many different kinds of material by reference, and this should be done when "the effect will be to cut down on bulk without impeding agency and public review of the action" (1502.21). Besides written material of all kinds, you can refer in an EIS (or an EA) to conversations, conference proceedings, taped hearings or workshops, and so forth. If you decide to incorporate by reference, you must provide a summary of the relevant text in the NEPA document, and the resource itself must be "reasonably available for inspection by potentially interested persons within the time allowed for comment" on the draft EIS (or EA).

Materials that should be incorporated by reference (and available as part of the project file) include other NEPA documents, lists of common plants and animals, historic resource studies, detailed air and water quality data and standards, separate scientific studies, compilations of demographic and socioeconomic data, and published works.

#### **2. Mandatory topics**—You must consider all of the following in an EIS:

- (a) possible conflicts between the proposal and land use plans, policies, or controls for the area concerned (including local, state, or Indian tribe) (1502.16, 1506.2(d)), and the extent to which your park will reconcile the conflict.
- (b) energy requirements and conservation potential (1502.16).
- (c) natural or depletable resource requirements and conservation potential (1502.16).
- (d) urban quality, historic and cultural resources, and design of the built environment (1502.16).
- (e) socially or economically disadvantaged populations (see Environmental Justice EO 12898 for more information).
- (f) wetlands and floodplains (100-year, and 500-year when critical actions as defined in the NPS floodplain management guides are involved) (1508.27).
- (g) prime and unique agricultural lands (1508.27).
- (h) endangered or threatened plants and animals and their habitats (including those proposed for listing, or on state lists) (1508.27).
- (i) important scientific, archeological, and other cultural resources, including historic properties listed or eligible for the National Register of Historic Places (1508.27).
- (j) ecologically critical areas, Wild and Scenic Rivers, or other unique natural resources (1508.27).
- (k) public health and safety (1508.27).

- (l) sacred sites (EO 13007).
- (m) Indian Trust resources (ECM95-2).

If these are irrelevant issues in your EIS, include them in the discussion of issues and impact topics dropped from the analysis.

#### G. Impacts

Although alternatives are important, they are useless unless you clearly and correctly assess their impacts in an EIS or an EA. The prediction of impacts of each alternative is the basis of chapter 4 of an EIS.

This discussion must be accurate and focused. If it rambles on about non-issues, or if the data are wrong or mislead the reader, it wastes the reader's time and the park's money. The impacts discussion is not just a reiteration of the proposal or actions, but rather a discussion of the impact should the proposal and alternatives be implemented. For instance, instead of "there will be a bridge from A to B," the discussion will focus on "the impact of building a bridge from A to B" on each resource identified as an issue and impact topic.

Whereas issues describe the impact relationship between actions and resources, impact analysis predicts the magnitude of that relationship. For instance, "building a bridge will disrupt riverbank soils and make the water muddy" is an issue. "Suspended solids in the river will increase from its present 10–15 ppm to 1000 ppm for 2–3 weeks during construction" is the kind of information that belongs in the impact chapter.

CEQ requires that the impact analysis:

- (a) be concise, clear, and to the point (1500.2 (b)).
- (b) emphasize real environmental issues (1500.2 (b)).
- (c) provide reasonable alternatives to the proposed action (or proposal, whether generally or specifically described) that minimize adverse impacts (1500.2 (d)).
- (d) be of high quality, using accurate scientific analyses (1500.1 (b)).
- (e) be scrutinized by other agencies and the public (1500.1 (b)).
- (f) include direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts (1502.16).

You must analyze both beneficial and adverse impacts for the resource in question.

1. **Displaying impact information**—The role of NPS NEPA documents is to fairly, objectively, and candidly display the projected impacts of each alternative. If you can meaningfully and accurately quantify the magnitude of this impact, this is the best way to present the information. If you have little confidence in an absolute number, you may want to use a range of reasonable impacts; rather than conveying false confidence, docu-

## You should give

the public and the decisionmaker a true picture of how well you can predict an impact. ments should give the decision-maker and the public a true picture of how well you can predict an impact. You must support qualitative and quantitative impact analyses with the scientific literature and/or other experts' testimony. Such references should be cited liberally in the impact section. CEQ requires that impacts be quantified as much as possible and described in terms of their context,

duration, and intensity (see below).

If impacts to a particular resource for one alternative are the same as for another alternative, making reference to that section in the EIS is preferable to repeating the information. You may briefly summarize information in the referenced section to help readers track impacts.

- 2. Context—You should analyze impacts in several contexts, if the severity varies geographically, over time, or in some other way (CEQ (1508.27 (a))). See section 4.2(a) for more information on context.
- **3.** Incomplete or unavailable information—CEQ (1502.22) requires agencies to obtain information if it is "relevant to reasonably foreseeable significant adverse impacts," if it is "essential to a reasoned choice among alternatives," and if "the overall costs of obtaining it are not exorbitant." The costs are measured not only in money, but also in time (to complete

**EISs and EAs** should routinely inform the public when data are lacking, models are errorprone, or insufficient research or experience is available for predicting impacts accurately.

a research study or survey, for instance). If such information is unavailable or if the costs of obtaining it are exorbitant, an EIS must include statements to let the public know this and its effect on NPS's ability to predict impacts to the particular resource. In addition, the proposal may need to be amended or adjusted to ensure that action is not initiated without proper resource information. Existing credible scientific evidence should then be summarized and the impact predicted based on this evidence. CEQ says

that reasonably foreseeable impacts include those that have catastrophic consequences, even if their probability of occurrence is low (1502.22, modified in 1986). Also see Director Order 12, Section IV, regarding use of scientific data and information in making resource decisions.

Although the CEQ case applies only when the information is "essential" and the impacts significant, EISs and EAs should routinely inform the public when data are lacking, models are error-prone, or insufficient research or experience is available for predicting impacts accurately.

**4. Impact indicators**—The measurement of impact must be accurate, scientifically credible, and understandable to a lay readership. This is why it

is helpful to include a methodology section preceding the impact analysis for each topic. That section can lay out the criteria or thresholds used to draw a conclusion on the context, intensity, and duration of impact. Defining thresholds and impact indicators requires consultation with resource experts, literature searches in some cases, and best professional judgment. In the case of the suspended solids in the river, an impact topic might be the effect of the muddy water on visitor experience. This impact is more difficult to measure than turbidity itself, but not impossible. One indicator might be the number of visitors passing through the area in the context of the rest of the park—for instance, "Fewer than 2% of the total visitors to the park would be able to see the construction on the river."

**Impact thresholds**—Impacts must be quantified as much as possible and interpreted in terms of their context, duration, and intensity. For instance, in the example in section 4.5 (g), the impact is quantified as "suspended solids in the river would increase from its present 10–15 ppm to 1000 ppm for 2-3 weeks during construction." This is adequate for intensity and duration. However, the reader needs a context to understand the full extent and relative importance of the impact. This can be provided by comparing the impact to a relevant standard, such as the state's water quality standards for suspended solids. The methodology section would define the threshold as "any increases in suspended solids that violate the state's water quality standard for this parameter would be considered a 'major' impact." The analysis would follow with "the increase in suspended solids from 10-15 ppm to 1000 ppm is well below the state's water quality standard for this river (3000 ppm)." The analyst should also interpret the quantitative information for a lay audience. In this example, the specialist might conclude, "Because the impact would last only 2–3 weeks and be well below the standard, it would be a minor, short-term adverse impact to water quality."

Notice that criteria were cited (state standards) in the determination of the intensity (in this case, minor) of the impact. Criteria, or thresholds, help to establish the sideboards for understanding the severity and magnitude of the impact. If the analysis simply stated that the suspended solids would increase from 10–15 ppm to 1000 ppm for 2–3 weeks, the public and the decision-maker would be unable to fully understand the extent of the impact.

6. Mitigation—In an EIS, you must develop and analyze mitigation "even for impacts that by themselves would not be considered significant" (Q19a). All "relevant, reasonable mitigation measures that could improve the project are to be identified," even if they are outside the jurisdiction of the agency (Q19b). You must also analyze the effectiveness of mitigation measures proposed, and the impacts if the project were to proceed without mitigation. For instance, it should be clear whether mitigation is integral to the project and therefore included as part of the alternative, or dependent on factors such as funding or permission from another agency.

CEQ (1508.20) defines mitigation measures as:

- (a) avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action.
- (b) minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its implementation.
- (c) rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the affected environment.
- (d) reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation and maintenance operations during the life of the action.
- (e) compensating for the impact by replacing or providing substitute resources or environments.
- 7. **Organizing the impact chapter**—The impact section can be organized by alternative, with impact topics as subheadings, or by impact topic, with alternatives as subheadings.
  - (a) Methodology section—You should begin the discussion of impacts by describing methods used to predict impact. As indicated above, if the methods used are the best available, but they require many assumptions that may not be correct or that have been criticized by other professionals, these assumptions should be explained in the methodology section.

This section is also a good place to define or explain how data were interpreted. In other words, you should define terms such as "minor" or "major" for a particular impact topic. If relevant, explain the reasoning behind this interpretation—why, say, 100 ppm is a "major" impact but 50 ppm is a "minor" impact (i.e., your methodology included relevant state water quality standards). This is a discussion of thresholds of impact.

- **(b) Regulations and policies section**—Following the methodology section, you may include a separate section that details relevant laws, regulations, and/or park or other policies for each impact topic. This section may help clarify why a particular impact topic is important to discuss, or help support the reasoning for the impact threshold discussion in the methodology section. This section may be placed in the alternatives or purpose and need chapter if more appropriate.
- (c) Cumulative impact section—CEQ requires the analysis of cumulative impacts to each resource and for each alternative. This discussion should be identified separately from, but follow the same order as the discussion of, direct or indirect impacts. It should precede the conclusions section (see 6 (d) below).

Cumulative impact information may be less exact than information on direct and indirect impacts of the alternatives, but a good faith effort to accurately and completely assess major sources of impact and their contribution to resources affected by the proposal and alternatives should be part of any EIS or EA. For plans or other larger-scope federal actions, the analysis of cumulative effect may be a major focus of the NEPA document requiring regional resource data by which to analyze impacts.

- (d) Conclusions—At the end of the discussion of impacts of each alternative on each impact topic (e.g., resource), a brief "conclusions" section should summarize all major findings, including whether or not an impairment of resources or values is likely or would occur. It should focus on those impacts that would be major, but include a statement that resources examined would experience less severe impacts as well (if this is true). The conclusions section should not contain information that is not already in the impact section.
- 8. Sustainability and long-term management—Considerations of long-

term impact and the effect of foreclosing future options should pervade any EIS or EA, because these are ideas that Congress put forward as the purpose of both NEPA (sec. 101 (b)), and the NPS Organic Act. However, for each alternative no action, you must also include a

"Sustainable development is that which meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs."

World Commission on Environment and Development

separate section that focuses on the following required discussions:

- (a) The relationship between local short-term uses of the environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity (Sec. 102 (c) (iv))—In other words, are any long-term management possibilities, or the productivity of park resources, being traded for the immediate use of land? Will taking action in this case in combination with other actions have an impact on a particular ecosystem? Is the action being taken something that will affect future generations—is it a sustainable action that can continue over the long term without environmental problems?
- (b) Any irreversible or irretrievable commitments of resources that would be involved if the alternative were implemented (sec. 102(c)(v))—Irreversible impacts are those effects that cannot be changed over the long term or are permanent. An effect to a resource is irreversible if it (the resource) cannot be reclaimed, restored, or otherwise returned to its condition before the disturbance. For example, a proposal to restore a cultural feature (building) involving construction adjacent to habitat for nesting birds may have irreversible impacts on the birds if they abandon the nests and

do not return to nest. An irretrievable commitment of resources refers to the effects to resources that, once gone, cannot be replaced. In this construction example, if the park chose to avoid potential irreversible impacts to the birds, and deterioration of the building continued, the loss of the building's cultural significance and integrity may not be returned or retrieved in the future. It is important to not worry about the semantics of these terms and instead be thorough in the disclosure to the public of any long-term, permanent effects to park resources.

(c) Any adverse impacts that could not be avoided if the action were implemented (sec. 101(c) (ii))—If the action will result in impacts that cannot be fully mitigated or avoided, you should describe these impacts in this section. You should focus this section on "real" environmental issues, or those that would involve major impacts if action were taken.

#### H. Consultation and coordination

This section should include a brief history of public involvement, a list of preparers and their expertise, and a list of recipients of the EIS. If it is the final EIS, it must include a response to comments section.

- 1. **History of public involvement**—In this section you should briefly:
  - (a) summarize important consultations that occurred during the evolution of the proposal, the alternatives, and the EIS.
  - (b) describe any public scoping sessions or other public involvement efforts.
  - (c) include names of any federal, state, or local agencies; major organizations; or experts consulted.
  - (d) identify environmental issues or conflicts discussed during consultation that remain.
  - (e) include a brief summary of major issues raised during scoping.
  - (f) describe any relevant existing or proposed cooperative agency mechanisms, or consultation undertaken in compliance with other laws or regulations. (Memoranda of agreement, memoranda of understanding, formal agreements, major cooperative agreements, or documentation indicating final compliance with applicable laws or regulations, such as comments from the state historic preservation office, should be appendixes to the EIS or readily available for public inspection.)
  - (g) summarize steps taken to identify and involve low-income and minority communities that would be affected by the proposal and alternatives.

- 2. List of preparers—The EIS must include a list of persons primarily responsible for preparing the document or "significant background papers" (1502.17). You should identify people responsible for preparing a particular section and include the qualifications of the preparers—their expertise, experience, and professional disciplines. Normally the list will be no longer than 2 pages.
- 3. List of recipients—You should include a list of all agencies, organizations, and people to whom copies will be sent. The list should be organized alphabetically under "federal agencies," "state and local agencies," "Indian tribes," "organizations," and "individuals." If the list of individuals is longer than 3 pages, it may be placed in the project file instead of the EIS, with a notation in the EIS that the complete list is available from the issuing office. In the final EIS, an updated list of recipients is provided as necessary to indicate who will be receiving the final EIS.
- **4. Response to comments**—See section 4.6, "Final EIS," below.

#### I. References

The last section of the EIS is dedicated to references, and it should include a bibliography, glossary, index of key words, and appendixes.

- 1. **Bibliography**—You should include a list of all references cited in the EIS including written material and personal communications.
- 2. Glossary—Define in a glossary any technical or other terms not understandable to an average lay reader. Be sure to define them in plain language. If agency or other acronyms are used in the EIS, define them either in the glossary or in a separate list of acronyms.
- **3. Index of key words**—You should include an index that contains (in alphabetical order) enough key words from the EIS to allow the reader to find the information. The entries should relate to the subject matter of the text and should not repeat the general topic headings of the table of contents.
- 4. Appendixes (1502.18)—Appendixes are for amplification or support of critical analyses in the EIS. They are not a data bank or library for total reference support. They should contain only major substantiating data, essential relevant descriptions of environmental components, important professional reports, and copies of major legislative and executive documents, agency agreements, or other information necessary for a complete use of the EIS for analytical/decision-making purposes. If the audience reading the EIS is not likely to be interested in the supporting material, consider keeping a copy of it in the file and readily available if requested rather than sending it out as an appendix.

#### 4.6 The Final EIS

Following public review of the draft EIS (see section 4.8 for more information), the office issuing the EIS must finalize the document (unless a decision is made to terminate the EIS, see section 4.10). The final EIS is to be a thorough and correct documentation of the analysis completed by the NPS IDT, with all issues explained or resolved.

#### A. Substantive comments

You are required to respond to all substantive written and oral comments raised by the public or by agencies as part of finalizing the EIS, and to make every reasonable attempt to consider the issues or alternatives raised.

Substantive comments are defined as those that do one or more of the following:

- (a) question, with reasonable basis, the accuracy of information in the EIS.
- (b) question, with reasonable basis, the adequacy of environmental analysis.
- (c) present reasonable alternatives other than those presented in the EIS.
- (d) cause changes or revisions in the proposal.

In other words, they raise, debate, or question a point of fact or policy. Comments in favor of or against the proposed action or alternatives, or comments that only agree or disagree with NPS policy, are not considered substantive.

## B. Response options

CEQ (1503.4) recognizes several options for responding to comments, including:

- (a) modifying the alternatives as requested.
- (b) developing and evaluating suggested alternatives.
- (c) supplementing, improving, or modifying the analysis.
- (d) making factual corrections.
- (e) explaining why the comments do not warrant further agency response, citing sources, authorities, or reasons that support the agency's position.

**Format of responses**—Responses to public or agency substantive comments that add clarifying or new information should be made in text wherever possible, rather than as lengthy responses to individual comments in a separate section (Q29a).

However, because members of the public or agencies may wish to know how NPS responded to their comment, a short response to each substantive comment, and a section or page citation where the change was made, may be appropriate as well. It is particularly important **for the public and agencies** to be able to track NPS responses, and either a subject or author index or page/section citation or a direct and complete response to agency or tribe comments is required. You may also choose to summarize similar comments and respond to them once, or use a

side-by-side comment-and-response format. In any of these formats, you may refer commentors to other responses or summarize similar comments and respond only once.

You are required to reprint in full any federal, state, or local agency or tribal letters. All public substantive letters must also be reprinted in a final EIS; however, if you have received an exceptionally voluminous number, these comments may be summarized. If you choose to, you may reprint all comment letters in full as part of the final EIS. Reprinted letters should appear in the "consultation and coordination" chapter, or if necessary, in a separate volume of the final EIS.

## C. Cooperating agency comments

When a cooperating agency comments on an NPS document, or when NPS is a cooperating agency on another project, it must (1503.3):

- (a) describe alternative methods for analyzing impacts if it criticizes methodology in the EIS; and
- (b) specify mitigation measures it finds acceptable if it criticizes the level of impact.

#### D. Abbreviated final EIS

If all comments on a draft EIS require only minor responses, you may choose to prepare an errata sheet containing the responses and attach it to the draft (1503.4 (c)) as a final EIS. This is referred to as the "abbreviated" final EIS. Minor is defined as making factual corrections, or explaining why comments do not warrant further agency response.

In deciding whether an abbreviated EIS is appropriate, you should also consider whether the project is controversial or is of national interest, the number of substantive comments received, and the scope of the project. As a general rule, a full final EIS is preferable for NPS documents. Because a draft EIS is often required to understand changes in an abbreviated EIS, send the appropriate number of draft EISs with the abbreviated final EISs to EPA when filing the final.

An abbreviated final EIS must contain a cover sheet, a foreword sheet that explains the document (this must be combined with the draft EIS to be complete), the errata sheets, any responses to comments, and copies of substantive and agency comment letters. You must consult with OEPC through EQD before you prepare an abbreviated final EIS, unless this authority has been delegated.

# E. Changes in the selected alternative

If an NPS decision-maker chooses to modify one of the alternatives after the final EIS has been released and ultimately selects it for implementation, additional analysis is required unless the alternative will have no additional impacts on the human environment or will have impacts that are different from those stated in the EIS. The analysis of this new alternative will usually take the form of a supplement to the EIS (see section 4.7).

# 4.7 Supplements to Draft and Final EISs

When substantial new information is discovered or substantial changes with environmental ramifications are made to the proposal and alternatives, you should prepare a supplement to the EIS. Either a draft or a final EIS may be supplemented. Supplements may be prepared on previous final EISs if they still contain information that is 80 to 90 percent correct but require changes and updating on the remaining 10 to 20 percent. They may also be prepared on draft EISs where agency or public comments have raised substantial new issues that require full-blown analysis and many pages to address fully. Also, as stated above, if a decision-maker modifies an alternative after the EIS has been released as a final document, a supplement is required if the changes result in impacts not analyzed in the EIS.

You must circulate a supplement in the same manner as a draft or final EIS. If there is good reason to believe the interested and affected public will have a copy of the draft or final, you need only circulate the supplement. However, if the supplement has been prepared on an older EIS, or if there is reason to believe the public will not have the entire EIS, both the supplement and the EIS itself must be circulated. It should be made clear to the public whether the entire EIS and supplement are open to comment, or whether the supplement only is the subject of public scrutiny. If the EIS is older (2–3 years in most cases), the entire EIS and supplement should be available for public inspection and comment. You should consider a longer comment period for the supplement if the public needs to request the previously prepared EISs. If the EIS is seriously outdated, you should revise and update the entire document, and release it as a new draft, rather than attempting to supplement the EIS.

# 4.8 Public Involvement Requirements

This section describes the minimum NPS public involvement requirements for an EIS. However, you are encouraged to be "diligent" and creative in your efforts to involve the public in your NEPA procedures and resource planning. Ways of involving the public include issuing quarterly newsletters to update the public on

**Be diligent** and creative in your efforts to involve the public in your NEPA procedures and resource planning.

anticipated park actions and opportunities for involvement, using the Internet to facilitate the review of documents or have a dialogue with a commentor, and setting aside handouts or information for park visitors to keep them informed of planning efforts or chances to comment. Park staff often use park friends' groups to keep the public involved in decision-making that may have environmental consequences.

#### A. Notice of intent

CEQ (1508.22) specifies that a notice of intent (NOI) to prepare an EIS must be placed in the *Federal Register*. The notice must:

- (a) describe the proposed action and alternatives, if any, developed to date.
- (b) describe the intended scoping process and tell when and where any scoping meetings might be held.
- (c) give the name and address of an NPS contact.
- (d) state whether the proposed EIS is delegated or non-delegated (see 516 DM, 6.3(b), and ESM95–2), unless you submit a memo to OEPC giving NPS's position at the same time the NOI is issued.

Scoping that has been conducted on an EA which then leads to an EIS does not usually substitute for the official required scoping of the EIS. However, if you stated in the public notice for scoping on the EA that an EIS might be prepared, and the NOI for the EIS indicates that comments on the scope of the alternative and impacts will continue to be considered, scoping for the EA may substitute for additional scoping of the EIS (Q13).

The NOI must include a statement advising the public that individual names and addresses may be included as part of the public record.

## B. Scoping

Scoping is an early and open process to determine the scope of environmental issues and alternatives to be addressed in an EIS. You should conduct both internal scoping (see section 2.6) with appropriate NPS staff (including the IDT) and external scoping with the interested and affected public.

Scoping is done to:

- (a) determine important issues.
- (b) eliminate issues that are not important or relevant.
- (c) divide up assignments.
- (d) identify relationships to other planning efforts or documents.
- (e) define a time schedule of document preparation and decision-making.
- (f) "size the analysis box," which includes defining purpose and need, agency objectives and constraints, and the range of alternatives.
  - 1. External scoping—The public plays an integral role in scoping, and external, or public, scoping is required for any EIS. Scoping is a process, not an event or a single meeting. Parks and other issuing offices are encouraged to use public scoping sessions as well as other means to gather early input on EISs. Examples are direct mailings to park visitors, interested organizations, or park neighbors. These letters should include a project description, a map (if relevant), a description of alternatives and issues to date, a request for any additional issues or alternatives, and the commentor's rationale for suggesting they be analyzed. Newsletters, ads in local or national

media, open houses, or literature available for park visitors are also means of gathering early public input.

- **2. Scoping with agencies**—Scoping with interested federal, state, and local agencies and Indian tribes should be part of the internal scoping process (see section 2.6 and section 2.13 on cooperating agencies).
  - (a) **Historic preservation officers**—You should invite the early participation of the state or tribal historic preservation officer by letter when historic properties are associated with any NPS alternative under consideration in an EA or an EIS.
  - (b) Other agencies—Any interested agency, or any agency with jurisdiction by law or expertise, must be contacted to obtain early input and should be solicited to be cooperating agencies. This could include federal, state, local or tribal agencies or units of government. If the agency has jurisdiction by law, it must be contacted in writing. If not, it can be involved less formally.
  - (c) Indian tribes—Early in the scoping of an EIS, the involved decision-maker and members of the IDT should identify potential American Indian issues and the likelihood of tribal/state agency formal interests in NPS proposed actions. Any affected tribes must be invited to scoping meetings and provided with review copies of documents.

## C. Draft EIS notice of availability/filing with EPA (see ECM95–3)

NPS requires that draft EISs be available for public review for a minimum of 60 calendar days from the day the EPA Notice of Availability (NOA) is published in the *Federal Register* (1506.10). CEQ also requires that you file draft (and final) EISs with EPA (1506.9).

After the draft or final EIS is filed, EPA publishes a NOA in the *Federal Register* to inform the public that a draft or final EIS is ready for public review. In addition, you are required to file an NOA with the *Federal Register* at the same time you send the appropriate number of copies of the EIS to EPA. The publication of the EPA NOA in the *Federal Register* (and *not* the NPS notice) serves as the beginning of the 60-day public review period on the draft (and a 30-day waiting period before the record of decision is signed on the final).

The draft or final EIS must have been transmitted to all appropriate agencies, it must be available to the general public, and the NPS NOA must have been filed with the *Federal Register* before copies of the EIS are filed with the EPA.

# D. Recipients of draft EIS

You must send a copy of the draft EIS to:

- (a) all federal agencies that have jurisdiction by law or special expertise, and all appropriate federal, state, or local agencies or Indian tribes.
- (b) any interested or affected individuals or organizations.

(c) anyone who requests a copy.

It is acceptable to send an electronic copy or make an electronic copy available if the person requesting has access to such a copy. After all printed copies have been distributed, persons requesting the EIS should be directed to the nearest library or government office that has a record copy.

For the other departmental requirements for distribution that you must follow, see Procedures for Processing NPS Draft and Final EIS in the field guide.

#### E. Timelines for review of draft EIS

NPS provides a 60-day period for review of its draft EISs, beginning on the date when the EPA publishes its notice of availability in the *Federal Register*. Park offices are encouraged to take late comments if possible. The review period can be extended at the discretion of the responsible federal official with appropriate notification of the EPA (1506.10). The decision may be based on some or all of the following considerations:

- 1. Will the extension cause undue delays in projects with life or safety issues?
- 2. Will granting the extension jeopardize the overall public participation effort?
- 3. Will granting the extension jeopardize decisions that must be made immediately?
- 4. Will the extension adversely affect natural, cultural, or even funding resources?

You may also wish to collect comments that arrive a few days after the review period has ended without formally extending the period.

# F. Public meeting/hearing

You may provide an opportunity for oral input on a draft EIS. If you choose to do this, the meeting/hearing should take place no sooner than 30 days from the time EPA's notice of availability is published. Under 1506.6, you are required to hold a public input session if:

- (a) substantial environmental controversy over the proposed action or substantial interest in holding the session exists.
- (b) another agency with jurisdiction over the action has requested a session and has provided supporting reasons for its request.

The format may be a "workshop," "meeting," "hearing," or other option, but attendees must be allowed to express reasonable substantive concerns with the draft EIS. Speakers may be limited to a certain number of minutes to ensure that all who wish to speak are heard in a reasonable amount of time. Attendees should be reminded that the purpose of the session is to collect input on the adequacy of the EIS and not to express preferences for or against the proposal. NPS may pro-

vide an opportunity for attendees to declare their support or opposition in writing at the public input session, or simply encourage participants to write during the remaining comment-and-review period.

The meeting should be advertised by a reliable method such as a purchased ad, direct mail, Internet electronic mail, notices posted in local gathering spots, or community or other organizations spreading the word. Press releases are published or aired at the discretion of the media, and are not considered as reliable or effective as an advertisement.

#### G. Final EIS NOA/filing with EPA

When you have adequately responded to all comments received during the 60-day review and are ready to release the final EIS, you must file the final EIS with EPA and send an NOA to the *Federal Register*. As with the filing requirements for a draft EIS (see 4.8(C)), EPA will publish a separate NOA. Your park must wait at least 30 days from the time EPA publishes the NOA before the park signs a record of decision. When a summary of the ROD, or the entire record, is published in the *Federal Register*, your park may begin to implement the selected alternative or approved plan.

## H. Recipients of final EIS

You should send a full final EIS to:

- (a) any individual or organization that has made a substantive comment.
- (b) all agencies or tribes that have commented.
- (c) anyone who requests it.

It is acceptable to send an electronic copy or make an electronic copy available if the person requesting has access to such a copy. A summary of the final EIS may be sent to all others, including those who received a full draft EIS but did not comment. After all printed copies have been distributed, those requesting the EIS should be directed to the nearest library or government office that has a record copy.

# 4.9 Administrative Process of Review of EISs

The review, distribution, and approval of EISs and their RODs is handled by the Regional Director, unless the proposal is a Secretarial proposal (such as a proposed addition to the National Wild and Scenic Rivers system or the Wilderness System). If a Secretarial proposal is involved, the Secretary or his or her designee handles review and processing (see section 6.2).

# 4.10 Terminating the EIS Process

Terminating the EIS process, for purposes of this section, occurs when the preparation of either a draft or a final EIS is stopped. If appropriate (i.e., there is no potential for significant environmental effects), an EA and a FONSI may be issued instead of a draft EIS to satisfy NEPA requirements. Termination may be done

without consultation outside NPS following publication of the NOI and before public distribution of the draft EIS. If the draft EIS has been released, NPS should normally proceed to follow the EIS process and respond to comments in a final, unless the proposal is abandoned.

Before a GMP EIS can be terminated, you must obtain the approval of the EQD in Washington. Send enough information to EQD so that the division can reasonably determine whether the implementation of any of the alternatives considered in the GMP/EIS meets the criteria for adequate coverage in an environmental assessment (an in-house draft or its equivalent) (see section 4.4 on actions that normally require an EIS).

If an EIS is terminated, the Regional Director or another responsible NPS official must prepare a *Federal Register* notice announcing the termination. The notice should include a brief description of the proposal, a reference to the earlier *Federal Register* NOI, NEPA analysis completed to date, and the reason for terminating the EIS. If the reason for terminating the EIS is the abandonment of the proposal, the *Federal Register* notice should indicate that the NEPA process will be reinitiated if the proposal is revived at a future date.

If an EA and a FONSI are subsequently prepared and substituted for what was originally envisioned to be a draft EIS, the FONSI must be made available for 30 days' public review before the action may be implemented. (The EA would also be available for its normal 30-day public review before you prepare a FONSI.)

NPS normally should take action to cancel an EIS after the draft EIS has been out for three years without being published in final form.

# 5.0 Environmental Assessments

- 5.1 Introduction
- 5.2 When to Prepare an EA
- 5.3 Length of an EA
- 5.4 Format and Content of an EA
- 5.5 Public Involvement
- 5.6 Administrative Process of Review of EAs

## 5.1 Introduction

CEQ originally created the EA primarily to be used when you do not have enough information to decide whether the proposal may have significant impacts. From its original purpose, however, an EA has evolved into a useful planning tool. An EA must lead to a FONSI or an NOI and an EIS. Therefore, if you find through the use of an EA that a proposal does have the potential for significant impact, you must prepare an EIS (unless section 5.4(f)(3) applies). On the other hand, if you find that the alternatives analyzed in the EA would not significantly affect the environment, prepare a FONSI.

The stated purposes of an EA (CEQ 1508.9) are to:

- (a) briefly provide sufficient evidence and analysis for determining whether to prepare an EIS or a FONSI (described above).
- (b) aid an agency's compliance with NEPA when no EIS is necessary.
- (c) facilitate preparation of an EIS if one is necessary.

However, an EA can be prepared at any time to assist in planning and decision-making (1501.3(b)).

Determining whether an EIS is needed is only one of the purposes of an EA. In fact, today it is clear that the most common rationale for preparing an EA is to aid in an agency's compliance with NEPA, particularly section 102(2)(E), when an EIS may not be necessary. Section 102(2)(E) requires an agency to "study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses of action in any proposal which involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources."

# 5.2 When to Prepare an EA

An EA should be prepared if:

- an action is not listed as a CE (i.e., in section 3.3 or 3.4), or if the action is not listed as an action normally requiring an EIS (section 4.4), and a decision to prepare an EIS has not been made.
- additional analysis and public input is needed to know whether the potential for significant impact exists.
- preliminary analysis indicates there is no scientific basis to believe significant impacts would occur, but some level of controversy over the use of one or more environmental resources exists.
- the action is described on the list of actions normally categorically excluded, but one of the exceptional circumstances described in section 3.5 applies.

If a proposal analyzed by an EA is found to have significant impacts, instead of requiring an EIS, CEQ (Q40) allows agencies to employ mitigation to reduce impacts to below significance in case of any of the following:

- (a) the mitigation is imposed by statute or regulation.
- (b) the proposal is rewritten to include mitigation as an integral part of the description.
- (c) the proposal is fundamentally changed to avoid the impact.

The effectiveness and enforceability of the mitigation must be guaranteed, and a new EA analyzing only the impacts of the mitigated or changed proposal must be prepared. This is referred to by CEQ as a "mitigated EA."

CEQ warns against trying to avoid an EIS rather than reducing impact through "mitigated EAs." If you need several mitigation measures to avoid a significant impact, or if the mitigation measures are highly speculative or distant in time, you should carefully consider preparing an EIS instead of a mitigated EA. As an example: Construction of a proposed parking lot would result in a loss of a large number of old growth trees. In order to mitigate the loss, the park proposes planting seedlings and waiting 500 years for the lost tree stand to be replaced. This effort at mitigation is too speculative and distant to adequately lessen the significance of the impact.

# 5.3 Length of an EA

It is not uncommon for an NPS proposal to be complex enough that an EA of 30, 40, or even 50-plus pages is needed to fully examine impacts. An EA that is longer than 50 pages may just be an EIS in disguise. You should carefully consider whether this is true of your park's EA, and prepare the EIS if it would be more appropriate (Q36b).

### 5.4 Format and Content of an EA

Although CEQ does not require a particular format for EAs, the format of an NPS EA should be similar to that of an EIS. There are some differences between NPS EAs and EISs, however. For instance, EAs do not require a separate affected environment section, although the baseline information needed to compare impacts must appear somewhere in the EA. Also, unless the EA is more than 50 pages, a summary, an abstract, and a table of contents are not needed. Following is the suggested format for an EA. Many of the sections also detail required content, and they should be read carefully. More detail on the suggested contents and organization of each chapter is presented in the EIS format section (4.5) of this handbook.

### A. Abstract or summary

If the EA is longer than 50 pages, a one- to two-page summary of important issues and major findings may be appropriate. The summary should stand alone; the reader should not need to read the entire EA to understand the conclusions outlined in it. See section 4.5 of this handbook for more information about summaries.

### B. Table of contents

If an EA is longer than 50 or so pages, it must include a table of contents following the summary.

### C. Purpose and need

Sections 2.2 and 4.5 (d) should be consulted in preparing the purpose and need sections of an EA. Usually the first chapter or section of an EA is titled either Purpose and Need or Introduction. This section may also be an appropriate place to discuss issues that were dismissed and issues that were kept for analysis and led to impact topics.

### D. Alternatives

EAs must fully describe the proposal (general or specific), no action, and a range of reasonable alternatives that meet objectives as laid out in the purpose section, and that reduce or eliminate impacts to important environmental resources. If your park has a preferred alternative at the time an EA is released for public review, it should be identified.

- 1. Range of Alternatives—Normally, an EA should fully analyze a range of reasonable alternatives (see section 4.5 (e)). However, if the IDT finds that no reasonable alternatives exist and that the proposal does not have the potential for significant impacts, the EA may instead include a discussion of alternatives considered but rejected, and the reasons why these were rejected. In this case, the EA would analyze only the no action alternative and the park's proposal.
- **2. Defining the range of alternatives**—If the range of alternatives is quite narrow because objectives have been defined narrowly, the IDT may wish to take a second look at the objectives and whatever led the

team to define the objectives (a park plan, for instance). For example, if the EA is examining different building materials, colors, and styles for a proposed visitor center because the GMP or another plan has stated that any buildings in the park must blend with the natural environment, but the location of the visitor center is a poor one, the team should re-examine the project purpose, the need for the project, and the plan itself. Often GMPs and other plans, or their accompanying NEPA documents, are outdated or are the result of reconnaissance data that, upon site-specific analysis, may turn out to be incorrect or too generalized to be useful. Although the GMP may dictate a visitor center location, if the team finds the location infeasible for technical, economic, or environmental reasons, the EA should examine other sites as alternatives, rather than a narrow range of building materials. Although a modification to the GMP would be required in this example, this kind of constant monitoring and updating of park plans leads to the excellent decision-making that NEPA requires and to the conservation of resources that the NPS Organic Act mandates.

- **3. Comparative summaries**—To facilitate review, EAs should include comparative summaries of impacts, features of alternatives, and a discussion of the degree to which each alternative accomplishes the purpose or fulfills the need identified in the purpose and need section.
- **4. Costs and benefits**—If a cost-benefit or other economic report has been completed, and relative costs and benefits of alternatives will be used in making decisions between alternatives in an EA, relevant information should be summarized in the EA or the cost-benefit analysis should be attached as an appendix.
- **5. No action alternative**—The impacts of the no action alternative are important for comparison purposes, and must be part of any NPS EA. For additional information on how to analyze the impacts of no action, see section 2.7 (c).
- **6.** Environmentally preferable alternative—See section 2.7.

### E. Affected environment

Information about the existing environment relevant to understanding the impact of no action, or other alternatives must appear in an EA (see section 2.8).

### F. Impacts

Like an EIS, an EA is focused on "real" environmental issues, it is concise and clear, and it is meant to be a useful tool to decision-makers and the public. Also like an EIS, the analysis in an EA must discuss direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts (see section 2.9). Beneficial impacts should also be analyzed. Also, as in an EIS, the context, duration, and intensity of impacts should be defined and quantified as much as possible (see section 4.5 (g)).

1. **Objectivity** (also see section 2.9)—An EA that results in the issuance of a FONSI must provide adequate support for the statement that no signif-

icant impacts are likely if the proposal or any alternative is implemented. Therefore the objective and accurate presentation of data is particularly important, as is the interpretation of those data in all appropriate contexts (see below). Court battles on EAs have been lost on the basis that the EA included undocumented information, that methods or data were controversial, or that the EA depended on mitigation to reduce impacts to below a "significance" threshold.

- 2. Context (also see sec. 4.2(a))—CEQ says that one reason EAs are prepared is to determine whether the potential for significant impact exists. If the potential for significant impact exists, an EIS is the more appropriate NEPA document (see section 5.1). Significance is often a relative term, so the context, duration, and intensity of impacts must be measured and compared to impacts of ongoing activities (such as the impact of no action). Without these comparisons, it is difficult or impossible to determine the significance of impact.
- **3. Mitigation**—An environmental assessment is a valuable planning tool in designing a project or proposal with minimal adverse effects to resources. Mitigation should be included as part of the proposal and alternatives and be analyzed in terms of its effectiveness. See section 5.2 for more information.
- **4. Methodology section**—EAs should briefly summarize the methods used to predict impacts.
- **5. Regulations and policies section**—EAs should briefly detail relevant laws, regulations, and park or other policies for each impact topic.
- **6.** Cumulative impact section—A discussion of cumulative impacts is important in EAs and must be included (see sections 2.4(c), 2.9(c)).
- 7. Sustainability and long-term management—NPS EAs are not required to include separate sections as described in 4.5 (g)(8), although the balancing of short-term needs with long-term ecosystem health, biodiversity, and sound resource planning should be themes that pervade any park EA or EIS.
- **8. Conclusions**—At the end of the discussion of impacts of each alternative on each environmental resource, a brief "conclusions" section should summarize all major findings, including whether or not an impairment of resources or values is likely or would occur.
- 9. Organization—For EAs shorter than about 30–40 pages, many readers find the impact section is more readable if it is organized by alternative, with impact topics as subheadings. For EAs longer than this, the impact section may be followed more easily if it is organized by impact topic, with alternatives as subheadings. Either is acceptable. Impacts may also be combined with affected environment information in an EA.

### G. Consultation and coordination

This section should list persons, organizations, and agencies that were contacted for information and that assisted in identifying important issues, developing alternatives, or analyzing impacts. Memoranda of agreement or understanding, formal agreements, major cooperative agreements, or documentation indicating final compliance with applicable laws or regulations should be appendixes to the EA or readily available for public inspection. Any scoping or other public involvement efforts should also be detailed, and a brief summary of major issues should be included.

A list of preparers and their qualifications is recommended, as is a list of recipients of the EA.

### H. References

A bibliography, a glossary of terms and acronyms, and appendixes should be part of an EA.

### 5.5 Public Involvement

Regional Directors are delegated the authority to approve the EA prior to its release for public review. Regardless of the specific requirements described in this section, NPS should always make a "diligent" effort to involve the interested and affected public (1506.6 (a)) on a proposal for which an EA is prepared. This is a requirement of NEPA, and in the NPS, it means public scoping sessions, public review of EAs, responses to comments, and other measures normally reserved for EISs if the issuing office believes such measures are needed to comply with the diligence standard.

## A. Scoping

Scoping, or requesting early input before the analysis formally begins, is required on all EAs prepared by NPS. Although public scoping is encouraged where an interested or affected public exists, issuing offices are only required to involve appropriate federal, state, and local agencies and any affected Indian tribe. It is up to you to decide the method of scoping (see DO-12 field guide for suggestions).

#### B. Public review

The EA is to be sent out for review by the interested and affected public, including affected agencies and tribes, for a minimum of 30 days. The notice that an EA is available for review is, at a minimum, to be published in the local newspaper of record, posted on the NPS web site, noticed in the *Federal Register*, or otherwise made broadly known to the public. This action, coupled with public distribution through mailing, begins the 30-day review period. The notice should appear in a visible location in the paper (i.e., not in the legal notices section), and anyone who requests a copy of the EA should receive one, until a reasonable number of copies have been distributed. Those who request a copy after this time should be referred to the nearest library or NPS or other government office that has a record copy. It is acceptable to send an electronic copy or make an electronic copy available if the person requesting has access to such a copy.

### C. Public meetings

Workshops, meetings, hearings, or other opportunities to give oral input on an NPS EA are not required, but they may be appropriate if there is large-scale interest in a proposal. If such a meeting is scheduled, it should take place no sooner than 15 days from the time it is advertised or the notice of availability of the EA is published in the local paper of record, whichever is later. The review period for EAs must extend a minimum of 15 days beyond the date of such a meeting. NPS officials should track comments made at public meetings for later response. Any reliable means of advertising the meeting, including but not limited to publishing in a visible location in the local paper of record, is acceptable.

### D. Response to comments

If reviewers send written comments, or submit comments at the discretionary public meetings, workshops, and so forth, the issuing office should screen them to determine whether any important new issues or reasonable alternatives or mitigation measures have been suggested. If major substantive issues not covered adequately in the EA are raised, or new alternatives the park wishes to consider are suggested, the EA must be rewritten to incorporate them and reissued for a second 30-day review upon completion. If any of the issues point to the potential for significant impacts, a NOI to prepare an EIS should be prepared and submitted to the *Federal Register*.

If commentors correct or add factual information that has no bearing on the determination of significant impact, the information should be added to the text of the EA when possible. The issuing office may also respond through the use of errata sheets to comments that do not increase the degree of impact described in the EA. The combination of the EA and the errata sheets forms the complete and final record on which the FONSI or decision to prepare an EIS is based. The FONSI itself is not an appropriate document to use to respond to public comments; rather, responses should be attached to the FONSI to complete the record.

Issuing offices are encouraged to make text changes correcting or adding factual information to the EA and attaching the EA, along with the responses to public comments, to the approved FONSI to complete the administrative record.

# E. Supplemental EAs

CEQ does not recognize supplemental EAs, because an EA should be concise enough so that it can easily be rewritten to accommodate major changes. You should not issue supplements to EAs; either rewrite and reissue the EA, or follow the approach outlined in section 5.5 (D) to finalize the EA.

# F. Completing the EA process

The combination of the EA, the errata sheets correcting statements of fact as a result of public review of the EA, and responses to public comments form the complete and final record on which the FONSI or decision to prepare an EIS is based. You must notify the public that the EA process has been completed and a FONSI issued, if such is the case. Notification may be through mailings,

publication in a visible location in the local paper of record, a *Federal Register* notice, a news release, or a meeting with concerned agencies and individuals. No waiting period is required following the notice that the completed EA and FONSI are available before the proposal is implemented, unless section 6.3(G) of this handbook applies.

### 5.6 Administrative Process of Review of EAs

After you prepare and finalize an EA, and if the decision-maker selects an alternative with no potential for significant impacts, you must prepare a FONSI. The FONSI describes the selected alternative and states why it was selected and substantiates why it will have no significant impacts (see section 6.3).

A FONSI or notice of intent to prepare an EIS following the completion of an EA must be signed and dated. The signatory for either rests with the Regional Director. In addition, the Regional Director is responsible for deciding when an EA is adequate for public review. Parks must obtain clearance from the Regional Director before releasing an EA for public review and beginning the 30-day review period.

# **6.0 Decision Documents**

- 6.1 Categorical Exclusions
- 6.2 Record of Decision
- 6.3 FONSI
- 6.4 NEPA after the Decision Document

Decision documents record the reasons for selecting a particular alternative. They also supply the support for deciding that no significant impacts would result from alternatives analyzed in an EA. For the five levels of documentation described in section 2.10(B), the following decision documents are prepared:

- For a memo to file—No decision document is required.
- For a CE for which no formal documentation is needed—No decision document is required.
- For a CE requiring documentation—A CEF (appendix 2) must be completed and signed.
- For an EA—A FONSI must be signed.
- For an EIS—A record of decision must be signed.

Impairment determinations and decision documents – In both Findings of No Significant Impact and Records of Decision, the National Park Service has a requirement of affirmatively stating whether or not an impairment to park resources — actions prohibited under the NPS Organic Act—will result from any direct, indirect, or cumulative impact of the action to be selected for implementation. If such an impairment does exist or is likely, a Finding of No Significant Impact cannot be approved. If a preferred alternative has impairment impacts at the EIS/ROD level, that alternative may not be selected for implementation. Both FONSIs and RODs need to provide information on general levels of impact and conclusions as to degrees of impact and any potential for impairment. Both documents must affirmatively state, and contain supporting information in the analysis, that the preferred alternative for selection will not impair park resources or values and, as a result, will not constitute a violation of the NPS Organic Act. Actions that are likely to, or would, cause an impairment may not use a memo to file or Categorical Exclusion as an appropriate vehicle for decision making.

# **6.1 Categorical Exclusions**

With the exception of those actions named in section 3.3 (CEs for which no formal documentation is required), the decision to categorically exclude an action from further NEPA analysis is formalized with the signature of the Park Superintendent or his or her designee on a CEF (see appendix 2). This form is attached to the completed ESF form and is the minimum required contents of a NEPA project file for an action described in section 3.4 of this handbook.

### 6.2 Record of Decision

When an EIS has been prepared, the ultimate choice of an alternative, mitigation measures, and the decision rationale are documented in an ROD.

### A. CEQ requirement

Besides stating the decision, CEQ (1505.2) requires that a ROD include the following:

- (1) a summary description of all alternatives analyzed in the EIS.
- (2) identification of the environmentally preferable alternative.
- (3) the decision rationale—what were the criteria (e.g., cost, degree of environmental impact, technical considerations, degree to which objectives were met, logistics) used in selecting an alternative, how did each alternative measure up against these criteria, how were the criteria weighted, and so forth.
- (4) a clear statement of which mitigation measures will be implemented if they are not obviously integral to the alternative selected, and a summary of any monitoring or other enforcement programs or plans. The description of mitigation and monitoring should be specific enough to enable the public to determine whether measures have been effectively implemented, but not be so specific as to duplicate the EIS.
- (5) a statement of whether all practical means to avoid or minimize environmental harm from the selected alternative have been adopted, and if not, why not.

# B. Length

An average ROD should be 10 pages. It should give enough information on the alternatives and their impacts, the decision-maker's rationale in selecting the chosen alternative, and the extent of mitigation and monitoring the public can expect, so that the reader can understand these major issues without referring to the EIS.

### C. Notice

The ROD or a summary of the ROD must be published in the *Federal Register* as well as in the local newspaper of record.

### D. Signatory

The signatory of RODs is the Regional Director. In some circumstances, the signatory of RODs rests with the Director or Assistant Secretary for Fish, Wildlife and Parks. Recent changes to Departmental procedures regarding "delegated and non-delegated EISs" are to be considered. Consult the EQD to determine the appropriate signatory level.

### E. Wetlands and floodplains

If a preferred alternative proposes actions that would be located in or have adverse effects on a floodplain or wetland, a wetland/floodplain statement of findings must be combined with the draft and final EIS. When it has been signed by the Regional Director, the Statement of Findings is attached to the ROD as a separately identifiable document.

# F. Compliance with section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act

If the preferred alternative affects a historic property and thus requires consultation under section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, the information gathered as part of the section 106 review must be included in the EIS, and the section 106 process must be completed before an ROD can be signed. The ROD must include a statement on consultation under section 106. Revisions made to 36 CFR 800, June 17, 1999, further explain the integration of section 106 with NEPA requirements.

### G. Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act

All consultation requirements defined under section 7 of the Endangered Species Act must be completed before an ROD can be signed.

### H. Impairment

From the facts presented in the analysis in the environmental impact statement and summarized in the ROD, the ROD must indicate that, after a review of the impacts, the alternative selected for implementation will not impair park resources or values and will not violate the NPS Organic Act.

## 6.3 FONSI

When an EA is prepared, the decision-maker must determine prior to public release whether the alternatives have the potential for significant impact. If so, the preparation of an EIS begins, and an NOI to prepare an EIS is sent to the *Federal Register*. If not, the EA proceeds, public comments are solicited, and upon completion of response to comments, a FONSI is signed.

A FONSI is an explanation of why the selected action will have no significant effects on the human environment. It is based on the EA and comments of agencies and the public. The FONSI states which alternative has been selected, very briefly describes other alternatives considered in the EA and discusses how criteria were used and how they were weighed in the selection process. The FONSI is separate from the EA, and it is detailed enough in drawing from sections in the

EA to stand alone. The FONSI is signed by the Regional Director. The FONSI's signature block may also include a line for approval recommendation from the Park Superintendent to the Regional Director.

### A. Content

A FONSI serves two functions in the NPS. It is the "proof" that no significant impacts would occur if the proposal is implemented, and explains the rationale used in selecting the alternative for implementation. Therefore, after describing the proposed action, a FONSI should follow the list of significance criteria (Section 4.2), and any measures integrated into the selected alternative that apply should be explained. For instance, if the proposal is to allow visitors to view an ongoing archeological excavation, and public safety is an issue (criterion 2 in the list of significance criteria), the alternative selected may include "fencing the site," or "only allow visitation on guided tours with park rangers," and note that "these measures have proven nearly 100% effective in other parks (e.g., Park X, Park Y)" in protecting public safety. This kind of synopsis of information taken from the EA assures readers (including NPS decision-makers and any reviewing court) that concerns that could mean significant impact have been adequately addressed. In most cases, 5 pages are adequate to provide the specific proof required in a FONSI. In cases in which a "mitigated EA" has been prepared—that is, the impact has been reduced to below a "significance threshold" through the use of mitigation—5 pages may not be adequate. The environmentally preferable alternative as indicated in the EA must also be identified. If it is not the selected alternative, reasons for non-selection must be clearly stated. In a FONSI, the reasons must be described for rejecting all alternatives except the one ultimately selected similar to the process described in section 6.2(A) for Records of Decision.

### **B.** Mitigation

Because an EA is an analysis document, simply identifying mitigation measures does not commit NPS to adopting or implementing them. If mitigation is integral to an alternative, and this is clearly stated in the EA, adopting the alternative in the FONSI does automatically mean the mitigation is binding. Any mitigation that is dependent on funding or other factors must be specifically adopted and stated as such in the FONSI. It is suggested that a matrix or table be attached to the FONSI itemizing mitigations, critical milestones, and responsible party.

### C. Errata sheets

If factual corrections need to be made to the EA as a result of comments, you can use errata sheets instead of republishing the entire document. If substantive comments have been made, but do not necessarily require a change in the text of the EA, NPS should respond to these comments in an errata sheet. Because errata sheets in combination with the EA form the completed EA, errata sheets should be sent to all who have commented with a letter noting that the errata sheets and the original EA form the final document. The errata sheets are attached to the FONSI and distributed. See 5.5(D) for more information on use of errata sheets and completion of the record.

### D. Wetlands and floodplains

If the preferred alternative would be located in or adversely affect a floodplain or wetland, and if the EA has led to a FONSI, a wetland/floodplain SOF must be combined with the public review copy of the EA. If the final preferred alternative still results in adverse impact to a floodplain or a wetland but results in a FONSI, a final SOF must be attached to the FONSI as a separately identifiable document.

### E. Section 106 of the NHPA compliance

If the preferred alternative affects a historic property and thus requires consultation under section 106 of NHPA, the information gathered as part of the section 106 review must be included in the NEPA document and the section 106 process must be completed before a FONSI can be signed. The FONSI must include a statement about consultation under section 106.

### F. Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act

All consultation requirements must be completed, as defined by section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, before a FONSI can be signed. It is highly recommended that consultation documentation accompany the public review EA document.

### G. Waiting period for FONSIs (1501.4 (e))

In certain limited cases, NPS must make the FONSI available for a 30-day minimum public review before it decides whether to prepare an EIS or implement the project. If a FONSI has been prepared, the issuing office must wait 30 days before it implements the project or prepares an EIS for the project if the selected alternative (a) is an NPS project, or closely similar to an NPS project, that normally requires an EIS (see section 4.4) or has in the past required an EIS, or (b) is without precedence in the NPS. Notice of such a waiting period should be published in the *Federal Register*, but it must also be published in the local newspaper of record.

### H. Impairment

From the facts presented in the analysis in the environmental assessment and summarized in the FONSI, the FONSI must indicate that, after a review of the impacts, the alternative selected for implementation will not impair park resources or values and will not violate the NPS Organic Act.

# I. Signatory

The signatory authority for a FONSI rests with the Regional Director.

# 6.4 NEPA after the Decision Document

# A. Monitoring

Writing and signing the decision document does not signal the end of the NEPA process, because assumptions are often made that only after-the-fact monitoring can validate. A park may have based its EA and FONSI on actions it will take if monitoring reveals a greater degree of impact than the EA predicts. Monitoring is also important in verifying predictions of impact, or of the effectiveness of miti-

gation measures in a NEPA document. The park preparing the EA or the EIS is responsible for making sure that impacts are no greater than the document says, and that mitigation measures will work as promised. The ROD or FONSI is, in some respects, a "contract" with the public, committing the agency to implement the mitigation and monitoring included in the project. Therefore, it is important that the agency consider budgetary projections when making this commitment. Any monitoring or mitigation must be spelled out in the ROD or the FONSI.

### B. Changes in the selected action

If changes in the selected alternative are made after the FONSI or the ROD has been approved, additional NEPA analysis may be required. These changes may be small ones, such as for design purposes, or on a larger scale. If the changes would result in any changes in environmental impact, you should consider supplementing the EIS, or preparing a new EA or CE.

# 7.0 Programmatic Documents and Planning

- 7.1 Is NEPA Triggered by Plans?
- 7.2 When to Begin NEPA on Plans
- 7.3 Feasibility and Planning
- 7.4 Tiering
- 7.5 Programs and Policies
- 7.6 Long-Term Resource Management

# 7.1 Is NEPA Triggered by Plans?

In the past, NPS has called NEPA a "compliance" action, making you think it only documents a separate NPS planning procedure. This is not true. In fact, NEPA is the law that requires NPS to undertake a specific, scientifically valid conservation planning and impact assessment process. NEPA is only a "compliance" action because it is legally required.

The steps detailed in the CEQ regulations and this handbook are all to be done early in NPS decision-making, as part of the planning process, rather than the traditional permitting or compliance process. According to CEQ, "Agencies shall integrate the NEPA process with other planning at the earliest possible time to insure that planning and decisions reflect environmental values, to avoid delays later in the process, and to head off potential conflicts" (1501.2). You plan based on your park's purpose and significance, its visitor needs, and other resource management or maintenance objectives. NEPA requires that you also follow the

# You should apply

the same criteria to decide whether NEPA is required for plans as you would for projects, legislation, and so forth; that is, would an alternative contemplated in the plan ultimately affect the human environment? steps CEQ has laid out in including resource conservation and environmental impact information as part of the basis for your park's long- and short-term choices. This information is considered essential to NPS decision-making, and it is to be combined with other planning (1501.2(a), 1502.25, Q21). Physically, a plan and a NEPA document may and should be prepared and distributed simultaneously (1501.2 (b)). However, it should be clear, if the two are combined, which sections constitute the NEPA document.

Despite this clear message from CEQ, it is sometimes less clear in real-life NPS planning whether the "formal" NEPA process, complete with a CE, EA, or EIS and public input, is needed. For instance, you may wish to study the condition of resources or the feasibility of certain park goals or objectives. These studies may not require NEPA analysis, yet they would benefit from some form of environmental planning. Integrating environmental information into the earliest form of park decision-making will result in better decisions, and often in more streamlined subsequent NEPA analyses as well.

When decisions about resource use having the potential for environmental effects are being contemplated, or another kind of planning (housing feasibility studies, parkwide zoning, etc.) is ongoing, a NEPA review process is almost certainly required. In fact, CEQ includes plans as major federal actions (1508.18) requiring NEPA analysis.

Section 4.4 identifies several types of plans that normally require an EIS. NPS plans not on this list are not necessarily exempt from NEPA. Rather, you should apply the same criteria to decide whether environmental analysis is required for plans as you would for projects, legislation, and so forth; that is, would a choice being contemplated in the plan, such as the action, ultimately affect the human environment (section 1.3)?

It may be tempting to assume that only the implementation of a plan, rather than the choices the plan itself represents, will have environmental impact and therefore require NEPA analysis. However, if decisions affecting future land or resource use are being made in a plan or program, NEPA is triggered. This is because CEQ recognizes that a discussion of, and public input on, options (alternatives) and their environmental pros and cons (impacts) would be valuable in making even broad policy-level decisions.

Some examples of NPS planning elements that do not normally require NEPA are collecting and mapping sensitive resource data or determining needs for future planning. Some that do trigger NEPA are GMPs, project and activity plans, establishment of a carrying capacity, zoning of a park or part of a park for future use, implementation plans, concession plans, and climbing management plans.

If it is still unclear whether your park's planning effort requires NEPA analysis, ask yourself these questions:

- Will decisions made in this plan ultimately have an impact on the environment when this plan or program is implemented?
- Is this a formal planning process in some other way?
- Will this plan examine options?
- Would the examination of environmental costs and benefits of these options be helpful in making decisions contemplated in this plan?
- Would resource data be useful in making decisions contemplated in this plan?

- Will this planning effort include public participation?
- Will decisions made in this plan commit resources?
- Will decisions made in this plan preclude future choices?

If the answer to the first question is yes, you should consider the NEPA process outlined in this handbook to be legally required and begin the environmental planning process early enough so the information you gather can be used "as an important contribution to the decision-making process" (1502.5). If the answer to one or more of the other questions is yes (but the answer to the first is no), your IDT or decision-maker should carefully consider whether information on options and the environmental pros and cons of each and/or public input would be valuable. If so, you should initiate the NEPA planning process.

### A. EISs for general management plans

It is standard NPS practice and policy to prepare an EIS with your park's GMP. This is because a GMP is a major federal action, with long-term management implications for a unit of the NPS. The public considers National Parks to represent the highest standard of federally protected resources. There may not be significant public controversy associated with the GMP, and scoping may not reveal potential for significant impacts, but the act of long-term planning and implementation of park-wide courses of action in and of itself is more appropriately presented in an EIS.

The implementing legislation for NPS, unlike that for other land and resource management agencies, requires *conservation* of park resources. The resources in our care are unique, and so, according to Congress, they deserve this protection. It follows that decisions affecting these special resources have greater potential for significant impact than if they occurred on federal lands managed by other agencies. Decisions made in a GMP or another broad planning document affect proportionately more of these special resources, and so they are even more likely than smaller-scale park actions to have significant impacts and qualify as major federal actions. These are the kind of decisions CEQ believed would benefit from an EIS and its associated full-fledged environmental planning and public involvement effort. Courts have been consistent in requiring EISs for this kind of large-scale agency (including NPS) decision-making.

Another important reason parks should prepare GMP EISs is that they are used to narrow the range of future choices. In other words, parks often use the GMP NEPA document to "tier" (see section 7.4) to more site-specific projects that implement some part of the GMP. As the park collects site-specific information, it may find that the project will have significant impacts and that an EIS is required. However, you may not refer to or tier the GMP NEPA document in this case unless it too was an EIS. This is because preparing an EA/FONSI for the park GMP assures the public that no significant impacts would take place from its implementation. Preparing a subsequent EIS to implement the plan counters and invalidates the original GMP FONSI.

Finally, NEPA documents prepared for broad NPS decision-making, such as those associated with GMPs, are of interest to a larger public audience. This also means they are more likely to be the subject of litigation. EAs and their accompanying FONSIs do poorly in court because they must provide "proof" that significant impact will not occur if the agency takes action. Yet, particularly in the case of programmatic or planning decisions made over very large areas, the data collected are reconnaissance-level, and it is difficult or impossible to prove that no future significant impacts will occur from implementation of that program or policy. The EIS allows you to admit that you do not know the exact nature of future impacts and that they may prove significant when site-specific data are collected.

The Environmental Quality Division, through the Associate Director for Natural Resources Stewardship and Science, may grant an exception to the requirement that EISs be prepared for GMPs on a case-by-case basis, when it is clear that site-specific data indicate that the potential for significant impact does not exist.

### B. NEPA documents as building blocks

When preparing NEPA documents for plans, you should build on EISs and EAs already completed for broader actions. For example, your park GMP identifies an area of the park as a good spot for hikes because views are excellent, but a few fragile resources exist. When it comes time to prepare a trails plan for this area, you may initially use the GMP EIS as an appropriate source of general information in beginning your trail's NEPA document. You can also assume that the range of alternatives for the trails NEPA analysis has been defined by the GMP, if the data and subsequent conclusions were valid. Your data collection efforts should be more site-specific for the trails NEPA work than for the GMP EIS, but only as detailed as required to make the decisions needed, such as what are the best spots to locate the trail system in this area.

A third NEPA document may be required when it comes time to build one of the trails, because site-specific data are required before the plan can be implemented. (Another approach is to collect site-specific data at the time the trails plan is created—see section 7.2 for a discussion of timing.) Because the decisions are much more specific, the data you collect should be also. You may wish to move a trail a few hundred feet one way or another to avoid affecting a special environmental resource, or you may want to design a section of trail a certain way to avoid, for instance, drainage problems. However, the general location of the trail should be determined by the programmatic trails plan and data collected for it. This process of going from general to specific data collection, and from broad to narrow decision-making, is called tiering. Tiering is explained further in section 7.4.

# 7.2 When to Begin NEPA on Plans

You should be able to integrate NEPA's environmental planning requirements with other park planning easily, and to follow the CEQ regulations requirement to begin "at the earliest possible time to insure that planning and decisions reflect

environmental values.." (CEQ 1501.2). The information provided by a well-done NEPA analysis is vital in making park resource use or management decisions.

NEPA begins on plans as soon as your proposal can be defined. NEPA documents must be prepared early enough so they are "relevant to policy and timed to

Well-done NEPA analysis is basic to excellent resource management and park use decision-making. coincide with meaningful points in agency planning and decision-making" (1502.4). In the GMP process, this is when your park has defined its purpose and significance and is now considering mission goals, management prescriptions, or management zones.

### A. Level of detail

Before an "on-the-ground" action (e.g., grading a trail, building a campground) can be taken, there must be site-specific environmental information available to a decision-maker in the form of a NEPA document. This means you cannot use programmatic NEPA documents to make site-specific decisions, but must instead follow the process of tiering described in section 7.4.

The timing of this site-specific environmental analysis should be designed to be as close as possible to the point of making real and irrevocable commitments to a project or a course of action. Many NPS plans suggest that certain types of use or development may take place, but recognize that action to pursue a preferred alternative may not be possible for 5, 10, or 20 years, until funds are made available or until other conditions beyond the park's control are satisfied. Many detailed plans and studies have been rendered obsolete as time passes and circumstances change so that environmental analyses are repeated several times for the same project or proposed action. Following the procedure outlined in Section 7.4 (tiering)—collecting reconnaissance-level data for conceptual decisions, for

The timing of sitespecific environmental analysis should be designed to be as close as possible to the point of making real and irrevocable commitments to a project or a course of action. instance, and site-specific information for implementation decisions—will help alleviate this problem.

# 7.3 Feasibility and Planning

NEPA begins at the "proposal" stage—that is, when NPS "has a goal and is actively preparing to make a decision on one or more alternative means of accomplishing that goal, and the effects can be meaningfully evaluated" (1508.23). Feasibility analy-

sis to define a realistic proposal or goal is sometimes required before NEPA can begin. In the GMP planning process, the definition of the "corral" bounded by the park purpose, significance, and special legislation is a form of feasibility analysis.

For projects or implementation plans, early in the process you can eliminate alternatives that are not feasible because they are unreasonably expensive, are not implementable for technical or logistic reasons, do not meet park mandates,

or are not within legal or other mandatory constraints. This does not mean that alternatives must be cheap or easy, or that those actions within another agency's jurisdiction can be eliminated if they are reasonable in other respects. Rather, it is an initial step to ensure that alternatives that could not be implemented are not subjected to extensive environmental analysis. Likewise, if it appears that a technically or economically feasible alternative would have profound adverse environmental impacts or would not be allowed by another agency from which a permit is required, it should be eliminated as "environmentally infeasible."

Agencies often mistake this winnowing process as one that allows them to choose only their favorite alternatives for analysis without having first completed NEPA. Rather, it is a procedure for eliminating infeasible or duplicative alterna-

Agencies often

**mistake** this weedingout process as one that allows them to choose only their favorite alternatives for analysis without having first completed NEPA. tives while still leaving a "full spectrum of reasonable choices" ready to undergo the objective environmental analysis that NEPA dictates.

# 7.4 Tiering

CEQ encourages agencies to use a tiering process, working from broad, general NEPA environmental impact analysis documents to more site-specific ones in decision-making (1502.20). When preparing a large-scale plan that determines broad direction,

such as the GMP, information can be less detailed and site-specific, because decisions are made on a gross scale. When land identified as potentially suitable for development is planned for a set of visitor-related facilities, the decision to develop the area is not revisited. Instead, the NEPA document prepared in conjunction with the development plan proposal is "tiered," or procedurally connected to the large-scale plan NEPA document. This narrows the range of alternatives in the development plan analysis to those that explore how and where to site facilities within the designated development area. The decision to designate this as an area for development has already been made. Tiering allows NPS "to focus on the issues which are ripe for decision and exclude from consideration issues already decided or not yet ripe" (1508.28).

Tiering is not the appropriate tool to use when you are dealing with a previous, broad-scale NEPA document that is outdated or for which there is new information requiring the original decisions to be revisited. For example, a programmatic decision made to develop an area for visitor facilities and evaluated in a previous NEPA analysis would require reanalysis and reevaluation if it is subsequently learned that the site is subject to "flash floods," is the critical habitat of endangered species, or is the location of extensive archeological remains.

The original, or programmatic, NEPA document from which subsequent documents are tiered is almost always an EIS. This is because larger-scale decisions often have larger-scale impacts, and courts are more likely to deem them "major federal actions." Also, if the programmatic document is an EA and not an EIS,

# The original, or programmatic,

**NEPA** document from which subsequent documents are tiered is almost always an EIS. This is because larger-scale decisions often have largerscale impacts, and courts are more likely to deem them "major federal actions." Also, if the programmatic document is an EA and not an EIS, subsequent NEPA documents tiered to it cannot be EISs without invalidating the original EA.

subsequent NEPA documents tiered to it cannot be EISs without invalidating the original EA (see section 7.1).

Tiering may also help in examining cumulative impacts in proper context. For instance, the cumulative impacts of developing all areas designated as suitable should be part of a large-scale planning NEPA analysis, but it does not need to be repeated as part of a development plan NEPA document. Instead, the development plan EA or EIS should make reference to the appropriate pages of the broader plan NEPA document and note that they are tiered.

# 7.5 Programs and Policies

CEQ includes plans, policies, procedures, and programs in its definition of major federal actions that require NEPA environmental analysis and documentation (1508.18). The time to prepare such documentation is "before the program has reached a stage of

investment or commitment to implementation likely to determine subsequent development or restrict later alternatives" (1502.4 (c )(3)). If an NPS-wide or region-wide policy with the potential for environmental impact is proposed (such as "prescribe burning to maintain fuel at natural level," or "use any means short of introducing toxic substances to control exotic weeds"), a programmatic NEPA document should be prepared before parks are charged with implementing it. The park may need to prepare its own subsequent site-specific document and tier (see section 7.4) to the regional or other programmatic document.

Programmatic documents are useful in discussing strategies for implementing many smaller actions, such as road, building, or other park maintenance or vegetation management. Adequately evaluating several years' worth of site-specific impacts in a single EA or EIS from these kinds of day-to-day activities may be the best approach to environmentally sound planning.

# 7.6 Long-Term Resource Management

Programmatic documents on plans, policies, or programs are often ideal places to discuss ecosystem sustainability and management, biodiversity, global warming, community or regional land use planning, and other larger-scale issues. Decisions on land and resource management that take into account maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity are bound to be more in line with the policy set forth in NEPA (see sec. 102(c)(iv)).

# 8.0 NPS Review of Non-NPS NEPA Documents

- 8.1 Introduction
- 8.2 Comment Requirements
- 8.3 Review Deadlines and Extension Requests
- 8.4 Departmental Comment Letters
- 8.5 Review Guidelines for EISs
- 8.6 Style and Format for Environmental Review Comments

### 8.1 Introduction

NEPA requires that other federal agencies obtain NPS comments on their EISs when NPS has jurisdiction by law over some aspect of the project or special expertise on an environmental impact of the project (1503.1). In addition to NEPA requirements, many federal undertakings require other "environmental" comments and clearances. Examples are Department of Transportation section 4(f) statements and review of the "recreation exhibits" of Federal Energy Regulatory Commission license and permit applications for water projects.

This chapter gives guidance on how you should review and comment on NEPA documents that are prepared by other agencies but that may affect your park unit. In reviewing other agency documents, your primary aims should be to aid other agencies in making the best possible decisions based on quality environmental analyses; to maintain the integrity of the National Park System; and to espouse the full range of other recreation, natural, and cultural resource stewardship roles of the NPS.

# 8.2 Comment Requirements

### A. How comments should be focused

Your comments on other agencies' environmental documents should:

1. encourage those agencies to contribute to the protection, preservation, maintenance, safety, and enhancement of existing and potential units of the National Park System; other significant park and recreation values; and historic structures, archeological resources, and other cultural resources including historic properties listed on the National Register of Historic Places, unique cultural resource values including properties

listed on the National Register of Historic Landmarks, and unique natural resource values including areas listed in the National Registry of Natural Landmarks.

- 2. ensure that the sponsoring agency recognizes benefits and adverse effects to resources within our areas of jurisdiction and expertise, and that those effects are presented in an understandable form to the general public and to decision-makers.
- 3. adequately describe practicable alternatives that are less damaging to NPS interests and concerns, and see that these are evaluated realistically and adopted where feasible.
- 4. discuss mitigation measures to offset unavoidable adverse effects, and propose them as an integral part of the proposal or alternatives.

### **B.** Early involvement

Your ability to influence the proposals of other agencies is greatest at the early stages, before they invest in extensive planning and become committed to a specific alternative means of accomplishing an objective. For this reason, make every effort to provide input and technical assistance at the scoping stage or earlier. This will greatly enhance the credibility of your comments on the draft EIS or a later document. Consultation should continue up through the completion of the decision document.

# C. Commenting as a cooperating (or joint lead) agency vs. as a reviewing agency

Cooperating agency—If the NPS has jurisdiction by law (having permitting or funding authority over some aspect of the proposal) or special expertise, you should request that the NPS be made a cooperating agency in preparation and review of an EIS. The request should be sent to the lead agency (the federal agency preparing the document), and rights and responsibilities should be defined between NPS and the lead agency in a memorandum of understanding or a memorandum of agreement. As a cooperating agency, you may ask for the right to either prepare or review with "veto" authority a section of the document where NPS has particular expertise or interest. You may also ask or be asked to join in IDT meetings, public involvement sessions, or other integral pieces of the NEPA process. You should request permission to become a cooperating agency as early as possible, so that you can participate fully. You may also share the analysis and document preparation responsibility by becoming a joint lead with another federal or state agency (1506.2 (c)). Your park's responsibility may be expanded to research or write several sections of the document if this is the case.

If you are affected by or interested in a proposal, but do not have jurisdiction by law or special expertise, you may still request cooperating agency status.

**2. Reviewing agency**—As a reviewing agency, NPS may request changes in the document, additional information, mitigation measures, analysis of additional alternatives, and so forth. The degree of response to these requests is largely at the discretion of the lead agency.

### D. Administrative process for review

The administrative process for review of non-NPS EISs is contained in the field guide.

# 8.3 Review Deadlines and Extension Requests

### A. CEQ requirements; screening and review schedules

EISs and some other environmental documents have periods for review and comment set by law or regulation. Section 1506.10 of the CEQ regulations provides 45 days for review and comment on draft EISs and a 30-day no action period following release of final EISs. These times are calculated from the date that EPA publishes a notice of availability in the *Federal Register*. These notices normally appear in the *Federal Register* on Fridays and include the date when comments are due. The CEQ regulations (1501.9) require that EISs be filed with EPA no earlier than they are transmitted to agencies and the public for comment.

Review periods for revised and supplemental draft and final EISs of other agencies are calculated like those for draft and final EISs. Because agencies that circulate draft EISs are under no legal obligation to include in the final EIS comments received after the established deadline passes, you must comment within the set deadline if your concerns are to be given consideration.

When controlled documents arrive from the EQD for review, they should be screened quickly to determine deadlines and relative priority. Review preparation responsibility should be assigned immediately. If screening determines that the proposal is of no consequence to NPS areas of jurisdiction or expertise, and comments are to be routed to EQD or to another Interior bureau that has been designated as lead, a simple "no comment" response may be made. Such a response may be made in writing or telephone or electronic no comment responses may be acceptable at the discretion of the lead agency.

Review schedules should provide intermediate offices such as EQD, OEPC, or other Interior lead bureaus sufficient time to review and process proposed comments. The possibility of mail delays and holiday and weekend "down time" should be considered.

### **B.** Extensions

Extensions of review deadlines occasionally are needed because of unusual routing or mail delays; required field studies; necessary coordination with other federal, state, or local agencies; or the discovery of unforeseen problems with the proposal. Extensions are obtained from the other agency by OEPC (516 DM, 7B). The need for an extension should be determined early in the review process, and the extension should be requested shortly after receipt of the controlled docu-

ment. The closer the deadline, the more difficult it normally is to obtain an extension. Deadline extensions should be requested only when you anticipate you will be making substantive comments, or when expected impacts require substantive field inspection or coordination. Procedures for obtaining extensions are in appendix G of the field guide.

# 8.4 Departmental Comment Letters

Review of all external proposals, EISs, reports, permits, regulations, and so forth is controlled by OEPC under 516 DM, 7 and the Environmental Review Memorandum series (e.g., ERM 94–2) published by OEPC. Instructions for consolidated review are distributed to bureaus by memorandum from OEPC. Unless direct reply has been established, a consolidated Departmental reply will be prepared. When an NPS office has a document for review, but no Departmental distribution memorandum, that office should contact EQD or OEPC to determine the status.

Comments of NPS and other Interior bureaus, when consolidated into a Departmental review letter, either by a designated lead bureau or by OEPC, are signed either in Washington or by the designated Departmental Regional Environmental Officer (REO). Copies of comment letters signed in WASO are provided through EQD to appropriate field and program offices. REOs supply a signed environmental review letter to the NPS field office, a copy of which the office should in turn send to EQD. EQD and REOs distribute copies of review letters so that NPS analysts and reviewers will know the department's position and can compare it with the comments they submitted. Any time a substantive change to review comments is being considered, the original author of the review comment must be consulted.

# 8.5 Review Guidelines for EISs

#### A. Draft EISs

Review comments on draft EISs or related documents should be confined to NPS areas of jurisdiction and expertise. They should be based on fact, published research, or professionally supported opinion. Your opinions as to the acceptability of project impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise should consider both the severity of the impacts and the practicability of proposed mitigating measures. You should urge adoption of measures that are compatible with both NPS interests and project purposes. See DO-12 (IV)(4.6).

1. **Key sections for reviewers' attention**—EISs are prepared in the format required by section 1502.10 of the CEQ regulations or an approved variation. This format allows a realistic, adequate assessment of project impacts and provides for inclusion of measures to minimize adverse impacts. Sections 1502.11 through 1502.19 of the CEQ regulations and section 4-5 of this handbook explain requirements for individual sections of an EIS. The EIS sections requiring particular NPS review attention are

- (a) purpose and need, (b) alternatives including the proposed action,
- (c) affected environment, and (d) environmental consequences.
- **2. Comment requirements for key sections**—Reviewers of EISs should ensure that the above sections satisfactorily address:
  - (a) NPS concerns previously expressed during scoping or when participating as a cooperating agency.
  - (b) NPS positions outlined in providing planning aid and technical assistance, especially those related to alternatives preferred by NPS and to suggested mitigating and enhancement measures.
  - (c) evidence of coordination and consultation with NPS when proposals might affect NPS areas of jurisdiction or expertise, especially when NPS technical assistance or expertise might lead to enhancement or protection of park, recreation, historic, archeological, architectural, or significant natural area values within or associated with proposals, including world heritage sites and biosphere reserves.
  - (d) consultation with other appropriate groups, including the state historic preservation officer, the Land and Water Conservation Fund state liaison officer, the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, local historical societies, state heritage program officials, and local authorities, including those that have received grant assistance from NPS.
  - (e) a "reasonably foreseeable" analysis of potentially significant adverse impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise, when impacts are uncertain (1502.22). Reasonably foreseeable includes impacts that have catastrophic consequences, even if their probability of occurrence is low, provided that the analysis of the impacts is supported by credible scientific evidence, is not based on pure conjecture, and is within the rule of reason.
  - (f) a clearly defined listing of impacts for each alternative, presented on a comparable basis to allow ready identification of the alternative promising the least damage to NPS interests.
  - (g) location of the proposal in relation to units of the National Park System and affiliated areas, or of designated National Wild and Scenic Rivers or National Trails under NPS management.
  - (h) measures that would mitigate, reduce, or eliminate adverse impacts or enhance beneficial impacts of the proposal on NPS areas of jurisdiction and expertise. Impacts may be direct, indirect, primary, and secondary. They include, but are not limited to, changes in air quality, including Class I area visibility; land uses impairing park, recreation, natural, and cultural resource values; water quality; noise levels; wildlife varieties, numbers, migration routes, and habitats within and near areas administered by NPS; park access and regional trans-

- portation systems; natural and cultural resource visual settings; regional socioeconomic conditions; and patterns of park visitor use.
- (i) location and potential impacts of the proposal in relation to non-federal lands in which the Secretary of the Interior has a legal interest through NPS under terms of a federal deed, grant, or other conveyance. This includes areas that have received grants-in-aid from the Land and Water Conservation Fund (Section 6(f)), the Urban Park and Recreation Recovery Program, and the Historic Preservation Fund. It also includes park, recreation, and historic properties transferred under the Federal Surplus Property statutes or the Recreation Demonstration Projects Act.
- (j) location of the proposal relative to historic properties listed on or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places, including National Historic Landmarks.
- 3. Reviewing tiered EISs—The CEQ regulations (1502.20) encourage tiering of EISs. A definition of tiering (producing a programmatic EIS that addresses broad policy issues, followed by other site-specific EISs, each of which does not need to reevaluate, but needs only to refer to the broad policy matters addressed in the programmatic EIS) appears in the CEQ regulations (1508.28). Reviewers should be alert to attempts to substitute tiering for adequate analysis of site-specific impacts. Site-specific analysis may reveal impacts of greater magnitude than those anticipated in programmatic EISs.
- 4. Reviews of state and local plans—The CEQ regulations (1506.2(d)) require that EISs discuss inconsistencies of proposed actions with approved state or local plans or laws. NPS responsibilities relate to a number of state and local plans, including statewide comprehensive outdoor recreation plans, state historic preservation plans, and recreation recovery action plans. Proposals should address measures to reconcile situations where these plans and the proposed actions are at odds.
- 5. Secondary, indirect, and cumulative impacts—You should consider long-term secondary and indirect impacts of proposals as they affect NPS areas of jurisdiction and expertise. You also should consider cumulative effects and be alert to possible project segmentation that could distort or mask them.
- **6. NPS EIS comment coordination**—If impacts of a proposal require coordination across NPS program areas (e.g., a proposed HUD regional plan), all affected units should comment.
- 7. **Permit identification requirements**—Proposals requiring NPS permits, easements, and so forth should be coordinated through the agency's NEPA process. The CEQ regulations (1505.25(b)) call for identification of federal permit, license, and other approval requirements during scoping, and again in review and comments on draft EISs.

When you identify a need for an NPS permit, you should inform the agency proposing the project. State why the permit is required and state a probable NPS position, based on information available at the time.

If you have serious concerns, or if the probable NPS position would be to deny the permit, the applicant should be urged to consult with the appropriate NPS office (provide a name and/or title, address, and telephone number) as early as possible. Mitigation measures or conditions that likely would be imposed before a permit would be issued should be stated in NPS comments on the draft EIS. These concerns and conditions should have been surfaced during the scoping process, and NPS should be a cooperating or joint lead agency, so that the document also covers NPS environmental analysis needs. NPS comments should address sitespecific project impacts, measures necessary to minimize harm, or recommended project alternatives. The comments should explicitly indicate any tentative objection, or reservations (or lack of reservations), with reasons stated clearly. The reasons for objections should be based on explicit effects that NPS anticipates, their magnitude (use estimates if necessary), and their significance. Comments based on generalities, frustration with poor procedures, and similar "non-effect" remarks are not useful.

- **8. Types of NPS comments on draft EISs**—NPS must respond if it anticipates further involvement with the proposal (e.g., review of permit applications). NPS reviewers may also provide the following types of comments on draft EISs:
  - (a) No comment—You may send a simple "no comment" response when responding to EQD, if a draft EIS presents an adequate analysis of expected impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise (assuming that the proposed action or preferred alternative is acceptable to NPS). A no comment response also is appropriate when a proposal has no known impact on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise.
  - (b) Incomplete or inaccurate EIS—You may respond with a finding that the draft EIS is incomplete or inaccurate in some major and relevant way in its description of the predicted impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise. If the draft EIS is so inadequate as to preclude meaningful analysis, and the proposal appears to threaten serious adverse effects on NPS park, recreation, historic, archeological, architectural, or significant natural area interests, your comments should state explicitly how to make the document adequate, and in exceptional cases you may request the proposing agency to prepare and circulate a revised or supplemental draft EIS according to the CEQ regulations (1502.9(a)).
  - (c) CEQ referral—If there is a possibility that NPS may seek to refer a project to CEQ under provisions of 40 CFR 1504, this must be pointed out to the agency proposing the undertaking at the earliest possible

- time in the planning process, but no later than when NPS comments on the draft EIS.
- (d) Additional alternatives—You may respond that the draft EIS fails to identify reasonable alternatives or alternative project components with lesser adverse impacts to areas of NPS jurisdiction or expertise, or that NPS favors an alternative other than the alternative preferred in the draft EIS.
- (e) Mitigation inadequate—You may respond that you do not believe that adverse impacts will be mitigated adequately.
- (f) Inadequate address of concerns raised during scoping—You may respond that concerns you expressed during the scoping process or as a cooperating agency were not addressed adequately or accurately in the draft EIS.
- (g) Of course, positive or supportive comments where warranted should be included.
- 9. Consequences of declining to review—NPS reviewers should be extremely cautious about giving up future options by declining to review and comment on EISs or related documents involving proposals that may affect areas of NPS jurisdiction or expertise. Failure to review and comment may be interpreted by sponsoring agencies to mean that (a) NPS has no concerns in a proposed action; (b) the proposal will not significantly affect NPS areas of jurisdiction or expertise; or (c) NPS will issue any permits required for project construction.

### B. Final EISs

During the draft EIS stage, you should identify significant omissions, errors, or unaddressed concerns. Ideally, these concerns will be addressed in the final EIS, making further comment unnecessary. Normally no comments are made on final EISs, unless NPS objects to the proposal itself or to one of its major features. Proposed comments on a final EIS are forwarded through EQD to the OEPC. Depending on the nature and extent of NPS concerns, the comments may request the sponsoring agency to prepare a supplement to its final EIS. Because the sponsoring agency may take action 30 days after release of its final EIS, comments on a final EIS must be handled expeditiously.

### 1. Responses to comments made by NPS on draft EISs

The CEQ regulations (1502.9(b)) require lead agencies to respond in final EISs to comments made on draft EISs, including discussion on responsible opposing views at appropriate points in the final EIS. NPS review of a final EIS should determine whether

(a) the final EIS adequately assesses all important issues raised by NPS on the draft EIS, including documentation on appropriate historical and archeological consultation requests and response letters.

- (b) the selected alternative and any accompanying mitigation features are compatible with concerns, recommendations, and objections raised previously by NPS.
- (c) new information that is contained in the final EIS, or that became available to NPS only after it released its draft EIS comments, has revealed a significant change in potential impacts of the proposal.
- (d) the preferred alternative or the mitigation to be employed eliminates significant or adverse impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction or expertise.

### 2. Justification for comments on finals

Comments on final EISs may be justified by one or more of the following:

- (a) NPS objects to the project because the preferred alternative is unacceptable to NPS, or it fails to incorporate NPS recommendations for mitigation or monitoring requirements after project completion.
- (b) changes have been made in the proposed action, aside from adopting mitigating measures, that require additional assessment of environmental impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise.
- (c) changes in the final EIS are needed because the sponsoring agency has failed to understand the significance of NPS comments and concern on the draft EIS, and it continues to offer the project or proposal in a form that is unacceptable to NPS in whole or in part (see the "Responses to Comments" section above).
- (d) Important new information that is consequential to the decision-making process becomes available, or erroneous or obsolete data presented in the final EIS need to be corrected or challenged because of NPS concerns about, or objections to, the project.

# 8.6 Style and Format for Environmental Review Comments

NPS environmental review comments on NEPA and related documents should normally be organized in the format described in this section, although the format occasionally will not fit some of the comments that NPS prepares. Individual review instructions are provided in the EQD and OEPC transmittal forms that accompany the document to the NPS reviewing office.

NPS comments being prepared for submission to other Interior bureaus, including responses to requests for technical assistance, should be in a memorandum format. Comments going directly to non-Interior agencies should be in letter form.

Comments prepared for consolidation with those of other Interior bureaus (e.g., comments addressed to OEPC, the REO, or an Interior lead bureau) should be prepared in memorandum format for signature as directed in the EQD trans-

mittal. The subject line of the memorandum should be identical to that of the incoming OEPC memorandum, and it should include the document's ER or DEC number, which should also appear at the upper left corner of the memorandum.

The comments on NEPA and related documents can be logically arranged under four headings: general comments, interrelated review comments, specific comments, and summary comments, unless the review is only a page or two and these headings would produce needless repetition and a stilted appearance. The reviewer should choose a format that conveys NPS or Departmental information and views, and pinpoints changes the recipient should make. The four headings recommended for use in longer NEPA and related reviews are discussed below. The locations of the interrelated review comments and specific NEPA comments may be interchanged as necessary to produce the most coherent review.

### A. General comments

This topic heading, if used, should summarize any major NPS concerns with the adequacy and accuracy of the document and should provide comments of a general nature. Any major concerns about the project itself should appear here, concentrating on, but not necessarily limited to, the recommended or selected alternative and its impacts.

This section should include any specific comments that otherwise occur repeatedly throughout the review. Any previous technical assistance, cooperation, reports, or other planning information provided by NPS for the project should be noted.

### B. Interrelated review comments

The CEQ regulations (1502.25) require that NEPA analyses be integrated with those for other environmental laws and executive orders (e.g., section 4(f) comments, Endangered Species Act comments, Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act comments). Reviewers should ascertain whether the document under review is intended to fulfill such other requirements. If so, address compliance, as appropriate, with such requirements in separate sections of the review. When NPS serves as lead bureau in consolidating the Department's comments, it is especially important to be aware of these interrelated review requirements so that other Interior bureau review responsibilities are adequately represented in the consolidated departmental comments.

## C. Specific NEPA comments

The format of this section containing EIS or EA comments should follow the organization of the document being reviewed. Page and paragraph numbers should be cited to relate comments to the text. Comments should be written in a form designed to help the sponsoring agency in modifying the next draft or the final work.

Assertions of omissions or inadequacies should be specific, not general, and should suggest how to correct the deficiency. Needed additions or deletions should be stated precisely. If you criticize a lead agency's predictive methods, you

are obligated to describe the methods you prefer, and to give the reasons why, as the CEQ regulations point out (1503.3).

Comments should address significant overlooked or downplayed impacts of a proposed action. They also should ensure that alternatives that would benefit or have less adverse impact on NPS concerns are included and presented adequately. Comments on the EIS section describing the affected environment are appropriate only if a significantly affected component is not described adequately.

### D. Summary comments

If you favor an alternative or project modification that would be beneficial to or have less adverse impact on areas of NPS jurisdiction and expertise, this should be highlighted in the summary section.

Comments and positions on the acceptability of project impacts on areas of NPS jurisdiction or expertise should be included in this section. Comments on the proposal should consider

- (1) the intensity, severity, and duration of the impacts.
- (2) the objectives and importance of the project.
- (3) the practicability of mitigation measures.

Insofar as possible, this section should point out how to make the proposal acceptable with regard to our areas of jurisdiction and expertise. On draft documents, this section should indicate what our position might be unless recommended changes are made.

Summary comments should always state any action relating to the proposal that the Department or NPS has taken, or may take, in accordance with the requirements of various statutes, rules, and regulations for which the department or NPS holds jurisdiction by law. The comments also should note any potential further reviews that NPS may make in considering the issuance of easements or other permits that the proposal would require, and the likely NPS position. If a CEQ referral on a project appears likely, the summary comments should so indicate, and state the particular concern.

This section should close with an offer to meet with the sponsoring agency to discuss comments and concerns. The offer of continued cooperation and assistance is especially important if significant resources are involved or if NPS has complex views and positions that are difficult to describe thoroughly in a letter. Names of NPS personnel who can be of assistance should be listed along with their titles, addresses, and telephone numbers.

# 9.0 **Definitions and Acronyms**

### 9.1 Definitions

The controlling definitions for terms under CEQ's NEPA regulations are contained at 40 CFR. The numbers in parentheses refer to the appropriate section of 40 CFR. These definitions are provided as a supplement to those regulatory definitions.

**Categorical exclusion (CE)** (1508.4)—An action with no measurable environmental impact which is described in one of the categorical exclusion lists in section 3.3 or 3.4 and for which no exceptional circumstances (section 3.5) exist. NPS also uses the acronym "CX" to denote a categorical exclusion.

Connected actions (1508.25)—Actions that are closely related. They automatically trigger other actions that have environmental impacts, they cannot or will not proceed unless other actions have been taken previously or simultaneously, or they are interdependent parts of a larger action and/or depend on the larger action for their justification.

**Conservation planning and impact assessment**—Within NPS, this process is synonymous with the NEPA process. This process evaluates alternative courses of action and impacts so that decisions are made in accord with the conservation and preservation mandate of the NPS Organic Act.

Cooperating agency (1508.5)—A federal agency other than the one preparing the NEPA document (lead agency) that has jurisdiction over the proposal by virtue of law or special expertise and that has been deemed a cooperating agency by lead agency. State or local governments, and/or Indian tribes, may be designated cooperating agencies as appropriate (see 1508.5 and 1502.6).

Cultural resources (NPS-28, appendix A)—Aspects of a cultural system that are valued by or significantly representative of a culture or that contain significant information about a culture. A cultural resource may be a tangible entity or a cultural practice. Tangible cultural resources are categorized as districts, sites, buildings, structures, and objects for the National Register of Historic Places, and as archeological resources, cultural landscapes, structures, museum objects, and ethnographic resources for NPS management purposes.

**Cumulative actions** (1508.25)—Actions that, when viewed with other actions in the past, the present, or the reasonably foreseeable future regardless of who has undertaken or will undertake them, have an additive impact on the resource the proposal would affect.

- Cumulative impact (1508.7)—The impacts of cumulative actions.
- **Direct effect** (1508.8)—An impact that occurs as a result of the proposed action or alternative in the same place and at the same time as the action.
- **Environmental assessment (EA)** (1508.9)—A brief NEPA document that is prepared to (a) help determine whether the impact of a proposed action or alternatives could be significant; (b) aid NPS in compliance with NEPA by evaluating a proposal that will have no significant impacts, but that may have measurable adverse impacts; or (c) evaluate a proposal that either is not described on the list of categorically excluded actions, or is on the list but exceptional circumstances (section 3.5) apply.
- **Environmental impact statement (EIS)** (1508.11)—A detailed NEPA document that is prepared when a proposed action or alternatives have the potential for significant impact on the human environment.
- **Environmental screening process**—The analysis that precedes a determination of the appropriate level of NEPA documentation. The minimum requirements of the environmental screening process are a site visit, consultation with any agency that has jurisdiction by law or special expertise, and the completion of a screening checklist. The process must be complete for all NPS actions that have the potential for environmental impact and are not described in section 3.3.
- **Environmentally preferred alternative** (1505.2, Q6a)—Of the action alternatives analyzed, the one that would best promote the policies in NEPA section 101. This is usually selected by the IDT members. CEQ encourages agencies to identify an environmentally preferable alternative in the draft EIS or EA, but only requires that it be named in the ROD.
- **Exceptional circumstances**—Circumstances that, if they apply to a project described in the NPS categorical exclusion lists (sections 3.3 and 3.4), mean a CE is inappropriate and an EA or an EIS must be prepared because the action may have measurable or significant impacts. Exceptional circumstances are described in section 3.5.
- **Finding of no significant impact (FONSI)** (1508.13)—A determination based on an EA and other factors in the public planning record for a proposal that, if implemented, would have no significant impact on the human environment.
- **Human environment** (1508.14)—Defined by CEQ as the natural and physical environment, and the relationship of people with that environment (1508.14). Although the socioeconomic environment receives less emphasis than the physical or natural environment in the CEQ regulations, NPS considers it to be an integral part of the human environment.
- **Impact topics**—Specific natural, cultural, or socioeconomic resources that would be affected by the proposed action or alternatives (including no action). The magnitude, duration, and timing of the effect to each of these resources is evaluated in the impact section of an EA or an EIS.

- **Indirect impact** (1508.8)—Reasonably foreseeable impacts that occur removed in time or space from the proposed action. These are "downstream" impacts, future impacts, or the impacts of reasonably expected connected actions (e.g., growth of an area after a highway to it is complete).
- **Issues**—In NEPA, issues are environmental, social, and economic problems or effects that may occur if the proposed action or alternatives (including no action) are implemented or continue to be implemented.
- **Lead agency** (1508.16)—The agency either preparing or taking primary responsibility for preparing the NEPA document.
- **Major federal action** (1508.18)—Actions that have a large federal presence and that have the potential for significant impacts to the human environment. They include adopting policy, implementing rules or regulations; adopting plans, programs, or projects; ongoing activities; issuing permits; or financing projects completed by another entity.
- **Memo to file**—A memo to the planning record or statutory compliance file that NPS offices may complete when (a) NEPA has already been completed in site-specific detail for a proposal, usually as part of a document of larger scope, or (b) a time interval has passed since the NEPA document was approved, but information in that document is still accurate.
- **Mitigated EA** (Q40)—An EA that has been rewritten to incorporate mitigation into a proposal or to change a proposal to reduce impacts to below significance.
- **Mitigation** (1508.20)—A modification of the proposal or alternative that lessens the intensity of its impact on a particular resource.
- **NEPA process**—The objective analysis of a proposed action to determine the degree of its environmental and interrelated social and economic impacts on the human environment, alternatives and mitigation that reduce that impact, and the full and candid presentation of the analysis to, and involvement of, the interested and affected public.
- **Notice of intent** (1508.22)—The notice submitted to the *Federal Register* that an EIS will be prepared. It describes the proposed action and alternatives, identifies a contact person in NPS, and gives time, place, and descriptive details of the agency's proposed scoping process.
- **Notices of availability**—Separate notices submitted to the *Federal Register* that the draft EIS and the final EIS are ready for distribution.
- **Preferred alternative** (1502.14 (e))—The alternative an NPS decision-maker has identified as preferred at the draft EIS stage. It may be the same as the initial proposal or proposed action, or it may be different. It is identified to show the public which alternative is likely to be selected to help focus its comments.

- **Programmatic documents**—Broader scope EAs or EISs that describe the impacts of proposed policy changes, programs, or plans.
- **Proposal** (1508.23)—The stage at which NPS has a goal and is actively preparing to make a decision on one or more alternative means of accomplishing that goal. The goal can be a project, plan, policy, program, and so forth. NEPA begins when the effects can be meaningfully evaluated.
- **Record of decision (ROD)** (1505.2)—The document that is prepared to substantiate a decision based on an EIS. It includes a statement of the decision made, a detailed discussion of decision rationale, and the reasons for not adopting all mitigation measures analyzed, if applicable.
- **Scoping** (1508.25)—Internal NPS decision-making on issues, alternatives, mitigation measures, the analysis boundary, appropriate level of documentation, lead and cooperating agency roles, available references and guidance, defining purpose and need, and so forth. External scoping is the early involvement of the interested and affected public.
- **Significantly** (1508.27)—A subjective interpretation of the intensity of impact, in several contexts, of the proposed action or alternatives.
- **Tiering** (1508.28)—The use of broader, programmatic NEPA documents to discuss and analyze cumulative regional impacts and define policy direction, and the incorporation by reference of this material in subsequent narrower NEPA documents to avoid duplication and focus on issues "ripe for decision" in each case.

9.2 Acronyms

CE categorical exclusion

**CEF** categorical exclusion form

**CEQ** President's Council on Environmental Quality

CX categorical exclusion

**DEC** Division Environmental Comment request issued by NPS

**Environmental Quality Division-WASO** 

**DM** departmental manual

DOI Department of the InteriorEA environmental assessment

**ECM** environmental compliance memorandum

**EIS** environmental impact statement

**EO** executive order

EPA Environmental Protection AgencyEQD Environmental Quality Division

**ER** Environmental Review issued by the Department of the Interior

**ERM** environmental review memorandum

**ESA** Endangered Species Act

**ESM** environmental statement memorandum

ESF environmental screening formFONSI finding of no significant impactGMP general management plan

**IDT** interdisciplinary team

NEPA National Environmental Policy ActNHPA National Historic Preservation ActNMFS National Marine Fisheries Service

NOA notice of availabilityNOI notice of intent

NPS National Park Service

**OEPC** Office of Environmental Policy and Compliance

**REO** regional environmental officer

ROD record of decisionSSO system support office

**WASO** Washington DC Office of the National Park Service

### Appendix 1 — Environmental Screening Form (August 2003)

This form should be attached to all documents sent to the regional director's office for signature. Sections A and B should be filled out by the project initiator (may be coupled with other park project initiation forms). Sections C, D, E, and G are to be completed by the interdisciplinary team members. While you may modify this form to fit your needs, you must ensure that the form includes information detailed below and must have your modifications reviewed and approved by the regional environmental coordinator.

Α.	PRC	JECT	INF	ORM	ATIO	N
----	-----	------	-----	-----	------	---

Park Name Project Number			
Project Type (Check):			
Cyclic NRPP Line Item	Cultural Cyclic CRPP Fee Demo	Repair/Rehab FLHP Concession Reimbursable	ONPS
Other (specify)			
	cation ntact ON/LOCATION [To be	gin the statutory compliar	
Preliminary drawings attached Background info attached Date form initiated Anticipated compliance co Projected advertisement/I Construction start	Yes No  mpletion date  Day labor start		

#### C. RESOURCE EFFECTS TO CONSIDER (Tailor the following to meet individual park/unit project needs.)

Please see section F (Instructions for Determining Appropriate NEPA Pathway) prior to completing this section. Also, use the process described in DO-12, 2.9 and 2.10; 3.5; 4.5(G) to (G)(5) and 5.4(F) to help determine the context, duration and intensity of effects on resources.

Are any measurable impacts possible on the following physical, natural or cultural resources?	Yes	No	Data Needed to Determine
Geological resources-soils, bedrock, streambeds, etc.			
2. From geohazards			
3. Air quality			
4. Soundscapes			
5. Water quality or quantity			
6. Streamflow characteristics			
7. Marine or estuarine resources			
8. Floodplains or wetlands			
9. Land use, including occupancy, income, values, ownership, type of use			
10. Rare or unusual vegetation-old growth timber, riparian, alpine			
11. Species of special concern (plant or animal; state or federal listed or proposed for listing) or their habitat			
12. Unique ecosystems, biosphere reserves, World Heritage sites			
13. Unique or important wildlife or wildlife habitat			
14. Unique or important fish or fish habitat			
15. Introduce or promote nonnative species (plant or animal)			
16. Recreation resources, including supply, demand, visitation, activities, etc.			
17. Visitor experience, aesthetic resources			
18. Cultural resources, including cultural landscapes, ethnographic resources			
19. Socioeconomics, including employment, occupation, income changes, tax base, infrastructure			
20. Minority and low-income populations, ethnography, size, migration patterns, etc.			
21. Energy resources			
22. Other agency or tribal land use plans or policies			
23. Resource, including energy, conservation potential			
24. Urban quality, gateway communities, etc.			
25. Long-term management of resources or land/resource productivity			
26. Other important environmental resources (e.g., geothermal, paleontological resources)			

D. Mandatory Criteria: If implemented, would the proposal:	Yes	No	Data Needed to Determine
A. Have material adverse effects on public health or safety?			
B. Have adverse effects on such unique characteristics as historic or cultural resources; park, recreation, or refuge lands; wilderness areas; wild or scenic rivers; national natural landmarks; sole or principal drinking water aquifers; prime farmlands; wetlands; floodplains; national monuments; migratory birds; and other ecologically significant or critical areas, including those listed on the National Register of Natural Landmarks?			
C. Have highly controversial environmental effects?			
D. Have highly uncertain and potentially significant environmental effects or involve unique or unknown environmental risks?			
E. Establish a precedent for future action or represent a decision in principle about future actions with potentially significant environmental effects?			
F. Be directly related to other actions with individually insignificant, but cumulatively significant, environmental effects?			
G. Have adverse effects on properties listed or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places?			
H. Have adverse effects on species listed or proposed to be listed on the List of Endangered or Threatened Species, or have adverse effects on designated Critical Habitat for these species?			
I. Require compliance with Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management), Executive Order 11990 (Protection of Wetlands), or the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act?			
J. Threaten to violate a federal, state, local, or tribal law or requirement imposed for the protection of the environment?			
K. involve unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources (NEPA sec. 102(2)(E).			
L. Have a disproportionate, significant adverse effect on low income or minority populations (EO 12898).			
M. Restrict access to and ceremonial use of Indian sacred sites by Indian religious practitioners or adversely affect the physical integrity of such sacred sites (EO 130007)			
N. Contribute to the introduction, continued existence, or spread of federally listed noxious weeds (Federal Noxious Week Control Act).			
O. Contribute to the introduction, continued existence, or spread of non- native invasive species or actions that may promote the introduction, growth or expansion of the range of nonnative invasive species (EO 13112).			
P. Require a permit from a federal, state, or local agency to proceed, unless the agency from which the permit is required agrees that a CE is appropriate?			
Q. Have the potential for significant impact as indicated by a federal, state, or local agency or Indian tribe?			

R. Have the potential to be controversial because of disagreement over possible environmental effects.			
S. Have the potential to violate the NPS Organic Act by impairing park resources or values?			
Please answer the following questions:			
1. Are the personnel preparing this form familiar with the site, and/or has a conducted? (Attach additional pages noting when site visit took place, staff a			
2. Has consultation with all affected agencies or tribes been completed? (Atta detailing the consultation, including the name, date, and summary of common tribal contacts.)			
or tribal contacts.)			
E. OTHER INFORMATION (Please answer the following questions/proinformation.)	ovide ı	eque	ested
Are personnel preparing this form familiar with the site? Yes No			
Did personnel conduct a site visit? Yes No (If yes, attach meeting no noting when site visit took place, who attended, etc.) Is the project in an approved plan such as a General Management Plan or an			
with an accompanying environmental document? Yes No If so, plan name			
Is the project still consistent with the approved plan? Yes No (If no, EIS.)	prepar	— e plai	n/EA or
Is the environmental document accurate and up-to-date? Yes No (If	no, pre	epare	plan/EA or
EIS.) FONSI/ ROD (Check) Date approved			
Are there any interested or affected agencies or parties? Yes No			
Did you make a diligent effort to contact them? Yes No	_		
Has consultation with all affected agencies or tribes been completed? Yes (If so, attach additional pages detailing the consultation, including the name, summary of comments from other agencies or tribal contacts.)  Are there any connected, cumulative, or similar actions as part of the proposition.			and a
Yes No (If so, attach additional pages detailing the other actions.)			

#### F. INSTRUCTIONS FOR DETERMINING APPROPRIATE NEPA PATHWAY

First, always check DO-12, section 3.2, "Process to Follow" in determining whether the action is categorically excluded from additional NEPA analyses. Other sections within DO-12, including sections 2.9 and 2.10; 3.5; 4.5(G)(4) and (G)(5), and 5.4(F), should also be consulted in determining the appropriate NEPA pathway. Complete the following tasks: conduct a site visit or ensure that staff is familiar with the site's specifics; consult with affected agencies, and/or tribes; and interested public and complete this environmental screening form.

If your action is described in DO-12 section 3.3, "CE's for Which No Formal Documentation is Necessary," follow the instructions indicated in that section.

If your action is not described in DO-12, section 3.3, and IS described is section 3.4, AND you checked yes or identified "data needed to determine" impacts in any block in section D (Mandatory Criteria), this is an indication that there is potential for significant impacts to the human environment, therefore, you must prepare an EA or EIS or supply missing information to determine context, duration and intensity of impacts.

If your action is described in section 3.4 and NO is checked for all boxes in section D (Mandatory Criteria), BUT you have initially checked "yes" in section C (Resource Effects to Consider) during internal scoping, this means that the team should do additional analyses to determine the context, duration and intensity of effects. If the magnitude of effects is then determined to be at the negligible or minor level, then usually there is no potential for significant impacts, then an EA or EIS is not required. If, however, during internal scoping and further investigation, resource effects still remain unknown, or are at the minor to moderate level of intensity, and the potential for significant impacts may be likely, an EA or EIS is required.

In all cases, data collected to determine the appropriate NEPA pathway must be included in the administrative record.

#### G. INTERDISIPLINARY TEAM SIGNATORY (All interdisciplinary team members must sign.)

By signing this form, you affirm the following: you have either completed a site visit or are familiar with the specifics of the site; you have consulted with affected agencies and tribes; and you, to the best of your knowledge, have answered the questions posed in the checklist correctly.

Interdisciplinary Team Leader Name	Field of Expertise	Date Signed
Technical Specialists Names	Field of Expertise	Date Signed

#### H. SUPERVISORY SIGNATORY

Based on the environmental impact information contained in the statutory compliance file and in this environmental screening form, environmental documentation for the subject project is complete.

#### Recommended:

Compliance Specialist	Telephone Number	Date

#### Approved:

Superintendent	Telephone Number	Date

# **Appendix 2**

Project	Date
Describe project, including location (refere if appropriate):	ence the attached Environmental Screening Form (ESF)
Describe the category used to exclude action of the category (see section 3–4 of DO-12):	on from further NEPA analysis and indicate the numbe
Describe any public or agency involvement	t effort conducted (reference the attached ESF):
I am familiar, I am categorically excluding	information in the statutory compliance file, with which the described project from further NEPA analysis. Non the ESF are marked "no") or conditions in section 3-dection 3-4 of DO-12.
Park Superintendent or Designee	Date
Title	_
NPS Contact Person	Title
Address	Phone Number

## Index

Α		
	Acronyms	107
	Administrative records	28–29
	Advisory Council on Historic Preservation	30
	Analysis boundaries	23–24
В		
_	Budgetary projections, decision documents and	82
	Budgettary projections, decision documents und	
C		
	Categorical Exclusion Forms	
	formalization of,	
	sample	
	use of	
	use with Environmental Screening Forms	20, 43
	Categorical exclusions	
	actions related to development and	
	actions related to general administration and	
	actions related to grant programs and	
	actions related to resource management protection and	
	actions related to visitor use and	
	administrative process	43–44
	consideration of multiple actions	44
	decision document filing and	
	description	3, 33, 42
	documentation process	33–34
	documenting a NEPA analysis and	26–28
	exceptions to	40–42
	list of CEs for which no formal documentation is necessary	
	plans, studies, and reports and	
	public involvement in actions	43
	using the CE lists	42–43
	CEFs. See Categorical exclusion forms	
	CEQ. See Council on Environmental Quality	
	CEs. See Categorical exclusions	
	Connected actions	17
	"Considering Cumulative Effects under the National Environmental Policy Act,"	18
	Construction actions	43
	Contractors	28
	Cooperating agencies	29, 92
	Council on Environmental Quality	
	creation of	1
	criteria for designating a lead agency	29

	emergency actions and	31
	NEPA planning process and	83–84
	Cumulative actions	17–18
	Cumulative effects	25–26
	Cyclic Maintenance Guide	38
D		
ט	Decision documents	
	budgetary projections and	99
	categorical exclusions	
	changes in the selected action and	
	findings of no significant impact	
	monitoring and	
	records of decision	
	Definitions of terms	
	Direct effects	
	Direct circus	
E		
	EAs. See Environmental assessments	
	EISs. See Environmental impact statements	
	Emergency actions	31
	Endangered Species Act	
	categorical exclusions and	
	federal agency cooperation and	
	findings of no significant impact and	
	records of decision and	79
	Environmental assessments	
	administrative process of review of	
	administrative record and	
	alternatives and	′
	categorical exclusions and	,
	completing the EA process	
	consultation and coordination section	
	description	
	environmental impact statements and	·
	findings of no significant impact and	·
	format and content of	
	for general management plans	
	length of	
	mitigated EAs	
	preferred alternatives and	
	public involvement in	
	public meetings about	
	public review of	
	purposes of	
	references section	
	response to comments	
	scoping and	74
	gram I am antal	r r

tiering and	88–89
uses for	69
when to prepare	27–28, 70
Environmental impact statements	•
abbreviated final version	62
actions that normally require an EIS	47–48
administrative record and	
alternatives and	21
categorical exclusions and	40, 42
changes in the selected alternative	•
contractor preparation of	
cooperating agency comments	
criteria for significant impact	
description	
draft EIS notice of availability/filing with EPA	
environmental assessments and	
exceptions to	*
final filing with EPA	
final version	
findings of no significant impact and	,
format of	
for general management plans	
historic properties and	
notice of intent to prepare	
ongoing or continuing action	
preferred alternatives and	
public involvement requirements	
public meetings/hearings on	
recipients of draft versions	
recipients of final versions	
records of decision and	
response options	,
review guidelines	
review process	
scoping	
substantive comments	
supplements to	
termination process	
tiering and	
timelines for review of draft versions	
when to prepare	27, 45
Environmental Justice in Minority and Low-Income Populations, Executive Order 12898	
Environmental Protection Agency, environmental impact	
statements and	6, 65–67, 93
Environmental Review Memorandum series	94
Environmental Screening Forms	
NEPA analysis and	15. 27

reas	ons for completing	19–20
samj	ple	109–112
use	with the categorical exclusion form	20, 43
uses	of	20
Enviro	nmentally preferred alternatives	22–23
ESA. Se	ee Endangered Species Act	
ESFs. S	See Environmental Screening Forms	
Externa	al scoping, environmental impact statements and	64–65
F		
Federa	l Noxious Weed Control Act	41
Federa	l Register	
envi	ronmental assessments and	74–76
envi	ronmental impact statements and	63–68, 93
	ings of no significant impact, publication	
	rds of decision, publication in	
	gs of no significant impact (FONSI)	
	ent	80
as co	ontracts with the public	82
	ription	
	angered species and	
	ronmental impact statements and	
	ta sheets	
	dplains and wetlands and	
	tions of	
	general management plans	
_	oric properties and	
	airment of park resources and	
=	airment potential and	
-	gation and	
`	atory for	
O .	ing period for	
	ands and floodplains and	
	nd Wildlife Coordination Act	
	lain Management, Executive Order 11988	
	gorical exclusions and	41
	A document cooperation and	
	See Findings of no significant impact	
	t of environmental impact statements	
	cted environment	52–54
	natives	
	sultation and coordination section	
	er sheet	
	act chapter	
	datory topics	
	oose and need for action	
	rences section	
10101		40

	"Forty Most Asked Questions Concerning CEQ's NEPA Regulations,".	1
	Freedom of Information Act	28
G		
J	General management plans	
	EISs for	85–86
	reasons to prepare EISs	
	Grant programs	
	categorical exclusions and	39–40
	environmental impact statements and	
	-	
Н	II illa a la	
	Handbook citations in DO-12 and	0
	DO-12 and	
	use of	
	Historic Structures Preservation Guide	38
ı		
	IDTs. See Interdisciplinary teams	
	Impact chapter of the EIS	
	context analysis	55
	criteria for	45–47
	displaying impact information	54–55
	impact indicators	55–56
	impact thresholds	56
	incomplete or unavailable information	55
	mitigation analysis	56–57, 97
	organizing the impact chapter	57–58
	sustainability and long-term management considerations	58–59
	Impact chapter of the environmental assessment	72–73
	Impairment of park resources	
	decision document filing	26
	findings of no significant impact and	
	process review and	
	Indian Trust resources, evaluating impact of the proposal on	·
	Indirect effects	25
	Interdisciplinary teams	
	cumulative effects and	
	identifying issues or environmental problems	
	issue definition	
	membership of	
	memos to file and	27
	site visitation	19
	Internal scoping	
	description and process	·
	environmental impact statements and	
	Issue definition	18-19

	20
Lead agencies	49
List of Endangered or Threatened Species	41
Low-income populations, evaluating impact of the proposal on	30
М	
Memos to file	
decision document filing and	77
documenting a NEPA analysis and	
using instead of the ESF	
Minority populations, evaluating impact of the proposal on	
N	
National Environmental Policy Act. See also Review of non-NPS NEPA documental Policy Act. See also Review of non-NPS NePA documental Policy Act. See also Review of non-NPS NePA documental Policy Act. See also Review of non-NPS NePA documental Policy Act. See also Review of non-NPS NePA	ents
activating	
agency planning and	5–6
analytic rather than encyclopedic nature of documents	6
common sense basis	
Council on Environmental Quality creation	
documentation candor	
early planning requirement	4
federal action examples	5
focus of documents	6
holistic nature of	8
inclusivity requirement	7
interdisciplinary approach	7
National Park Service Organic Act and	
NEPA documents as building blocks	86
objectivity of	6–7
procedural qualities	4
project proposal/contracting process	9–10
public process and	
purpose of	
requirements of	
site-specific environmental impact information requirement	8, 10, 87
specificity of data needed	
systematic analyses requirement	
tiering and86,	
timing of implementation8–9,	
tools for implementing	•
tools to help foster excellent action	8
National Historic Landmark Program, categorical exclusions and	
National Historic Preservation Act	
categorical exclusions and	43
federal agency cooperation and	
findings of no significant impact and	
records of decision and	
National Marine Fisheries Service	
National Natural Landmark Program, categorical exclusions and	

	National Park Service Organic Act	4, 8–9, 77
	National Parks Omnibus Management Act of 1998	
	National Register of Historic Places	
	categorical exclusions and	38, 41
	environmental impact statements and	47
	National Trails system, environmental impact statements and	
	NHPA. See National Historic Preservation Act	
	"No action" alternatives	21–22
o		
Ü	Office of Environmental Policy and Compliance, review of non-NPS	
	NEPA documents	93–94
Р		
	Preferred alternatives, environmental impact statements or environmenta	ıl
	assessments and	
	Process overview	
	administrative record or project file	28–29
	analysis boundaries	23–24
	analysis process	13–15
	choice of pathways	27–28
	connected actions	17
	consistency with sections 101 and 102(1) of NEPA	
	cumulative actions	
	cumulative effects	
	defining the proposal	
	direct effects	
	emergency actions	
	environmentally preferred alternatives	
	external scoping	
	federal, state, and local laws that overlap with NEPA	
	impact categories	
	impairment of park resources	
	indirect effects	
	internal scoping	
	issue description	
	lead and cooperating agencies and	
	need definition	
	"no action" alternative	
	options to document a NEPA analysis	
	purpose definition	
	range of alternatives	
	reasonable alternatives	
	similar actions	
	state agencies and	
	using contractors	
	working with other agencies	29–31
	Programmatic documents and planning	~= ~ -
	FISe for general management plans	85.86

	feasibility and planning	87–88
	long-term resource management and	89
	NEPA as a compliance action	83
	NEPA documents as building blocks	
	programs and policies	
	questions to ask	
	tiering	
	Project files	,
	Proposed actions, environmental impact statements or environmental assessments and	13–14, 50
	Protection of Wetlands, Executive Order 11990	,
	categorical exclusions and	41
	NEPA cooperation and	
_	•	
R		
	Reasonable alternatives, environmental impact statements or	20 21 50
	environmental assessments and	20–21, 50
	Records of decision	<b>5</b> 0
	CEQ requirements.	
	as contracts with the public	
	endangered species and	
	floodplains and wetlands and	
	historic properties and	
	impairment potential and	
	length	78
	notice publication	78
	signatory for	79
	wetland/floodplain statements and	79
	Review agencies	93
	Review of non-NPS NEPA documents	
	comment requirements	91–93
	consequences of declining to review	98
	departmental comment letters	94
	extensions of review deadlines	93–94
	final EISs	98–99
	review deadlines	93
	review guidelines for EISs	94–98
	specific NEPA comments	
	style and format for environmental review comments	
	summary contents	
	types of NPS comments on draft EISs	
	RODs. See Records of decision	
S		
	Secretarial Order 3175 and ECM95-2	
	Similar actions	
	State agencies	28
Т		
	Tiering	86, 88–89, 96

J		
	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service	30
W		
	Wetlands and floodplains	
	findings of no significant impact and	81
	records of decision and	79
	Wild and Scenic Rivers proposals, environmental impact statements and	47–48